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LANGHAM
HOSPITALITY
INVESTMENTS
CORPORATE PROFILE

Langham Hospital i ty Investments has been 
establ ished pr imari ly  to own and invest  in  
a portfolio of hotels, with an initial focus on 
completed hotels in Asia. The initial asset portfolio 
comprises of:

The Langham, Hong Kong; 

Cordis, Hong Kong; and 

Eaton HK.

The Langham, Hong Kong and Cordis, Hong Kong  
are both High Tariff A hotels and Eaton HK is a High 
Tariff B hotel under the classification set out by Hong 
Kong Tourism Board, with High Tariff A being the 
highest category and High Tariff B being the second 
highest category. Each of the Hotels is located on 
the Kowloon peninsula in Hong Kong, a vibrant 
commercial and leisure hub which offers a variety of 
activities ranging from shopping, food and beverage, 
and entertainment to cultural attractions. The Hotels 
are also located near well-connected transportation 
hubs in Hong Kong allowing guests to enjoy access to 
other leisure and business districts in Hong Kong.
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The Langham, Hong Kong seeks to provide a unique European-style refined 
service to its guests. The Langham, Hong Kong is a luxury hotel located close 
to Canton Road, which has one of the largest concentrations of luxury retailers 
in Hong Kong and is located in the heart of Tsim Sha Tsui, one of the busiest 
shopping and leisure destinations in Hong Kong. Apart from the shopping 
opportunities offered, Tsim Sha Tsui is a cultural hub and The Langham, Hong 
Kong is located near historical buildings, museums and other tourist attractions, 
such as the Hong Kong Clock Tower, the Avenue of Stars and the Star Ferry. Tsim 
Sha Tsui is also a growing commercial hub with large-scale office developments 
nearby, such as the International Commerce Centre in West Kowloon, 
underpinning growth in corporate accommodation in the area.

The Langham, Hong Kong seeks to 
provide a unique european-style refined 

service to its guests

HKTB RATING	 High Tariff A

ROOMS	 498

GFA (’000 SQ.FT) 	 375





Cordis, Hong Kong provides a contemporary luxury hotel experience, with sleek 
and modern design inspired by contemporary Chinese art. Cordis, Hong Kong is a 
short walk away from famous street markets such as the night market on Temple 
Street, the Ladies Market and the Jade Market, and is directly connected to The 
Langham Place Shopping Mall and Office Tower. Cordis, Hong Kong is the only 
large scale luxury hotel in the heart of Mongkok and easily accessible by various 
modes of public transportation, including the MTR. Mongkok attracts many 
shoppers, both local and overseas, as the location has a plethora of shopping 
malls, street shops and open bazaar outlets. In addition to retail, Mongkok is an 
entertainment and commercial centre.

Cordis, Hong Kong is the only large-scale 
luxury hotel in the heart of Mongkok

HKTB RATING	 High Tariff A

ROOMS	 669

GFA (’000 SQ.FT) 	 580





Eaton HK is located on Nathan Road, a popular street in Hong Kong in a famous 

shopping, entertainment and commercial district. Eaton HK is easily accessible by 

various modes of public transportation and is located between Tsim Sha Tsui and 

Mongkok. Eaton HK has undergone a spectacular transformation with extensive 

renovation in its F&B outlets, common areas, facilities and some of its rooms 

in 2018, becoming the first hotel in Hong Kong to focus immensely on culture, 

socialization and the community.

Located on Nathan Road,
Eaton HK’s designs are amongst the 
most stylish and targeted to attract 

millennials, who are looking for a thorough 
experience-based stay.

HKTB RATING	 High Tariff B

ROOMS	 465

GFA (’000 SQ.FT) 	 339

Temple Street
Night Market
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The Trust Group comprises a hotel portfolio of three Hong Kong hotels including The Langham, 
Hong Kong, Cordis, Hong Kong and Eaton HK. These three Hong Kong hotels are managed by the 
Hotel Manager, Langham Hotels International Limited under Langham Hospitality Group, which is 
one of the world’s most outstanding hotel management companies.

Langham Hospitality Group, a member of the Great Eagle Group, encompasses a family of 
distinctive hospitality brands which include hotels, restaurants and spas, located on four 
continents. Langham Hospitality Group currently manages 23 hotels under The Langham Hotels 
and Resorts, Cordis and Eaton brands, with more than 15 hotel projects currently confirmed and 
under construction or in a developed stage of negotiations in China, Southeast Asia, Australia and 
North America.

LANGHAM HOTELS AND RESORTS – THE LANGHAM AND LANGHAM PLACE
Langham Hotels and Resorts, is the flagship brand of Langham Hospitality Group, and 
comprise of hotels committed to delivering exceptional experiences across the globe. 
The Langham name has come to represent hotels that are the epitome of luxury, 
displaying a passion for genuine service, innovation, captivation of the senses and 
design. Our hotels are defined by ‘The Art of the Stay’ through their impeccable service 
with poise, timeless art & design and by their eclectic sensory experiences. The Langham 
brand reflects classic luxury, grand and timeless, whereas Langham Place brand 
represents modern luxury and sophistication.

CORDIS
Cordis, meaning “heart” in latin, is a collection of elegant upscale hotels, with plenty 
of heart & soul, utterly devoted to your business, personal and family well-being. The 
service is seamless, devoted, genuine, reliable, thoughtful, anticipatory, passionate and 
intuitive. The Cordis portfolio will include new built designs, resorts and contemporary 
residences. The brand will be developed through a combination of new-build and 
conversion projects in key cities in Asia and North America, with the first hotel to fly the 
Cordis flag 2015 in Hong Kong.

EATON
Eaton HK is the physical arm of Eaton Workshop, a new global purpose-driven company 
and creative lab from Katherine Lo at the intersection of culture, media, hospitality, 
wellness, and progressive social change. With distinct parts—Hotel, House, Media, 
Wellness, and Impact Eaton Workshop transcends the notion of a traditional hotel to 
provide a physical, digital, and analog platform to artists, activists, healers, and leaders in 
their pursuit of making the world a better place.
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1	 The Langham, Hong Kong

2	 Cordis, Hong Kong

3	 Eaton HK

4	 The Langham, London

5	 The Langham, 
Huntington Pasadena

6	 The Langham, Chicago

7	 Eaton Washington DC

8	 The Langham, Fifth Avenue, 
New York

9	 The Langham, Boston

Note:
The Langham, Hong Kong, Cordis, Hong Kong and Eaton HK are existing hotel properties owned by the Trust Group. Apart from the said Hotels, the Trust 
Group does not own any other hotels in the above list.
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10	 The Langham, Melbourne

11	 The Langham, Sydney

12	 Cordis, Auckland

13	 Cordis, Beijing Capital Airport

14	 Langham Place Guangzhou

15	 Langham Place, Ningbo

16	 Langham Place, Xiamen

17	 Langham Place, Haining

18	 The Langham, Shenzhen

19	 The Langham, Haikou

20	 The Langham, Xintiandi, 
Shanghai

21	 Cordis, Hongqiao, Shanghai

22	 The Langham, Hefei

23	 Cordis, Dongqian Lake, Ningbo



L A N G H A M  H O S P I T A L I T Y  I N V E S T M E N T S  ◆  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0010

CORPORATE INFORMATION
AND FINANCIAL CALENDAR

TRUST
Langham Hospitality Investments
(a fixed single investment trust constituted pursuant to  
the Trust Deed under the laws of Hong Kong)

COMPANY
Langham Hospitality Investments Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

TRUSTEE-MANAGER
LHIL Manager Limited
(as Trustee-Manager of the Trust)

COMPANY AND TRUSTEE-MANAGER 
BOARDS OF DIRECTORS
LO Ka Shui (Chairman and Non-executive Director)
Brett Stephen BUTCHER (Chief Executive Officer and  
  Executive Director)
CHAN Ka Keung, Ceajer*
LIN Syaru, Shirley*
LO Chun Him, Alexander#

LO Chun Lai, Andrew#

WONG Kwai Lam*

#	 Non-executive Directors
*	 Independent Non-executive Directors

COMPANY AND TRUSTEE-MANAGER 
AUDIT COMMITTEES
WONG Kwai Lam (Chairman)
CHAN Ka Keung, Ceajer
LIN Syaru, Shirley

COMPANY REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
CHAN Ka Keung, Ceajer (Chairman)
LO Ka Shui
LIN Syaru, Shirley
WONG Kwai Lam

COMPANY NOMINATION COMMITTEE
LIN Syaru, Shirley (Chairwoman)
LO Ka Shui
CHAN Ka Keung, Ceajer
WONG Kwai Lam

COMPANY SECRETARY
WONG Mei Ling, Marina

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

LEGAL ADVISORS
Conyers Dill & Pearman
Mayer Brown

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd Hong Kong Branch
Hang Seng Bank Limited
Mizhuo Bank, Ltd.
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AND FINANCIAL CALENDAR

COMPANY REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

COMPANY PRINCIPAL PLACE OF 
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Suite 3001, 30th Floor
Great Eagle Centre
23 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Tel:	 (852) 2186 2500
Fax:	 (852) 2186 9867

COMPANY PRINCIPAL SHARE 
REGISTRAR
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

COMPANY HONG KONG BRANCH 
SHARE REGISTRAR AND  
SHARE STAPLED UNITS REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

WEBSITE
www.langhamhospitality.com

INVESTORS ENQUIRIES
For enquiries from investors or Holders of Share Stapled
Units, please email to enquiry@langhamhospitality.com

HKEX STOCK CODE
1270

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Event Date

2020 Interim Results Announcement 7 August 2020

2020 Annual Results Announcement 9 February 2021

Closure of Registers for ascertaining the entitlement to  
attend and vote at the 2021 AGM

6 May 2021 – 12 May 2021 
(both days inclusive)

2021 AGM 12 May 2021
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DISTRIBUTION NOTICE

DISTRIBUTION POLICY & PAYOUT 
RATIO
The present distribution policy of the Trust Group is to 
distribute not less than 90% of total distributable income  
to its Holders of Share Stapled Units.

On 11 February 2020, the Board has decided to increase 
cash reserves of the business by reducing the payout 
ratio from the previous 100% of distributable income 
to not less than 90% from 2020 onwards. Ninety per 
cent is the minimum payout ratio as stipulated by the 
Trust Deed. The resulting increase in cash available to 
the Trust Group will help it to deal with the poor trading 
environment and for ongoing asset enhancement 
activity.

The Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board 
have the discretionary power to determine the form, 
frequency and amount of future distributions (if any) 
in respect of Share Stapled Units, depending on the 
earnings, financial position and results of operations of 
the Group, as well as contractual restrictions (including 
limitations on borrowings by the Trustee-Manager under 
the Trust Deed and compliance with financial undertakings 
imposed under the Group’s loan facilities agreements), 
provisions of applicable laws and regulations and other 
factors including, but not limited to, funding requirements 
with reference to the prevailing business environment 
and operations, and expansion plans, other capital 
management considerations, the overall stability of 
distributions and prevailing industry practice.

FINAL DISTRIBUTION
Given the distributable income of HK$6.0 million reported 
for the Trust Group in 2020, the distributable income  
per Share Stapled Unit is negligible. In addition, in view of 
the ongoing development of COVID-19 which continues 
to severely affect the business operations of the Hotels, 
the Board of Directors recommended not to declare a 
final distribution for the year ended 31 December 2020 
(2019: HK3.4 cents per Share Stapled Unit).

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS
The Share Stapled Units Register, the register of holders 
of units, the principal and Hong Kong branch registers 
of members, and the register of beneficial interests as 
established and maintained by the Trustee-Manager and 
the Company in accordance with the provisions of the 
Trust Deed will all be closed from Thursday, 6 May 2021 
to Wednesday, 12 May 2021 both days inclusive, for the 
purpose of ascertaining the entitlement of Holders of 
Share Stapled Units to attend and vote at the 2021 AGM. 
During this period, no transfer of Share Stapled Units will 
be registered.

In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2021 AGM, 
all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by  
the relevant Share Stapled Units certificates must be 
lodged wi th  the Share Stap led Uni ts  Regist rar , 
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited  
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,  
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for 
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,  
5 May 2021.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(in HK$ million, unless otherwise specified) 2020 2019 Change

Revenue of hotel portfolio 587.9 1,350.9 -56.5%

Total rental income for the Trust Group after 
netting service fees 208.3 483.9 -57.0%

(Loss)/Profit attributable to Holders of Share Stapled Units 
excluding Fair Value change on Investment Properties and 
Derivative Financial Instruments (20.1) 168.6 -111.9%

Distributable Income 6.0 259.1 -97.7%

Interim Distribution per Share Stapled Unit – HK8.7 cents -100.0%

Final Distribution per Share Stapled Unit – HK3.4 cents -100.0%

Annual Distribution per Share Stapled Unit – HK12.1 cents -100.0%

As at 31 Dec 2020 30 Jun 2020 31 Dec 2019

Gross Value of Hotel Portfolio (in HK$ million) 14,802 15,572 17,500

Net Asset Value per Share Stapled Unit HK$2.52* HK$3.68 HK$4.68

Gearing Ratio 42.6% 46.2% 40.6%

*	 Number of share stapled units issued increased by 1,072.7 million to 3,225.2 million after the rights offering.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The year 2020 was a devastating year for the hospitality 
sector globally. The COVID-19 pandemic, which has 
grounded international travel to a nearly complete halt 
since early 2020, has taken a toll on the global hospitality 
sector. For Hong Kong, the High Tariff A hotel market 
recorded a significant decline of 73.6% in revenue per 
available room (“RevPAR”) in 2020, while the decline for 
High Tariff B was 65.1%.

As reported by the Hong Kong Tourism Board, the decline 
in overnight visitor arrivals in 2020 was astonishingly high 
at 94.3%, which was even more severe than the decline of 
18.8% posted in 2019, when Hong Kong was grappling with 
social unrest. Correspondingly, our hotels have witnessed 
extremely low occupancies coupled with depressed 
average room rates throughout 2020. Furthermore, our 
hotel’s Food and Beverage (“F&B”) businesses were 
impacted by a reduction in seating capacity, as well as 
shortened operating hours for in-house dining, amid social 
distancing measures imposed by government.

The RevPAR of our hotel portfolio declined by 79.6% in 
2020. Total revenue of the hotels, which included HK$72.4 
million government subsidies, dropped by 56.5% year-on-
year. The portfolio generated an aggregate gross operating 
loss amounting to HK$13.2 million during the year, as 
compared with an aggregate gross operating profit of 
HK$464.9 million achieved last year.

While we continue to receive fixed rental income from 
GE (LHIL) Lessee Limited (the “Master Lessee”) amounting 
to HK$225.0 million in 2020, there was no variable rental 
income given the hotel portfolio had reported a loss for the 
year. Overall, total gross rental income, after accounting 
for service fees expenses incurred, decreased by 57.0% 
to HK$208.3 million in 2020, whereas the Trust Group’s 
net property income decreased by 59.9% year-on-year to 
HK$179.9 million.

During 2020, the Trust Group’s finance costs dropped by 
20.7% to HK$174.6 million amid a decline in interest rates. 
Reflecting the adverse impact of the pandemic on the hotel 
business, there was a HK$2,722.3 million decrease in the 
fair value of the Trust Group’s investment properties (hotel 
portfolio) in 2020. In addition, there was a loss of HK$90.4 
million booked due to a decline in the market value of 
derivative financial instruments (interest rate swaps). As a 
result, the Trust Group incurred a loss of HK$2,832.8 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2020. Net loss excluding 
fair value change of investment properties and derivative 
financial instruments was HK$20.1 million, representing a 
decline of 111.9% from 2019 (2019: net profit of HK$168.6 
million).

Given the distributable income of HK$6.0 million reported 
for the Trust Group in 2020, the distributable income per 
Share Stapled Unit is negligible. In addition, in view of the 
ongoing development of COVID-19 which continues to 
severely affect the business operations of the hotels, the 
Board of Directors recommended not to declare a final 
distribution for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 
HK3.4 cents per Share Stapled Unit).

After the completion of a rights issue in the third quarter of 
2020, the Trust Group successfully raised gross proceeds 
of HK$1,019.1 million. Of which, HK$810.0 million has been 
utilised for the partial prepayment of the Trust Group’s 
outstanding loans. After the prepayment, total outstanding 
borrowings, before accounting for the loan front-end 
fee, amounted to HK$6,417.0 million as at the end of 
December 2020, given the valuation of the hotel portfolio 
of HK$14,802.0 million, implied a gearing ratio of 42.6% as 
at 31 December 2020. Net Asset Value (“NAV”) of the Trust 
Group amounted to HK$8,129.6 million or HK$2.52 per 
Share Stapled Unit as at 31 December 2020.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

OUTLOOK
The Hong Kong hospitality sector continues to be greatly affected by travel restrictions in place 
amid the ongoing pandemic. Our hotels’ business will remain under enormous pressure until 
travel restrictions and social distancing measures are lifted. The recent launch of various COVID-19 
vaccines may provide protection and should have a positive effect, but it will take time to roll-out. 
Such a large-scale vaccination program will likely take most of 2021 to implement. Meanwhile, 
travel restrictions are at their severest in many parts of the world in response to the new 
coronavirus strains which are more contagious.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Therefore, we believe there are still too many uncertainties 
as to gauge when a sustainable recovery of the Hong Kong 
hospitality sector will eventually take hold. At the same 
time, the Hong Kong government rolled back some relief 
measures including the Employment Support Scheme 
from December 2020. This will weaken the hotel’s financial 
performance at the start of 2021.

To combat the issue of almost non-existent visitor 
arrivals, our hotels have shifted their focus to grow the 
domestic staycation, as well as the local long stay market. 
At the same time, numerous promotions have been 
launched to specifically build our local food and beverage 
business. However, the recent heightening of government 
restrictions in December 2020 has again severely 
impacted our efforts. These operational headwinds will 
persist until the number of untraceable infections are 
substantially reduced.

For January 2021, RevPAR and food and beverage business 
in our hotels continues to be dramatically affected.

In addition to the near-term weakness in demand for 
hotel rooms, we expect the pandemic could have medium 
implications on the need to travel as companies and 
individuals reassess the way they work and live. Therefore, 
it is even more important for us to acknowledge that 
structural changes in the demand for hotel rooms could 
develop, and we need to maintain flexibility and be ready 
to react to changes in business direction and geographic 
demand.

We remain confident in Hong Kong’s resilience and appeal 
as a world-class business and leisure travel destination, 
and the Trust Group is well positioned with its distinctive 
portfolio of innovative hospitality assets to capture its 
share of incoming travellers to Hong Kong and local food 
and beverage patronage.

Lo Ka Shui
Chairman
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CEO’S REVIEW

As the hotels reported an operating loss for 2020, there 
was no variable rental income received from the Master 
Lessee. However, the Trust Group continued to receive 
a fixed rental income of HK$225.0 million for 2020. 
Combined with a modest HK$2.0 million in rental income 
from the retail shops of Eaton HK, total rental income 

received by the Trust Group before service fees was 
HK$227.0 million for the year, representing a year-on-
year decline of 58.9%. After netting off HK$18.7 million in 
service fees incurred, total rental income was HK$208.3 
million, representing a year-on-year decline of 57.0%.

(in HK$ million) 2020 2019 Change

Variable rental income – 325.4 -100.0%

Fixed rental income 225.0 225.0 –

Rental income from retail shops 2.0 1.7 17.6%

Total rental income before service fees 227.0 552.1 -58.9%

Service fees expenses (18.7) (68.2) -72.6%

Total rental income for the Trust Group 208.3 483.9 -57.0%

elect to be paid in the form of Share Stapled Units, cash or 
a combination of both. For 2020, the Hotel Manager has 
elected the hotel management fees and licence fee to be 
paid wholly in the form of Share Stapled Units.

In 2020, reflecting the very poor performance of the hotels, 
hotel management fees dropped by 75.7% to HK$10.0 
million, global marketing fee dropped by 79.3% to HK$2.8 
million and licence fee dropped by 56.3% to HK$5.9 million. 
Total service fees payable to the hotel management 
company declined 72.6% year-on-year to HK$18.7 million 
in 2020.

(in HK$ million) 2020 2019 Change

Hotel management fees 10.0 41.2 -75.7%

Licence fee 5.9 13.5 -56.3%

Global marketing fee 2.8 13.5 -79.3%

Total service fees 18.7 68.2 -72.6%

Total service fees comprise: i) hotel management fees, 
ii) licence fee and iii) global marketing fee paid to the 
hotel management company. Hotel management fees 
comprise a base management fee, which is calculated at 
1.5% of total hotel revenue, and an incentive fee of 5.0% 
of adjusted gross operating profit of the relevant hotels. 
Licence fee is calculated based on 1.0% of total revenue of 
the relevant hotels, and global marketing fee is calculated 
at 2.0% of total room revenue of the relevant hotels. 
It should be noted that when calculating distributable 
income, global marketing fee is paid in cash. As for hotel 
management fees and licence fee, the Hotel Manager can 
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CEO’S REVIEW

Property related expenses declined by 20.2% year-on-
year to HK$28.4 million in 2020, which was primarily due 
to lower rateable value of the Hotels which resulted in 

lower government rates. Overall, net property income 
of the Trust Group came to HK$179.9 million in 2020, 
representing a year-on-year decline of 59.9%.

(in HK$ million) 2020 2019 Change

Total rental income after service fees 208.3 483.9 -57.0%

Hotel properties related expenses (28.4) (35.6) -20.2%

Net property income 179.9 448.3 -59.9%

The increase in net interest settlement incurred was due 
to an increase in the notional amount of interest rate 
swap contracts held by the Trust Group as at the end of 
2020. The Trust Group executed an additional HK$2,700.0 
million notional amount of interest rate swap contracts 
at an average swap rate of 1.08% during the first half of 
2020, in anticipation of the expiry of similar interest rate 
swap contracts from November 2020 to February 2021. 
Upon the expiry of interest rate swap with notional amount 
of HK$1,000.0 million in November 2020, total notional 
amount of interest rate swap contracts as at 31 December 
2020 amounted to HK$5,700.0 million. These hedging 
arrangements will help mitigate the impact of potential 
hike in interest rates on the Trust Group’s distributable 
income in the coming years.

(in HK$ million) 2020 2019 Change

Breakdown of Finance costs

Interest expense and other borrowing costs (122.2) (202.0) -39.5%

Loan front-end fee amortisation (11.3) (26.1) -56.7%

Interest (expense)/income on interest rate swaps (41.1) 7.9 -620.3%

Total Finance costs (174.6) (220.2) -20.7%

As Hong Kong’s interest rate dropped in 2020, interest 
expense on the floating rate loan and other borrowing 
costs dropped by 39.5% to HK$122.2 million during the 
year. However, part of the savings were offset by an 
increase in net interest settlement incurred in the interest 
rate swaps in 2020. Loan front-end fee amortisation 
came to HK$11.3 million for the year, representing a 
year-on-year decrease of 56.7%. Overall finance costs, 
comprised interest on floating rate loan, net interest 
settlement on the interest rate swaps and loan front-
end fee amortisation, dropped by 20.7% year-on-year to 
HK$174.6 million in 2020.

There was a decrease in fair value of investment properties 
(Hotel portfolio) amounting to HK$2,722.3 million in 2020 
results, as well as a decrease in fair value of derivative 
financial instruments amounting to HK$90.4 million, which 
reflected a decrease in the market value of the interest 
rate swap contracts. The increase in trust and other 
expenses was mainly due to the legal and professional fee 

incurred for the rights issue in the third quarter of 2020. 
Loss attributable to Holders of Share Stapled Units was 
HK$2,832.8 million in 2020. Excluding the impact of the 
above two non-cash items, loss attributable to Holders of 
Share Stapled Units narrowed to HK$20.1 million in 2020, 
as compared with profit of HK$168.6 million in 2019.
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CEO’S REVIEW

(in HK$ million) 2020 2019 Change

Net property income 179.9 448.3 -59.9%

Interest and other income 2.0 2.4 -16.7%

Decrease in fair value of investment properties  
(Hotel portfolio) (2,722.3) (2,788.4) -2.4%

Decrease in fair value of derivative financial instruments  
(interest rate swaps) (90.4) (14.9) 506.7%

Finance costs (174.6) (220.2) -20.7%

Trust and other expenses (21.3) (13.4) 59.0%

Loss before tax (2,826.7) (2,586.2) 9.3%

Income tax expense (6.1) (48.5) -87.4%

Loss attributable to Holders of Share Stapled Units (2,832.8) (2,634.7) 7.5%

To derive the Trust Group’s distributable income, net 
loss is adjusted for the following two non-cash items, 
namely, decrease in fair value of investment properties 
and decrease in fair value on the derivative financial 
instruments. Furthermore, we adjusted for the hotel 

management fees and licence fee payable in form of Share 
Stapled Units, loan front-end fee amortisation, deferred tax 
and depreciation. Lastly, we deducted the contribution to 
reserve for furniture, fixtures and equipment.

(in HK$ million) 2020 2019 Change

Loss attributable to Holders of Share Stapled Units (2,832.8) (2,634.7) 7.5%

Add:

Decrease in fair value of investment properties 2,722.3 2,788.4 -2.4%

Decrease in fair value on derivative financial instruments 90.4 14.9 506.7%

Hotel management fees and licence fee payable in form of 
Share Stapled Units 15.9 54.7 -70.9%

Loan front-end fee amortisation 11.3 26.1 -56.7%

Deferred tax 5.9 30.0 -80.3%

Depreciation 1.8 - n.a.

Less:

Reserve for furniture, fixtures and equipment (8.8) (20.3) -56.7%

Distributable income 6.0 259.1 -97.7%
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Given the distributable income of HK$6.0 million reported 
for the Trust Group in 2020, the distributable income per 
Share Stapled Unit is negligible. In addition, in view of the 
ongoing development of COVID-19 which continues to 

severely affect the business operations of the Hotels, the 
Board of Directors recommended not to declare a final 
distribution for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 
HK3.4 cents per Share Stapled Unit).

Hotel Performance

Average Daily 
Rooms Available Occupancy

Average 
Room Rate 

(in HK$)
RevPAR 
(in HK$)

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

The Langham, Hong Kong 498 497 16.3% 75.3% 1,342 1,955 219 1,472

year-on-year growth -59.0ppt -31.4% -85.1%

Cordis, Hong Kong 667 667 22.5% 73.1% 1,165 1,656 262 1,210

year-on-year growth -50.6ppt -29.6% -78.3%

Eaton HK 465 465 37.4% 71.6% 543 950 203 679

year-on-year growth -34.2ppt -42.8% -70.1%

Hotel Portfolio 1,630 1,629 24.8% 73.3% 933 1,553 232 1,139

year-on-year growth -48.5ppt -39.9% -79.6%

Hong Kong Hotel Markets Occupancy

Average 
Room Rate 

(in HK$)
RevPAR 
(in HK$)

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

High Tariff A 24.0% 74.0% 1,617 1,982 388 1,467

year-on-year growth -50.0ppt -18.4% -73.6%

High Tariff B 45.0% 79.0% 608 992 274 784

year-on-year growth -34.0ppt -38.7% -65.1%

Revenue breakdown 
(in HK$ million)

The Langham, 
Hong Kong

Cordis, 
Hong Kong Eaton HK Total

Rooms 39.8 63.9 34.6 138.3

Food & Beverages 101.1 133.0 111.0 345.1

Others 32.7 40.4 31.4 104.5

Total revenue 173.6 237.3 177.0 587.9
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Performance of the Individual Hotels
The Langham, Hong Kong The hotel’s performance for 
2020 was severely impacted by the pandemic as leisure 
and business levels remained low due in large part to 
global travel restrictions. Amid the plunge in demand 
from the traditional segments in 2020, the Hotel Manager 
switched its strategy to focus on the local staycation 
market, as well as long stay packages from the second 
quarter of 2020. As a result, the hotel managed a 16.3% 
occupancy for the full year, as compared with a 14.4% 
occupancy witnessed in the first half of 2020. Average 
room rate dropped by 31.4%, resulting in a RevPAR decline 
of 85.1% in 2020, as compared with a 73.6% drop in 
RevPAR of its respective High Tariff A hotel market.

F&B revenue for the hotel dropped by 53.0% year-on-year 
in 2020. All F&B outlets have witnessed substantial decline 
in revenue amid social distancing measures imposed, with 
banqueting business being particularly severely impacted 
as most existing bookings being deferred and negligible to 
pick up new business. Note that the all-day dining venue, 
The Food Gallery, was closed for three months at the 
beginning of the COVID-19 lockdown. The hotel applied for 
the Employment Support Scheme and other government 
subsidies and HK$25.3 million was booked under other 
revenue in 2020.

Cordis, Hong Kong The hotel had fared slightly better 
than The Langham, Hong Kong as the hotel still had group 
business during the onset of the pandemic breakout 
in early 2020. However, the overall demand has fallen 
sharply following the travel restrictions and quarantine 
measures. The hotel increased its effort in targeting the 
local staycation market from the second quarter of 2020 
and managed to achieve a 22.5% overall occupancy for 
2020, as compared with a 19.5% occupancy in the first 
half of 2020. Average room rate dropped by 29.6% in 2020. 
RevPAR dropped by 78.3%, which compared unfavourably 
with a 73.6% drop in RevPAR of the respective High Tariff A 
hotel market.

Revenue from F&B witnessed a decline of 53.6% year-on-
year in 2020. Business remained weak amid the imposed 
government restrictions, which led to a lack of banquet 
bookings as well as a substantial drop in revenue of all the 
outlets. The hotel has applied for the Employment Support 
Scheme and other government subsidies and HK$29.6 
million was booked under other revenue in 2020.

Eaton HK The hotel’s average room rate dropped by 
42.8% and occupancy dropped by 34.2 percentage points 
year-on-year in 2020. This resulted in a RevPAR decline 
of 70.1%, as compared with a 65.1% drop in RevPAR of 
its respective High Tariff B hotel market during 2020. The 
hotel benefitted from some guaranteed group business 
during February, but demand remained lackluster for the 
rest of the year, with price competition being extremely 
intense for the lower tariff hotels.

Revenue from F&B at the Eaton HK performed relatively 
well with a drop of only 13.6% year-on-year in 2020. 
After the renovation works, business at Yat Tung Heen 
was particularly strong despite the imposed government 
restrictions. The hotel has applied for the Employment 
Support Scheme and other government subsidies and 
HK$17.5 million was booked under other revenue in 2020.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Distributions
Distributable income of the Trust Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2020 was HK$5,967,000 (2019: 
HK$259,064,000). It is the policy of the Trust Group to 
distribute not less than 90% of total distributable income to 
its Holders of Share Stapled Units.

The significant decline in the operating performance of the 
Trust Group’s hotels amid the COVID-19 pandemic has led 
to an aggregate gross operating loss of the Hotels before 
deduction of the global marketing fee and in turn zero 
variable rent receivable by the Trust Group. This situation, 
on top of negligible distributable income per Share Stapled 
Unit, the Boards do not recommend the payment for any 
of the total distributable income for the year ended 31 
December 2020.
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Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Share Stapled 
Units
Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Share Stapled Units 
was HK$8,129.6 million or HK$2.52 per Share Stapled 
Unit as at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$9,989.8 million 
or HK$4.68 per Share Stapled Unit) which represents a 
147.1% premium to the closing Share Stapled Unit price of 
HK$1.02 as at 31 December 2020.

Debt Profile
HK$1,019.1 million was raised upon the completion of the 
rights issue during the year, of which HK$810.0 million 
was utilised in prepaying part of the secured term loans. 
Total outstanding borrowings, before accounting for the 
loan front-end fee, of the Trust Group as at 31 December 
2020 were HK$6,417.0 million (2019: HK$7,152.0 million). 
The secured term loans of HK$5,990.0 million (2019: 
HK$6,800.0 million) were on a floating-rate interest basis 
and repayable in full in December 2023 (2019: in 2023). 
The secured revolving loans of HK$427.0 million (2019: 
HK$352.0 million) were revolving on a monthly basis until 
December 2023.

In order to mitigate the interest rate exposure, the Trust 
Group entered into several four-year interest rate swap 
transactions totaling HK$4,000.0 million during 2016 to 
2018. During the year, several three-year to nearly-four-
year interest rate swap transactions totaling HK$2,700.0 
million were executed. Upon the expiry of a HK$1,000.0 
million interest rate swap transaction in November 2020, 
HK$5,700.0 million (2019: HK$4,000.0 million) out of the total 
outstanding bank loan, before accounting for the loan front-
end fee, of HK$6,417.0 million (2019: HK$7,152.0 million) or 
88.8% (2019: 55.9%) was fixed at a weighted average swap 
rate of 1.49% p.a. (31 December 2019: 1.65% p.a.).

The Trust Group will continue to monitor interest rate 
movements and may, depending on market conditions, 
consider to further mitigate its interest rate exposure on 
part of the remaining bank debt.

As at 31 December 2020, total gross assets of the Trust 
Group were HK$15,079.6 million (2019: HK$17,612.0 
million). Gearing ratio, calculated at total outstanding 
borrowings as a percentage of gross assets, was 42.6% 
(2019: 40.6%).

Cash Position
As at 31 December 2020, excluding the restricted bank 
balance of HK$41.0 million (2019: nil) that was placed in 
a bank for the requirement of the mitigation mechanism 
under the loan facilities agreement, the Trust Group had 
a cash balance of HK$217.6 million (2019: HK$75.7 million) 
to satisfy a portion of asset enhancement of the Hotels, as 
well as its working capital and operating requirements.

In addition, the Trust Group had unused revolving loans 
amounting to HK$273.0 million as of 31 December 2020 
(2019: HK$348.0 million).

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2020, restricted bank balance and all 
investment properties of the Trust Group, together with 
assignments of sales proceeds, insurance proceeds, rental 
income, revenues and all other income generated from the 
properties, were pledged to secure the term and revolving 
loan facilities granted to the Trust Group.

Commitments
As at 31 December 2020, the Trust Group has authorised 
capital expenditures for investment properties which were 
not provided for in these consolidated financial statements 
amounting to HK$2,413,000 (2019: HK$4,330,000), none of 
which (2019: HK$2,495,000) was contracted for.

Other than that, the Trust Group did not have any 
significant commitments at the end of the reporting 
period.

Brett Stephen Butcher
Chief Executive Officer
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
Dr. LO Ka Shui
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Dr. LO Ka Shui, aged 74, has been the Chairman and 
Non-executive Director of the Trustee-Manager and  
the Company since 2013. He is a Member of each of the  
R e m u n e r a t i o n  C o m m i t t e e  a n d  t h e  Nomination 
Committee of the Company, and also a Director of  
the subsidiaries of the Company. He is the Chairman and 
Managing Director of Great Eagle Holdings Limited, 
and the Chairman and Non-executive Director of the 
Manager of the publicly listed trust, Champion Real  
Estate Investment Trust. He is also a Vice President  
of the Real Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong  
and a member of the Board of Trustees of The Hong 
Kong Centre for Economic Research. Dr. Lo graduated  
from McGill University with a Bachelor of Science Degree  
and from Cornell University with a Doctor of Medicine  
(M.D.) Degree. He was certified in Internal Medicine and  
Cardiology. He has over four decades of experience in  
property and hotel development and investment both in  
Hong Kong and overseas. Dr. Lo is the father of  
Mr. Lo Chun Him, Alexander and an uncle of Mr. Lo Chun Lai, 
Andrew, both being Non-executive Directors of the  
Trustee-Manager and the Company.

Mr. Brett Stephen BUTCHER
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Mr. Brett Stephen BUTCHER, aged 61, has been the Chief 
Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Trustee-
Manager and the Company since April 2019. He is also a 
Director of the subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Butcher 
has over 40 years’ extensive hotel business experience 
in both hotel operations and sales and marketing in Asia, 
the Pacific and North America. He is the chief executive 
officer of the hotel asset management arm of Great Eagle 
Holdings Limited (“Great Eagle”, being the controlling 
holder of share stapled units of the Trust and the  
Company) principally overseeing the management  
of all hotel assets of Great Eagle worldwide. Mr. Butcher 
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business (Hospitality 
Management) from University of Queensland Lawes 
Campus.

Professor CHAN Ka Keung, Ceajer
Independent Non-executive Director

Professor CHAN Ka Keung, Ceajer, aged 64, has been 
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Trustee-
Manager and the Company since August 2018. He is the 
Chairman of the Company’s Remuneration Committee, a 
Member of the Company’s Nomination Committee and a 
Member of the Audit Committees of the Trustee-Manager 
and the Company. Professor Chan holds an Honorary 
Doctoral Degree from The Hong Kong University of Science 
and Technology (HKUST). Professor Chan is an Adjunct 
Professor and a Senior Advisor to the Dean at HKUST 
Business School. He was appointed as the Secretary for 
Financial Services and the Treasury of the Government 
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region from  
July 2007 to June 2017. Prior to that, he was Dean of Business  
and Management in HKUST. Before joining the HKUST 
Business School in 1993, Professor Chan had spent nine 
years teaching at Ohio State University in the United States. 
Professor Chan is currently a Non-executive Director of 
Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited, a member 
of Competition Commission of Hong Kong and a Non-
executive Director of Tricor Group. He is an Independent 
Non-executive Director of Guotai Junan International 
Holdings Limited and China Overseas Land & Investment 
Limited, both companies are listed on the Main Board of 
Stock Exchange. He is also the Chairman of WeLab Bank 
Limited and a Senior Advisor to Welab Holdings Limited.

Professor Chan received his bachelor’s degree in 
economics from Wesleyan University and both of his 
M.B.A. and Ph.D. in finance from The University of 
Chicago. He specialised in assets pricing, evaluation of 
trading strategies and market efficiency and has published 
numerous articles on these topics.
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Professor LIN Syaru, Shirley
Independent Non-executive Director

Professor LIN Syaru, Shirley, aged 52, has been an 
Independent Non-executive Director of the Trustee-
Manager and the Company since 2013. She is the Chair 
of the Company’s Nomination Committee, a Member of 
the Company’s Remuneration Committee and a Member 
of the Audit Committees of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company. Previously, she was as a Partner at Goldman 
Sachs, where she led the firm’s efforts in private equity 
and venture capital in Asia. In addition, Professor Lin was 
involved in the privatisation of state-owned enterprises 
in China, Singapore and Taiwan. She has served on the 
boards of numerous private and public companies and 
is currently an Independent Non-executive Director of 
Goldman Sachs Asia Bank Limited, a restricted licence 
bank in Hong Kong. She was an Independent Non-
executive Director of Swire Pacific Limited and Mercuries 
Life Insurance Co., Ltd. She was appointed by the Hong 
Kong government to the Hong Kong Committee for Pacific 
Economic Cooperation and serves on the board of the 
Focused Ultrasound Foundation.

Professor Lin is Compton Visiting Professor in World 
Politics at the Miller Center of Public Affairs at the 
University of Virginia and a Nonresident Senior Fellow in 
the Foreign Policy Program at the Brookings Institution. 
She is also a faculty member at the Chinese University 
of Hong Kong. Her book on the impact of the evolution 
of Taiwanese identity on cross-Strait economic policy 
was published by Stanford University Press in 2016. 
She is currently working on the challenges facing the 
advanced economies in East Asia that have entered the 
high income trap. Her commentary frequently appears 
in English and Chinese media. She received her master’s 
degree in International and Public Affairs with distinction 
and her Ph.D. in Politics and Public Administration from 
the University of Hong Kong and her A.B. from Harvard 
College, cum laude.

Mr. LO Chun Him, Alexander
Non-executive Director

Mr. LO Chun Him, Alexander, aged 35, has been a Non-
executive Director of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company since February 2017. He is also a Director of 
the subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lo is an Executive 
Director of Great Eagle Holdings Limited, which is listed on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Prior to joining the 
Great Eagle Group in 2010, he had worked at Citibank’s 
investment banking division with a focus on Hong 
Kong’s market. Mr. Lo is also a member of the Executive 
Committee of The Real Estate Developers Association of 
Hong Kong and a member of the Management Committee 
of The Federation of Hong Kong Hotel Owners Limited. He 
graduated from Washington University in St. Louis with a 
Bachelor of Arts in Psychology. Mr. Lo is a son of Dr. Lo 
Ka Shui, being the Chairman and Non-executive Director 
of the Trustee-Manager and the Company. He is also a 
cousin of Mr. Lo Chun Lai, Andrew, being a Non-executive 
Director of the Trustee-Manager and the Company.

Mr. LO Chun Lai, Andrew
Non-executive Director

Mr. LO Chun Lai, Andrew, aged 32, has been a Non- 
executive Director of the Trustee-Manager and the Company  
since October 2020. He is currently the Vice President – 
Finance, Business Strategy at Langham Hospitality Group 
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Great Eagle Holdings 
Limited which is the controlling holder of share stapled 
units of the Trust and the Company. In his current capacity, 
Mr. Lo is responsible for business planning, ensuring 
financial stewardship, and supporting asset management. 
Prior to joining Langham Hospitality Group in 2013,  
he held positions at Horwath HTL and Mandarin Oriental. 
He graduated from Stanford University with a Bachelor 
of Arts in International Relations and from Columbia 
University in New York with a Master of Science in  
Real Estate Development. He also holds a certificate in 
Hotel Real Estate Investments and Asset Management 
f rom Cornel l  Univers i ty .  Mr.  Lo is  a  nephew of  
Dr. Lo Ka Shui, being the Chairman and Non-executive 
Director of the Trustee-Manager and the Company.  
He is also a cousin of Mr. Lo Chun Him, Alexander, being 
the Non-executive Director of the Trustee-Manager and 
the Company.
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Mr. WONG Kwai Lam
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. WONG Kwai Lam, aged 71, has been an Independent 
Non-executive Director of the Trustee-Manager and 
the Company since 2013. He is the Chairman of the  
Audit Committees of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company, and a Member of each of the Company’s 
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. 
Mr. Wong is currently an Independent Non-executive 
Director of Hutchison Port Holdings Management Pte. 
Limited as trustee-manager of Hutchison Port Holdings 
Trust (“HPHT”), CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (“CKHH”), 
ARA Asset Management (Prosperity) Limited as manager 
of Prosperity Real Estate Investment Trust (“Prosperity 
REIT”) and K. Wah International Holdings Limited (“KWIH”). 
CKHH, Prosperity REIT and KWIH are listed in Hong 
Kong, and HPHT is listed in Singapore. Mr. Wong was an 
Independent Non-executive Director of China Merchants 
Bank Co., Ltd. Mr. Wong is currently the Chairman of 
IncitAdv Consultants Ltd., Chairman and a Director of Hong 
Kong Grand Opera Company Limited, a member of the 
Advisory Board of Continuing and Professional Studies, 
The Chinese University of Hong Kong (“CUHK”) and a Vice 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees and a Member of the 
Investment Sub-committee of the Board of Trustees of 
New Asia College, CUHK. He is a Member of the Hospital 
Governing Committee of the Prince of Wales Hospital and 
a Director of the CUHK Medical Centre Limited. Mr. Wong 
has been appointed as Chairman of The Chamber of Hong 
Kong Listed Companies. He was formerly a Member of 
the Advisory Committee and a Member of the Real Estate 
Investment Trust (REIT) Committee of the Securities and 
Futures Commission in Hong Kong and a Member of the 
China Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development 
Council.

Mr. Wong has over 30 years of experience in the 
commercial and investment banking industry. He worked 
with Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Ltd. from May 1993 to 
August 2009 where he served as a Managing Director in 
the Asia Investment Banking Division since January 1995. 
He was appointed as a Senior Client Advisor to Merrill 
Lynch (Asia Pacific) Ltd. in September 2009 and served in 
that position for one year. Prior to that, Mr. Wong had been 
a Director in the Investment Banking Division of CS First 
Boston (Hong Kong) Ltd. and a Director and the Head of 
Primary Market in Standard Chartered Asia Limited.

Mr. Wong holds Bachelor of Arts Degree and Honorary 
Fellowship from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and 
a Ph. D from Leicester University, England.

Interests of the Directors of the Trustee-Manager and the Company in the Share Staple Units and/or the substantial 
Holders of Share Stapled Units are set out in the Report of the Directors in this Annual Report.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. LI Man Wai, Alexander
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. LI Man Wai, Alexander, aged 66, has been the Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company since 2013. He joined 
the Great Eagle Group in 1999 as the financial controller of 
The Langham, Hong Kong and was promoted to regional 
director of finance – Hong Kong of the Hotel Manager in 
2012 overseeing the finance department of all Hong Kong 
properties, namely The Langham, Hong Kong, Cordis, 
Hong Kong, Eaton HK and Eaton serviced apartments,  
as well as the Chinese restaurant, Ming Court, in Wanchai. 
He has extensive experience in the hospitality industry 
of around 40 years and held various positions in the 
finance department in international hotel chains including 
Mandarin Oriental, Shangri-la and Regal before joining the 
Great Eagle Group.

Ms. WONG May Po, Mabel
Finance and Office Administration Manager

Ms. WONG May Po, Mabel, aged 49, joined the Group in 
February 2020 as the Finance and Office Administration 
Manager. With over 25 years of financial and auditing 
experience gained from various companies, Ms. Wong 
is primarily responsible for the financial and accounting 
affairs of the Group. Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor 
of Commerce in Accounting from the University of  
New South Wales, Australia, and is a member of the  
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and 
CPA Australia.

Ms. TANG Wai Yan, Carmen
Head of Investor Relations

Ms. TANG Wai Yan, Carmen, aged 43, has been the  
Head of Investor Relations of the Company since 2013. 
She is also the investment services director of Great 
Eagle Holdings Limited, and is responsible for facilitating 
communications and liaison with its shareholders and 
investors. Ms. Tang has 19 years of experience in the real 
estate sector in Hong Kong and China. Prior to joining 
Great Eagle in 2008, she worked as an analyst with an 
international investment bank covering the real estate 
investment trusts (REITs) and hospitality sector in Hong 
Kong and China. Ms. Tang graduated from the University 
of Cambridge with a MPhil in Finance Degree, and holds 
a Bachelor of Science (First Class Honours) Degree in 
Business Economics from Queen Mary and Westfield 
College, the University of London.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. WONG Mei Ling, Marina

Ms. WONG Mei Ling, Marina, aged 54, has been the 
Company Secretary of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company since 2013. She is responsible for the company 
secretarial and compliance function of the Trust Group. 
Ms. Wong is the Company Secretary of Great Eagle  
Holdings Limited. She is also a Non-executive Director  
and the officer in charge of the corporate secretary  
o f  E a g l e  A s s e t  M a n a g e m e n t  ( C P )  L i m i t e d  
(Manager of the publicly listed Champion Real Estate  
Investment Trust) principally responsible for the governance,  
compliance and corporate secretarial matters. Prior to that,  
she was a senior management of a red chip listed company  
in Hong Kong and served as the Company Secretary 
and a member of the Investment Appraisal Committee.  
With over 30 years solid working experience, her expertise 
lies in the development of governance and compliance 
policies and corporate secretarial and administration. 
Ms. Wong is a Fellow both of The Chartered Governance  
Institute and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.  
Ms. Wong received her Master Degree in Laws from  
The Chinese University of Hong Kong, her Master Degree 
in Business Administration from the University of Wales 
and the University of Manchester jointly and her Bachelor 
Degree in Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING APPROACH & BOUNDARY
This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report 
(“the Report”) is prepared in accordance with the HKEX’s 
ESG Reporting Guide and satisfies the “comply or explain” 
provisions of it. The report follows the four Reporting 
Principles, namely Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and 
Consistency as stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide.

Reporting boundary of the report covers all properties in 
full operation of The Trust and the Company during the 
reporting period. The reporting boundary is determined 
based on our control and significant influence with 
considerations in revenue contribution, management 
ownership, operating status, and sustainability impacts. 

The Hotel Manager annually issues its sustainability report, 
which reviews their current systems and performance and 
sets out their environmental and social objectives for the 
coming years.

SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH
At The Trust and the Company, together with the Hotel 
Manager (Langham Hospitality Group LHG), we are 
committed to being a sustainable company. Sustainability 
is embedded in our hotel operations by engaging our major 
stakeholders through CONNECT, the LHG corporate social 
responsibility programme. This report shares CONNECT 
activities and developments in four priorities areas; 
Environment, Community, Colleagues, and Governance.

Environment
•  Energy and water 

   conservation
•  Waste management

•  Climate Change

Colleagues
•  Safety, Health and Wellness

•  Equal opportunities
& diversity

•  Advancement in hotel careers

Community
•  Regional Partnerships

•  Local volunteerism
•  Environment, Children, Art

Governance
•  Business ethics
•  Internal control
•  Accountability

The Board of Directors oversees the broader sustainability 
trends and is responsible for The Trust and the Company’s 
ESG strategy and reporting. They delegate day-to-
day responsibility for all sustainability-related matters, 

including identifying, evaluating and managing ESG related 
risks to the Hotels and Hotel Manager, which regularly 
reports the progress to the Board.
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In recent years, we observed two things – the world (and 
the climate crisis) is developing much more rapidly, and 
our colleagues are prepared to challenge themselves 
in this evolving world. Therefore, the Hotel Manager 
conducted an extensive review of our CONNECT Strategy 
to meet the current and future stakeholders’ expectations. 
The full materiality assessment was completed, including 
a benchmarking exercise, an internal opinion survey, and 
two strategy review workshops with internal and external 
stakeholders.

The below diagram highlights our 2030 sustainability vision 
and strategy. For details of the materiality assessment, the 
long-term sustainability strategy and goals, please refer 
to the Hotel Manager’s Sustainability Report 2019. In the 
following years, we will report on our progress in delivering 
our CONNECT vision and goals.
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SUSTAINABILITY-LINKED LOAN
The Trust and the Company signed a 4-year sustainability-
linked loan facility totalling HK$7.5 billion with 11 banks 
in Britain, China, Hong Kong, Japan and Singapore in 
2019. The syndicated sustainability-linked loan is the 
first raised by a listed company in the Asian hospitality 
sector. We are eligible for interest rate reductions when 

specific sustainability objectives have been met. On 
contrary, the initial interest margin will be increased if 
we underperform. This sustainability-linked loan facility 
reflects our commitment to creating a positive change 
for the environment and holding ourselves financially 
accountable for the impact on the environment.

The table below summarises the sustainability performance for 2019 and 2020.

Sustainability objectives

Baseline 
performance 

2018

Effect on Initial interest margin Our performance (x)

Positive Passive Negative 2020(b) 2019(c)

Energy consumption(a) 
(MJ per sq meter)

1,802 x < 1,773 1,773 ≤ x ≤ 2,050 x > 2,050 1,318 1,717

Waste sent to landfill(a) 
(Liters/Guest Night)

3.5 x < 3.25 3.25 ≤ x ≤ 7.00 x > 7.00 4.2 2.6

EarthCheck  
achievement Level

The Langham 
 – Gold

All Platinum
Either one cannot 
achieve Platinum

Either one does 
not have rating

The Langham  
– Platinum

The Langham  
– Gold

Cordis 
 – Gold

Cordis  
– Platinum

Cordis  
– Platinum

(a)	 Average performance for The Langham and Cordis in Hong Kong
(b)	 Subject to the issue of EarthCheck report at the second half of 2021
(c)	 Based on EarthCheck report

During the year, we have reduced our initial interest 
margin by 0.02% per annum upon achieving two 
sustainability objectives out of three for 2019. Based on 

the initial performance in 2020, we again achieved two 
sustainability objectives and we expect the adjusted 
interest margin to remain unchanged in 2021/22.
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ENVIRONMENT
The Hotel Manager has implemented a systematic 
approach to managing environmental issues at the hotels 
through a partnership with EarthCheck. EarthCheck is 
the leading international sustainability benchmarking and 
certification service for the travel and tourism industry. The 
EarthCheck standards align with global frameworks such 
as the UN Sustainable Development Goals (UNSDGs), the 
IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, 
International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO), Global 
Reporting Initiatives (GRI) and industry practices such 
as the Global Sustainable Tourism Criteria (GSTC). The 
EarthCheck standards stipulated requirements that cover 
the following key performance areas of hotel operations:

•	 greenhouse gas emissions;

•	 energy efficiency, conservation and management;

•	 management of freshwater and stormwater resources,

•	 ecosystem conservation and management;

•	 management of social and cultural issues;

•	 land-use planning and management;

•	 air quality and noise control;

•	 wastewater management;

•	 solid waste management; and

•	 environmentally harmful substances.

By embracing the EarthCheck requirements in the hotels’ 
operations, environmental policies were developed to 
identify the material issues related to our hotel operations. 
Each hotel conducts an environmental risk assessment to 
investigate and assess all known and potential risks that 
may cause ecological and social harm. Independent third-
party verification by EarthCheck ensures our compliance 
with the relevant legislation and continuous improvement 
in our environmental and social performance, including 
energy and water consumption, carbon emission, and 
waste management on an annual basis.

EarthCheck certification is a key performance indicator for 
LHG hotels. In 2020, all three hotels achieved EarthCheck 
Platinum Certification as their sustainability efforts have 
been recognised for at least ten years. Besides, Eaton HK 
achieved the Gold Rating of LEED v4 Interior Design and 
Construction Hospitality Certification by the US Green 
Building Council. Cordis, Hong Kong is accredited with an 
ISO 14001:2015 certification.

The Hotels also participated in various programmes and 
charters by the Environment Bureau and Environmental 
Protection Department of HKSAR Government, including 
the following:

•	 Foodwise Charter

•	 Energy Saving Charter

•	 Charter on External Lighting

Climate Change and Energy
Climate crisis is the biggest global challenge in the current 
century. If an average global temperature increase of more 
than 2 °C from pre-industrial levels, we will encounter 
catastrophic consequences for human beings and nature. 
Scientists have warned us that we have already reached 
1°C and do not have much time to make it to the tipping 
point. Therefore, the Hotel Manager is setting targets to 
minimise our direct and indirect carbon emissions, in line 
with the Paris Agreement to help our planet stay below the 
1.5 °C global warming limit.
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The use of power in the hotel operation is one of our 
most significant environmental aspects and is the largest 
contributor to greenhouse gas emissions. We have been 
focusing on operating our hotels with maximising energy 
efficiency to minimise our greenhouse gas emission. 
From time to time, our Engineers identify energy-saving 
opportunities through optimising the operational efficiency 
of plant and equipment, and upgrading systems when 
there is a major refurbishment. In 2020, The Langham 
commenced the feasibility study of the multi-million 
dollars chiller plant replacement and noise enhancement 
works. This project aims to adopt the best applicable 
technology that can ensure our guest’s thermal comfort 
and most energy-efficient air conditioning system for our 
hotel. Cordis, Hong Kong, also completed the Building 
Management System (BMS) upgrade to manage the chiller 
plant more efficiently.

The Hotel Manager also believes that our influence on 
our stakeholders, especially our guests and supply chain, 
can boost the climate action altogether. We are keen to 
working with different partners to help spread the low-
carbon travel messages and most importantly, turn these 
messages into action. In 2020, Eaton HK presented the 
striking photography of Uruguayan photographer, Pablo 
Albarenga on their Nathan Road billboard which is used 
to share our values with the HK community to create a 
dialogue social and environmental issues. The image of a 
standing tree taken at dawn in a partially-deforested area 
in the Brazilian Amazon rainforest conjures many thoughts 
and emotions.

Performance on Energy Consumption and 
GHG Emission
Total electricity consumption of the Hotels was 124,300 GJ 
in 2020 representing a 15% decrease compared to 2019 
(146,484 GJ). Total gas/fuel consumption of the Hotels in 
2020 was 34,457 GJ, a decrease of 22% compared to 2019 
(44,078 GJ). Total Greenhouse Gas emission (Scope 1 and 
Scope 2) of the Hotels in 2020 was 19,082 tonnes CO2-
eq, a decrease of 16% compared to 2019 (22,785 tonnes 
CO2-eq). The decrease in consumption is mainly due to 
the social distancing restriction in restaurants and lower 
occupancy in the hospitality sector in Hong Kong.

Waste and Water
Waste generation is unavoidable in all business operations. 
The Hotels have been implementing waste minimisation 
initiatives including recycling/reusing (paper, metal, 
plastics, cardboard, glass bottles, cooking oil, printer 
cartridges, wet amenities, soap, wine corks), food waste 
donation and composting, and donated items (furniture, 
fabric items, electronic equipment). In 2020, Cordis, Hong 
Kong partnered with ecoSPIRITS to change six spirits into 
zero waste alcohol packing. The ecoTOTE, the reusable 
vessel, carries 4.5 litres of spirit, filled up at ecoPLANT 
where different spirits from distilleries with bulk containers 
are stored. This solution can reduce the carbon footprint 
of the spirit’s life cycle by up to 80% and eliminates 95% of 
cardboard and glass waste.
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Eaton HK created a custom-crafted bamboo steamer for 
mooncake. Referencing Hong Kong’s traditional yum cha 
and made from environmentally friendly bamboo, reducing 
waste and for you to use, reuse and enjoy.

The Hotels also designed and built sustainable Christmas 
trees made of recycled and waste materials collected 
from the hotels to engage our colleagues and guests in 
our commitment to sustainability. The Langham created 
a two-meter-tall tree with plastic cloth hangers zip-tied 
and mounted onto a reusable steel frame. The tree could 
be dismantled, and the hangers can be used internally 
again. Cordis utilised various re-purposed materials such 
as used headboards, recycled wine corks, and beer bottles 
to decorate the tree. The Christmas wreath was decorated 
with many used photo shoot props including the dried 
lemon slices, cinnamons, wood pieces and pinecones.

The Hotels are responsible for reducing the water footprint 
by installing water-efficient equipment and raising staff 
awareness on water conservation. In 2019, Cordis, Hong 
Kong replaced a more water and energy-efficient pot 
washer in the Western kitchen. We continue to actively 
seek energy and water-saving initiatives to ensure an even 
more efficient operation.

Performance on Water Consumption and Waste 
Disposal
Total water consumption was 311,444 CuM, representing 
a 30% decrease compared to 2019 (445,347 CuM). The 
decrease in consumption is mainly due to the social 
distancing restriction in restaurants and lower occupancy 
in the hospitality sector in Hong Kong. In 2020, the total 
waste disposed of at landfill was 1,046 tonne.

Engagement – Colleagues and Guests
The Hotels actively engaged with colleagues, guests and 
suppliers who are our key stakeholders to drive continuous 
improvement in the sustainability journey. “Loving Earth 
Month” is the featured CONNECT environment event 
introduced in 2015. Throughout the month, the Hotels 
offered meatless dishes at restaurants and colleague 
cafeterias to promote a healthy and sustainable diet. 
Colleagues were also encouraged to walk more and 
use less transportation with the Hotels’ 10,000 steps 
challenge.

This year, The Langham offered our guests the “Green 
Peace” cocktail and veggie snacks during the Earth Hour 
and partnered with Green Commons to promote vegan 
foods serving educational promotion in staff canteen 
during the Loving Earth Month. Ming Court at Cordis joined 
hands with Green Monday presenting the limited Vegan 

Sustainable Christmas trees created by the Hotels
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Dim Sum Making Class during the Earth Month. Guests 
would learn the making of four vegan dim sums using 
plant-based meats, including Vegan OmniPork Bun.

The Hotels promote dishes with sustainable seafood and 
plant-based alternative ingredients to invite our guests 
to join our sustainability journey. Bostonian Seafood 
& Grill at The Langham, Hong Kong offers an excellent 
selection of sustainable seafood. Besides, the Michelin-
starred Cantonese restaurant Ming Court continued the 
partnership with Green Monday to unveil a series of plant-
based dishes using OmnioPork Strip.

Alibi at Cordis is one of the founding members of Food 
Made Good Hong Kong, a chapter of the UK’s Sustainable 

Restaurant Association, dedicated to making every meal 
served out of home as sustainable as possible. Alibi was 
selected as the finalist of the Food Made Good Hong Kong 
Award 2020 – Environment Award.
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COMMUNITY
Serving the community is an integral part of our CONNECT 
culture to drive social bonding internally and stimulate 
interaction with the local community. The Hotel Manager’s 
Community Engagement Policy offers guidance on how 
to contribute to local communities, not merely through 
philanthropy, but also in other ways, including donations 
and visits, free or in-kind sponsorships and employee 
volunteering. Art, Children, Environment and Local 
Issues are the key themes of our employee volunteering 
programmes. This year, the Hotels and the Hotel Manager 
gather our effort to support those people and families 
affected by the pandemic of COVID-19 in Hong Kong.

The following sections highlight some of the major 
community engagement activities in 2020:

Eaton HK launched “Pay It Forward” meal program 
to provide free meals to underprivileged groups. We 
encourage our guests to purchase an additional meal at 
our hotel and ask to donate the meal credit to someone 
in need. For the first three months, over 2,300 meals were 
donated, and 3,100 hot meals were redeemed through 
this campaign. With this campaign, Eaton HK received 
the 2020 HK Tatler Impact Award. Eaton HK Ballroom also 
welcomed those in need of a place to enjoy their meal in a 
safe environment during the restaurant ban in mid-2020.

Cordis, Hong Kong collaborated with Yau Ma Tei Kei To 
Church to donate meal boxes to the needy nearby. Our 
chefs prepared 80 meal boxes in Chinese and Western-
style every Wednesday. Volunteers from Yau Ma Tei Kei 
To Church helped distribute the meal boxes in Yau Tsim 
Mong area to share the warmth and delicious food with the 
community under the pandemic situation.

Eaton HK has worked with Sister Bento (A local social 
enterprise) to collectively launch an initiative for monthly 
distribution of relief items to people in need. Major 
recipient of the items are single mothers of low-income 
groups and children predominantly live in “Coffin Homes” 
in Jordan and Sham Shui Po areas who are also affected by 
on-going pandemic and in need of adequate nutrition and 
care.
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Building strategic partnerships for community investment 
enables us to witness and measure our lasting impacts 
on the local community. The Langham, Hong Kong has 
been supporting Heep Hong Society for years. Heep 
Hong implements different service schemes to help the 
youth in need, including career planning, vocational skills 
assessment, training and work placements to increase 
their employment opportunities and promote their 
developmental needs. In 2020, The Langham invited the 
talented youth from Heep Hong to specially design The 
Langham Christmas Candyland tote bag. All proceeds 
would be donated to benefit children and youth with 
special educational needs (SEN) that Heep Hong Society 
supports.

We raised our colleagues’ 
awareness of protecting 
t h e  e n v i r o n m e n t  a n d 
promot ing  the  beauty 
of nature. In addition to 
o u r  o n - g o i n g  s u p p o r t 
for global environmental 
events such as Earth Hour 
and Earth Day, the Hotels 
also organised different 

volunteer activities for green groups such as meal box 
preparation at Food Angel and beach clean-up.

Eaton has partnered with Hong Kong Lutheran Social 
Service – Lutheran Church-Hong Kong Synod this year 
to support people with disabilities. One of the Hong 
Kong Lutheran Social Service Organization services is to 
provide technical skills training to their members for future 
employment. By providing job opportunities for those 
members in the back of house area, e.g. housekeeping and 
stewarding, Eaton supports the cause of this meaningful 
program and further assists the people with disabilities in 
blending in with the society.

The Langham, Hong Kong launched In The Pink afternoon 
tea to support Breast Cancer Awareness Month for the 
third consecutive year, which benefits the Hong Kong 
Breast Cancer Foundation. As an official Pink Partner of 
the Foundation, we donate HK$10 for every afternoon tea 
set sold during the promotional period to the Hong Kong 
Breast Cancer Foundation, to support their dedicated 
effort to mitigate the threat of breast cancer the local 
community.
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Performance on Community Investment
In 2020, our colleagues delivered over 603 hours of support to charitable and other social initiatives. The Hotel Manager 
and the Hotels have received accreditation for the past decade and are recognised as Caring Companies.

COLLEAGUES
The Hotel Manager and the Hotels are committed to fostering an engaging and respectful work environment for our 
colleagues to unleash their full potential and inspire them to become our true ambassadors. Our commitment is 
supported by the following systems that set out the guiding principles, review our performance, promote an open 
dialogue culture, grow our talents and put them in the right direction to advance their careers.

•	 Human Resources policies stipulate a global framework for an ethical workforce and colleague engagement;

•	 Training programmes enable our colleagues to deliver their job and embrace the company culture;

•	 A workplace health and safety management system ensures the safety of our colleagues;

•	 Internal communication channels connect our colleagues at different levels and across functions to strengthen 
teamwork;

•	 Performance appraisals review performance of individual colleagues to set clear goals aligned with their hotel’s 
objectives;

•	 A KPI system monitors the effectiveness of our systems in achieving our commitments.
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Child labour and forced labour across our operation and 
supply chain are strictly prohibited. Human Resources 
Division would monitor the employment practices and 
investigate if there is any violation in the operations. 
The Hotel Manager was recognised by the Employees 
Retraining Board (ERB) as Super Manpower Developer 
(MD), which means an organisation demonstrates 
outstanding performance in manpower training and 
development for ten consecutive years. In 2020, the Hotels 
also participated in the Talent-Wise Employment Charter 
and Inclusive Organisations Recognition Scheme by the 
Labour and Welfare Bureau.

As of 31 December 2020, the number of employees in 
the Hotels decreased slightly to 1,163 (1,369). Our overall 
turnover rate in 2020 was 27% (27% male and 28% female) 
and employees under 30 is the demographic with the 
highest turnover rate of 46% (20% for 30-49 years old, 
24% for 50 years old or above). The following charts show 
the composition of employees of the Hotels as of 31 
December 2020:

Colleague Wellness
The health, safety and wellness of our colleagues remain 
a top priority. The Hotels maintain their health and safety 
systems with policies, committees, training and incident 
reporting. These systems were overseen by the senior 
management, human resources directors and security 
departments. The effectiveness of the system is monitored 
in conjunction with the Key Performance Indicators (KPI) 
system so that our improvement teams can analyse 
the data, find the root of the problems, implement 
improvement action plans and follow up on the results.

Health and wellness are a priority for all of us during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. We measured every colleague’s body 
temperature upon arrival of staff entrance and rearranged 
the staff canteen’s seating to keep everyone dining in a 
safe distance. Also, we ensured sufficient supply of the 
necessary personal protective equipment such as medical 
masks and hand sanitisers. The Hotel Manager organised 
the global fitness challenge among our colleagues to 
spread positivity. Eaton HK arranged the sound bath 
meditation for their colleagues to balance and maintain a 
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positive mind. We also offered flexible working hours to 
our Corporate Office and back of house team members to 
minimise the risk of travelling during peak hours.

The Hotels organise the Colleague Wellness Week every 
year, as part of the global awareness programme initiated 
by the Hotel Manager. A week was designated for activities 
that increase colleagues’ awareness of their wellbeing and 
support them in developing a healthy lifestyle. Wellness 
promotion programmes included; the healthy menu at 
staff cafeteria, vegetarian cooking class, health test, Lion 
Rock hiking, Tai Chi and yoga classes.

Performance on Colleagues’ Health and Safety
In 2020, the health and safety-related key performance 
indicators (KPIs) were slightly increased, compared to 
the previous year due to an increase in sprain, struck 
and contusion cases. The Hotels proactively reinforced 
the colleagues’ awareness of these topics during safety 
briefings and reviewed the overall training and awareness 
programme. There were no deaths due to work activities. 
The Hotels will continue to monitor the performance and 
enhance staff awareness in workplace health and safety.

KPI 2019 2020

Lost Time Injury Frequency  
Rate (LTIFR)1 21 26

Incident Rate2 6.3 8.1

1.	 LTIFR is the number of reported lost-time accidents for every  
1 million working hours.

2.	 Incident rate is the number of reported accidents per 100 employees.
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Employee Learning and Development
The Hotel  Manager is  committed to creat ing an 
environment for our colleagues to achieve their career 
aspiration and at the same time, nurture a team of 
competent and motivated colleagues. The fundamental 
learning and development system comprises the 
First60 Certification programme, Langham Curriculum 
Certification (LCC), and the Advanced Programme for 
Executives (APEX). To follow the social-distancing rule due 
to the pandemic of COVID-19, the Hotel Manager took the 
opportunity to engage our colleagues virtually with various 
online learning programmes. These programmes help our 
colleagues gain new skills and experiences to help them in 
their current and future jobs.

The Hotels took the necessary precautionary actions 
to ensure our colleagues and guest health and safety 
during the pandemic outbreak. We focus on the COVID-19 
standard operating procedures (SOPs) training to ensure 
our colleagues receiving the most updated, useful 
information and handling skills upon the COVID-19 
situation. The Housekeeping team of Cordis Hong Kong 
created a SOP video to show their team members how 
to wear PPE and clean the room properly during the 
outbreak.

Eaton HK is committed to creating an environment for 
colleagues to achieve their career aspiration and at the 
same time, nurture a team of competent and motivated 

colleagues. We designed the 18 months MIT training 
programme and First90 days onboarding programmes. 
The MIT programme provides a career development 
opportunity to selected potential talent, and the First90 
days’ onboarding programme is to ensure the new joiner 
are settling well. Each of the MIT has also been assigned 
with projects of various topics to provide a fresh insight for 
the continuous growth of the Eaton brand.

Performance on Employee Learning and 
Development
The Hotels achieved an average of 16 training hours per 
colleague (26 in 2019) and 100% of colleagues received 
training in 2020. The average training hour for Executive 
Committee and Head of Department was 9.8, and the 
average training hour for Manager, Supervisor and General 
Colleague was 16 in 2020. There is a decrease in the 
training hours per employee compared to the previous 
reporting year due to the introduction of more flexible 
learning approach to reinforce social distancing rule in the 
back of house area.
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GOVERNANCE AND ETHICAL 
BUSINESS
Governance in the Hotel Manager’s CONNECT programme 
is about how we run our business and do the right thing. 
We are accountable and act responsibly at all times on 
behalf of our stakeholders – from our guests, partners, 
suppliers and colleagues, to governments, regulators 
and the local community. We value the trust of our 
stakeholders in pursuit of expanding our business and 
operations sustainably. To maintain trust, we must ensure 
we always conduct our business ethically and responsibly.

Ethical Standards
The Hotel Manager pledges to adhere to good corporate 
governance and business integrity in our business 
activities. The Board from time to time monitors and 
reviews the Group’s corporate governance practices 
according to the regulatory requirements and the 
needs to underpin the engrained value of integrity 
and accountability. We have clearly articulated the 
principles in our Code of Conduct which explains 
the basic standards of behaviour expected of our 
colleagues in line with their official duties. The Code of 
Conduct guides the acceptance, soliciting or offering of 
advantages, declaration of conflicts of interest, fraud and 
bribery, gambling, fair dealing, and handling confidential 
information.

All new colleagues receive the Code during the induction 
training at the First60 Certification programme. Depending 
on each colleague’s job responsibilities, they will also 
receive regular communication, refresher training, and 
team briefings on various aspects of our compliance 
programme. All colleagues are also aware that they have a 
duty to report any breaches of our Code of Conduct.

The Code out l ines the Group’s expectat ions on 
colleagues regarding conflicts of interest and whistle-
blowing procedure. Any colleagues who have engaged or 
considered engaging in activities that might have conflict 
with the Group’s interests are required to make full 
disclosure. During the year, we did not receive any non-
compliance or fines in this regard.

For more information on our corporate governance 
performance, please refer to the separate Corporate 
Governance Report contained in this Annual Report.

Data Protection
In 2020, the Hotel Manager engaged an external 
consultancy firm to support the establishment and rollout 
of a new data protection process standard based on 
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), for all of the 
hotels. In the technology aspect, to mitigate the security 
risk resulting from the increased demand for remote 
access, additional measures had been put in place to 
strengthen user authentication to systems and network 
security. Furthermore, phishing exercises and a crisis 
simulation had been performed to raise the information 
security awareness of all colleagues and corporate 
management team.
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Responsible Supply Chain
Since 2013, the Hotel Manager and the Hotels introduced 
sustainable supply chain management in phases following 
our parent company’s initiative. They focused on raising 
our significant suppliers’ corporate social responsibility 
awareness by communicating with them about our 
Supplier Code of Conduct. Major suppliers are also 
required to fill in the checklist based on the Supplier Code 
of Conduct every three years to keep us informed of their 
sustainability performance status. The Hotel Manager 
also developed the Responsible Purchasing Policy, which 
manages most strategic environmental and social issues in 
our supply chain.

Service Quality Standard
The Hotels and the Hotel Manager are committed to 
increasing guest loyalty by continuously improving and 
delivering excellent services. They aim to anticipate 
even the guests’ unspoken needs and provide genuine 
services in a timely and reliable manner. Colleagues 
are encouraged to take ownership of guest satisfaction, 
innovation, and excellence.

The Hotel Manager implements Mystery Shopper 
Programme and Online Guest Satisfaction Survey to help 
them understand what their guests are experiencing, 
discover which col league’s behaviour should be 
acknowledged or rewarded, and find out where the sales 
or customer service journey could be improved.

We also adopt a Total Quality Management approach to 
engage every colleague in pursuit of excellence. In the 
spirit of continuous improvement through innovation, the 
Hotel Manager reviews the current quality systems and 
programmes to simplify the processes. The new approach 
enables them to build a more resilient and more agile 
team.

Building the Culture
The Hotel Manager continued its Risk Preparedness Video 
Competition as part of the annual Global CONNECT Event. 
The competition aims at developing the culture on risk 
preparedness in hotels for our colleagues and relevant 
stakeholders. Each hotel created fun videos to promote 
how colleagues can prepare and manage to minimise 
health and hygiene risks during the COVID-19 pandemic.
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ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

Aspect KPI Content Report Page/
Comment

A. Environmental
A1 Emissions A1 General disclosure 30

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data 31
A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity 31
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity Not applicable due 

to business nature
A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity 32
A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results 

achieved
30-32

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes 
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved

31-32

A2 General disclosure 30
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total 

and intensity
31

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity 32
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results 

achieved
30-31

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and 
results achieved

31-32

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and 
with reference to per unit produced

Not applicable due 
to business nature

A3 The Environment and 
Natural Resources

A3 General disclosure 30

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 
environment and natural resources and the actions taken 
to manage them

30

A4 Climate Change A4.1 General disclosure 30-31
A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which 

have impacted, and those which may impact, the issue, 
and the actions taken to manage them

30-31

B1 Employment B1 General disclosure 36-37
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group 

and geographical region
37

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 
geographical region

37

B2 Health and safety B2 General disclosure 37-38
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities 38
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury 38
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored
37-38
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Aspect KPI Content Report Page/
Comment

B3 Development and 
training

B3 General disclosure 39

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and 
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle 
management).

39

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by 
gender and employee category.

39

B4 Labour standard B4 General disclosure 36-37
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices 

to avoid child and forced labour
36-37, 40

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices 
when discovered

36-37, 40

B5 Supply chain management B5 General disclosure 41
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. To be reported in 

2021.
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 

number of suppliers where the practices are being 
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored

41

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are 
implemented and monitored

41

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, 
and how they are implemented and monitored

41

B6 Product responsibility B6 General disclosure 40
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to 

recalls for safety and health reasons.
Not applicable due 
to business nature

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints 
received and how they are dealt with

No major 
complaints 
received

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and 
protecting intellectual property rights.

Not applicable due 
to business nature

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 
procedures

41

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy 
policies, how they are implemented and monitored

40

B7 Anti-corruption B7 General disclosure 40
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 

practices brought against the issue or its employees during 
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases

Zero

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored

40

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to 
directors and staff

40

B8 Community investment B8 General disclosure 34-35
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution 34-35
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area 34-35



L A N G H A M  H O S P I T A L I T Y  I N V E S T M E N T S  ◆  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0044

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Langham Hospitality Investments, LHIL Manager Limited and Langham Hospitality Investments Limited are committed to 
maintaining and developing high standards of corporate governance practices that are designed to enhance corporate 
image, create value for our Unitholders, minimize risk in fraudulent practices and address potential conflict of interest 
issues. This combined Corporate Governance Report of the Trust and the Company set out a summary of the key 
processes, systems and measures that have been used in implementing this corporate governance framework being 
adopted by the Trust, Trustee-Manager and the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

STRUCTURE OF THE TRUST GROUP
The chart below illustrates a simplified version of the structure of the Trust Group:

100% Units LANGHAM HOSPITALITY

INVESTMENTS

TRUSTEE-MANAGER

Benecial Interest 
in 100% of 
Ordinary Shares

100% of 
Preference 

Shares

Distribute Trust 
Distributable 
Income

Distribute Group 
Distributable 
Income

Reimbursement of 
expenses

Legal Interest in 100% 
of Ordinary Shares

Provide Trust 
administration services

Holders of SSUs

SHARE STAPLED

UNITS
100% 100% HOTEL COMPANIES

MASTER LESSEE

COMPANY

Pay rents comprising Base 
Rent and Variable Rent

Lease Hotels pursuant to the 
Master Lease Agreements

Pay Hotel 
Management Fees 
and Trademark 
Licence Fees

Provide hotel management services pursuant to the 
Hotel Management Agreements

Licence Langham Brands 
pursuant to the Trademark 

Licence Agreements

Pay Global 
Marketing Fees

Provide global marketing 
services pursuant  to 

the Centralised Services 
and Marketing 

Agreements

HOTEL MANAGER
LANGHAM HOTELS

SERVICES LIMITED

HOTELS
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100% Units LANGHAM HOSPITALITY

INVESTMENTS

TRUSTEE-MANAGER

Benecial Interest 
in 100% of 
Ordinary Shares

100% of 
Preference 

Shares

Distribute Trust 
Distributable 
Income

Distribute Group 
Distributable 
Income
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Legal Interest in 100% 
of Ordinary Shares

Provide Trust 
administration services

Holders of SSUs

SHARE STAPLED

UNITS
100% 100% HOTEL COMPANIES

MASTER LESSEE

COMPANY

Pay rents comprising Base 
Rent and Variable Rent

Lease Hotels pursuant to the 
Master Lease Agreements

Pay Hotel 
Management Fees 
and Trademark 
Licence Fees

Provide hotel management services pursuant to the 
Hotel Management Agreements

Licence Langham Brands 
pursuant to the Trademark 

Licence Agreements

Pay Global 
Marketing Fees

Provide global marketing 
services pursuant  to 

the Centralised Services 
and Marketing 

Agreements

HOTEL MANAGER
LANGHAM HOTELS

SERVICES LIMITED

HOTELS

The major activities during the year 2020 are set out below:

•	 Change in Board Composition
During the year, Mr. Lo Chun Lai, Andrew was 
appointed as a Non-executive Director of both the 
Trustee-Manager and the Company with effect from 
27 October 2020. In accordance with the Trust Deed 
and the Company’s Articles, Mr. Andrew Lo shall 
hold office until the forthcoming 2021 AGM of the 
Trust Group and being eligible for re-election by the 
Holders of Share Stapled Units.

•	 Rights Issue and Change in Board Lot Size
On 16 July 2020, the Trust and the Company issued 
an announcement in respect of a proposed rights 
issue (the “Rights Issue”) to raise up to approximately 
HK$1,019 million (before deducting professional fees 
and other related expenses) on the basis of one Rights 
Share Stapled Unit for every two Share Stapled Units 
at the subscription price of HK$0.95 per Rights Share 
Stapled Unit. The Prospectus relating to the Rights 
Issue was published on 21 August 2020. The Rights 
Issue became unconditional on 9 September 2020.  
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A total of 1,072,743,916 Share Stapled Units were 
allotted and issued on 14 September 2020 pursuant to 
the Rights issue.

Subsequent to the completion of the Rights Issue, 
the board lot size for trading of the Share Stapled 
Units on the Stock Exchange has been changed from 
500 Share Stapled Units to 2,000 Share Stapled Units 
with effect from 9:00 a.m. on Tuesday, 15 September 
2020.

•	 General Mandate to Issue Share Stapled Units 
of the Trust and the Company
General mandate to allot, issue and deal with no more 
than 20% of the issued Share Stapled Units of the 
Trust and the Company was granted by the Holders of 
Share Stapled Units at the AGM of the Trust and the 
Company held on 12 May 2020. The mandate shall 
only remain in effect until the conclusion of the next 
AGM, or the expiration of the period within which such 
AGM is required to be held, or until revoked, renewed 
or varied by an ordinary resolution of Holders of Share 
Stapled Units, whichever occurs first.

Langham Hospitality Investments is constituted by laws of 
Hong Kong governing the Trust Deed entered into between 
the Trustee-Manager and the Company as a fixed single 
investment trust, meaning that the Trust may only invest in 
the securities and other interests in a single entity, being 
the Company.

The Trustee-Manager is a company incorporated in Hong 
Kong with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Great Eagle. In its capacity as trustee-
manager of the Trust, the Trustee-Manager has a limited 
role only in the administration of the Trust and is not 
involved in the management of the operations of the 
Group.

The Company is a company incorporated in the Cayman 
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability. It is 
the holding company of the hospitality business carried on 
by the Group and currently owns and controls the Hotels 
indirectly through its subsidiaries.

Capital Structure of the Trust and the Company
Share Stapled Units are jointly issued by the Trust and 
the Company and each Share Stapled Unit is comprised 
of the following three components which, subject to 
the provisions in the Trust Deed, can only be dealt with 
together and cannot be traded individually:

(a)	 a unit in the Trust;

(b)	 a beneficial interest in a specifically identified 
Ordinary Share in the Company held by the Trustee- 
Manager, which is “linked” to the unit in the Trust; 
and

(c)	 a specifically identified Preference Share in the 
Company which is “stapled” to the unit in the Trust.

As the components of the Share Stapled Units, all of the 
units in the Trust, the Ordinary Shares and the Preference 
Shares of the Company in issue are listed on the Stock 
Exchange. However, for so long as the Share Stapled Units 
are listed on the Stock Exchange, trading on the Stock 
Exchange will only take place in the form of Share Stapled 
Units and there is only a single price quotation on the Stock 
Exchange for a Share Stapled Unit. No price is quoted for 
the individual components of a Share Stapled Unit.
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Business Relationship with Great Eagle
Apart from the parent-subsidiary relationship, the Trust 
Group maintains close business ties with the Great 
Eagle Group, which are governed by various formal 
agreements being entered into between the two groups 
as summarized in the chart on pages 44 to 45. These 
contractual arrangements also constitute continuing 
connected transactions of the Trust and the Company 
under the Listing Rules. Details of the transactions which 
are subject to disclosure and reporting requirements are 
provided in the Report of the Directors contained in this 
Annual Report on pages 83 to 89.

From the revenue perspective, each of the Hotels 
(excluding certain retail shops at Eaton HK) is leased to 
the Master Lessee, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Great Eagle, pursuant to the Master Lease Agreements. In 
return, the Master Lessee pays rents, which represents the 
major source of income, to the Trust Group. Based on the 
rental review of Vigers in accordance with the provisions 
in the Master Lease Agreements, Vigers determined that 
the market rental package for the Hotels for the period 
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2023 is the same as 
the one for the previous period and comprised of (i) a Base 
Rent being fixed at HK$225 million per annum under the 
Master Lease Agreements, and (ii) a Variable Rent being 
70% to the Hotels’ aggregate Gross Operating Profit before 
deduction of the Global Marketing Fees payable by each of 
the Hotel Companies on an annual basis.

From the expense perspective, all the Hotels are 
managed by the Hotel Manager, another indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of Great Eagle, pursuant to the Hotel 
Management Agreements, and the Trust Group pays 
hotel management fees to the Hotel Manager. In addition, 
the Trust Group has entered into the Trademark Licence 
Agreements and the Centralised Services and Marketing 
Agreements in respect of each of the Hotels with the Hotel 
Manager and Langham Hotels Services Limited (an indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Great Eagle) respectively and 
thus incurs licence fee and global marketing fees when 
carrying on the hospitality business.

These business relationships and the fact that some of 
the Directors and senior management members also hold 
directorships and/or roles in the Great Eagle Group might 
give rise to potential conflicts of interests between the 
Group and the Great Eagle Group. The Trustee-Manager 
Board and the Company Board believe that the potential 
conflicts can be sufficiently reduced as follows:

•	 the Group focuses on optimizing the performance 
of the three existing hotel properties, adopting a 
growth strategy of investing in completed stand-alone 
hotels in Asia. The Great Eagle Group, on the other 
hand, focuses on further capitalizing on its resources 
and expertise in developing its hotel management 
services operations and brand building.

•	 the Group is among the major contributors to the 
performance of the Great Eagle Group, any reliance 
that the Group may have on the Great Eagle Group 
in relation to its performance and growth will be 
mutually complementary.

•	 the Great Eagle Group has granted to the Company 
a Deed of Right of First Refusal pursuant to which 
the Group will have the first right to participate and 
to acquire completed stand-alone hotels in Asia 
(excluding Australia and New Zealand) should Great 
Eagle Group wish to sell or have the opportunity to 
invest in these hotels.

•	 various corporate governance measures are 
established seeking to address any potential 
conflicts of interest thereby safeguarding the 
interests of independent Unitholders. Details of 
which are set out in the section headed “Corporate 
Governance Measures to address Potential Conflicts 
of Interest” in this Corporate Governance Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICIES 
AND PRACTICES
The Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board play 
a central support and supervisory role in the respective 
corporate governance duties of the Trust and the 
Company. The Boards are responsible for reviewing the 
overall corporate governance arrangements, approving 
governance policies and reviewing disclosures in Corporate 
Governance Report prepared on a combined basis.

Corporate Governance Practices
Taking into account the structure of the Trust Group, 
in particular the business relationship with its holding 
company, the following policies and procedures are 
established and constituted the core elements of the 
governance framework of the Trust Group:

•	 Reporting and Monitoring Policy on Connected 
Transactions

•	 Corporate Governance Measures in respect of the 
operation of the Right of First Refusal granted by 
Great Eagle

•	 Schedule of Matters Reserved for the Board

•	 Segregation of Duties between Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer

•	 Policy on the Preservation and Prevention of Misuse 
of Inside Information

•	 Unitholder Communication Policy

•	 Employee’s Code of Conduct

•	 Code of Conduct regarding Securities Transactions 
by Directors and Relevant Employees

Compliance with Corporate Governance Code
Pursuant to the Trust Deed, each of the Trustee-Manager 
and the Company must co-operate with each other to 
ensure that each party complies with the Listing Rules and 
other relevant rules and regulations.

Throughout the year under review, the Trust (via the 
Trustee-Manager) and the Company had complied with 
all applicable code provisions, and where appropriate, 
adopted some of the recommended best practices as set 
out in the Corporate Governance Code. The requirement 
to establish a Nomination Committee is not relevant to 
the Trustee-Manager because the Trust Deed requires 
that the Directors of the Trustee-Manager shall at all 
times comprise the same individuals who serve as 
Directors of the Company. The requirement to establish 
a Remuneration Committee is also not relevant to the 
Trustee-Manager as its Directors are not entitled to 
any remuneration payable by the Trust or the Trustee-
Manager, and the Trustee-Manager does not have any 
employee.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition
Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Directors of the Trustee-Manager shall at all times be the same individuals who serve as 
Directors of the Company.

The Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board 
currently comprise three Non-executive Directors, namely, 
Dr. Lo Ka Shui (Chairman), Mr. Lo Chun Him, Alexander and 
Mr. Lo Chun Lai, Andrew (appointed on 27 October 2020); 
one Executive Director, namely, Mr. Brett Stephen Butcher 
(Chief Executive Officer); and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely, Professor Chan Ka Keung, 
Ceajer, Professor Lin Syaru, Shirley and Mr. Wong Kwai 
Lam.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Trustee-
Manager and the Company are set out in this Annual 
Report on pages 23 to 25.

Dr. Lo Ka Shui, being the Non-executive Chairman of the 
Trustee-Manager and the Company and also a substantial 
shareholder, the Chairman and Managing Director of 
Great Eagle, the holding company of the Trust Group, is 
the father of Mr. Lo Chun Him, Alexander and uncle of 
Mr. Lo Chun Lai, Andrew. Saved as disclosed above, there 
are no other financial, business, family or other material 
or relevant relationships between board members.

43%

43%

14%
Non-executive 

Director
Executive 
Director

Independent 
Non-executive 
Director
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Set out below is a summary of expertise and responsibilities of each Board member:

Expertise Responsibilities

Non-executive Directors

LO Ka Shui  
(Chairman)

Property and hotel development and 
investment both in Hong Kong and 
overseas

Overseeing the operations and affairs 
of the Board’s effectiveness and 
the relationships among the Board, 
management and stakeholders; leading 
the Board in formulating the corporate 
and financial strategy in the best interest 
of the Group by taking into account, 
among other things, the opportunities 
and risks of the business of the Group; 
enhancing further synergies between 
the Group and Great Eagle; and for 
the overall supervision of the policies 
governing the conduct of the Group’s 
business

LO Chun Him, Alexander Property development, financial 
investments, business and project 
development

Formulation of strategic directions and 
high level oversight of the financial 
management and operations of the 
Group

LO Chun Lai, Andrew Business planning, financial stewardship 
and asset management

Formulation of strategic directions and 
high level oversight of the financial 
management and operations of the 
Group

Executive Director

Brett Stephen BUTCHER  
(Chief Executive Officer)

Hotel business experience in both hotel 
operations and sales and marketing in 
Asia, the Pacific and North America

Responsible for all day-to-day 
management decisions and for leading 
the development and implementing 
the long and short term strategy 
and plans; identifying potential risks 
and opportunities of the Group and 
implementing appropriate policies; 
developing procedures designed to 
ensure compliance with the overall 
risk management policies; acting as a 
direct liaison between the Board and 
management and communicating to the 
Board on behalf of management
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Expertise Responsibilities

Independent  
Non-executive Directors

CHAN Ka Keung, Ceajer Specialised in assets pricing,  
evaluation of trading strategies  
and market efficiency

Chairing the Remuneration Committee; 
scrutinizing and monitoring the Group’s 
performance; giving independent 
judgment, strategic advice and guidance 
on the business and operations; and 
reviewing the financial control and 
systems of risk management and 
compliance

LIN Syaru, Shirley International affairs and global  
investment

Chairing the Nomination Committee; 
scrutinizing and monitoring the Group’s 
performance; giving independent 
judgment, strategic advice and guidance 
on the business and operations; and 
reviewing the financial control and 
systems of risk management and 
compliance

WONG Kwai Lam Commercial and investment  
banking

Chairing the Audit Committee; 
scrutinizing and monitoring the Group’s 
performance; giving independent 
judgment, strategic advice and guidance 
on the business and operations; and 
reviewing the financial control and 
systems of risk management and 
compliance

The Boards recognize the importance and benefits of 
diversity in the boardroom. The Nomination Committee 
of the Company is responsible for reviewing Board 
composit ion, identi fy ing candidates and making 
recommendations to the Company Board. Further details 
on the Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy are set 
out in the section headed “Nomination Committee” of this 
report.

Board Responsibilities
Notwithstanding the fact that the Directors of the Trustee-
Manager and the Directors of the Company must always 
be the same individuals pursuant to the Trust Deed as 
mentioned above, the Trustee-Manager Board and the 
Company Board have distinct responsibilities.

It is the responsibility of the Trustee-Manager Board to 
ensure that the Trustee-Manager discharges its duties 
under the Trust Deed, which include but not limited to 
administering the Trust, keeping safe custody of all the 
property and rights of any kind whatsoever that are held 
on trust for the Unitholders and exercising all due diligence 
and vigilance in protecting the rights and interests of the 
Unitholders. A Director of the Trustee-Manager shall act 
in good faith in the best interests of all Unitholders. The 
Trustee-Manager Board exercises a number of reserved 
powers such as approval of the financial statements of 
the Trust and the Trustee-Manager, approval of the annual 
and interim reports and results announcements of the 
Trust and the Company, declaration of distributions to the 
Unitholders, approval of terms of reference of the Trustee-
Manager’s Board Committee(s), and monitoring of the 
corporate governance of the Trust.
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The Company Board, on the other hand, is responsible for 
setting out the overall strategies and business objectives of 
the Group and providing oversight of their implementation 
by the management team to promote the long-term 
success of the Group and create sustainable value for the 
Unitholders. While day-to-day management and operation 
of the business activities of the Group are delegated to 
senior management who is accountable for the execution 
of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the 
Company Board, specific functions reserved to the 
Company Board are set out in the Schedule of Matters 
Reserved for the Board and where appropriate shall also 
applicable to the Trustee-Manager Board. The schedule 
is reviewed periodically to ensure that the arrangements 
remain appropriate to the Group’s needs. Provided below 
is a summary of the key reserved matters which should be 
discharged by the full Board:

•	 Approval of long-term objectives and corporate 
strategy

•	 Extension of business activities into new business of 
material nature

•	 Decision of ceasing to operate all or any material part 
of the business

•	 Approval of the annual and interim reports and results 
announcements of the Trust and the Company

•	 Declaration of distributions to the Trust

•	 Approval of any significant changes in accounting 
policies or practices

•	 Approval of substantial acquisitions or disposals

•	 Approval of connected transactions

•	 Approval of major capital expenditures

•	 Approval of terms of reference of the Company’s 
Board Committees

•	 Approval of governance policies

•	 Review of corporate governance arrangements

•	 Appointment of membership of the Company’s Board 
Committees

•	 Appointment or removal of the Company Secretary

Board Independence
Independence is a vital element for Directors fulfilling their 
duty in overseeing the management of the business and 
affairs of the Trust and the Company. The Nomination 
Committee of the Company is accountable for assessing 
whether any relationships or circumstances would likely 
interfere with the exercise of objective and unfettered 
judgment by relevant Directors. It reviews all relevant 
facts and circumstances in making an independence 
determination such as length of service, interlocking 
directorship, competing businesses and other significant 
commitment that might potentially impose an impact on 
Directors’ judgment. To be considered independent, an 
Independent Non-executive Director must also meet the 
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules.

Currently, three out of a total of seven Board members are 
Independent Non-executive Directors. Their participation 
brings independent and objective judgment on the affairs 
of the Trust Group including but not limited to issues 
relating to the Trust Group’s strategy, performance, 
conflicts of interest and management process, thus 
ensuring that the Trust Group operates in the best 
interests of Unitholders. Besides, all the Independent 
Non-executive Directors have the appropriate accounting  
or related financial management expertise for the purpose 
of Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, which can provide 
further assurance to the Unitholders that the financial 
performance of the Trust Group will be professionally 
reviewed and monitored. The Independent Non-executive 
Directors are required to declare his/her independence 
in respect of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules on an annual basis.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Dr. Lo Ka Shui and Mr. Brett Stephen Butcher hold 
the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
respectively. The Chairman is responsible to oversee 
the operations and affairs of the Board’s effectiveness 
and the relationships among the Board, management 
and stakeholders. He is accountable to the Board for 
leading the Board in formulating the corporate and 
financial strategy in the best interest of the Group by 
taking into account, among other things, the opportunities 
and risks of the business of the Group and enhancing 
further synergies between the Group and its parent 
company and for the overall supervision of the policies 
governing the conduct of the Group’s business. Chief 
Executive Officer is ultimately responsible for all day-to-
day management decisions and leading the development 
and implementing the long and short term strategies and 
plans. He is accountable for identifying potential risks and 
opportunities of the Group and implementing appropriate 
policies, and developing procedures designed to ensure 
compliance with the overall risk management policies. 
He also acts as a direct liaison between the Board and 
management and communicating to the Board on behalf 
of the management.

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors
According to the Company’s Articles, no less than one-
third of all the Directors shall retire from office by rotation 
at each AGM of the Company, provided that every Director 
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once 
every three years and any Director appointed either to fill 
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board, shall hold 
office only until the next following AGM and shall then be 
eligible for re-election. The provisions of retirement by 
rotation applicable to the Company Board are also applied, 
indirectly, to the Trustee-Manager Board in accordance 
with the Trust Deed. Each of the Non-executive Directors 
(including the Independent Non-executive Directors) has 
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company 

for an initial term of 3 years, renewable automatically for 
a further term of 3 years on the expiry of such term and 
every successive period of 3 years thereafter, subject to 
the provisions of the Company’s Articles, the Trust Deed 
and the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee of the 
Company will make recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment or re-appointment of directors.

According to the rotation record, Mr. Brett Stephen 
Butcher, Professor Chan Ka Keung, Ceajer and Professor 
Lin Syaru, Shirley will retire as the Directors at the 
forthcoming AGM and are eligible for re-election. Mr. Lo 
Chun Lai, Andrew, who was appointed as a Non-executive 
Director of the Trustee-Manager and the Company on  
27 October 2020, will hold office until the 2021 AGM and  
is eligible for re-election.

Directors’ Orientation and Continuing Development
The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and 
the Chief Executive Officer to manage and oversee the 
induction process for a new director and continuing 
development of Directors and senior management. 
An induction pack will be provided to the new Director 
to ensure he has a proper understanding of the Trust 
Group’s operations and business. To keep Directors 
abreast of their responsibilities and infuse them with new 
knowledge relevant to the Trust Group’s business and 
operating environment, information packages comprising 
the latest developments in the legislations, industry 
news and materials relevant to the roles, functions and 
duties as a director are provided to each Director by the 
Company Secretary periodically to foster the continuous 
development and ongoing updating of Board members’ 
skills and knowledge.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors 
received information packages relating to updates on the 
latest development and changes on the Listing Rules, SFO 
and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements, 
as well as various reading materials regarding corporate 
governance, internal control, risk management, directors’ 
duties and global trend. Apart from the continuous 
development program organized by the Trust Group 
internally, individual Director also attended seminars or 
workshops relevant to his/her profession and duties as 
director. All Directors had provided confirmation on their 
respective training records to the Trustee-Manager and 
the Company and each of them had participated in no less 
than 10 training hours during the year ended 31 December 
2020.

The senior management had provided confirmation on 
their respective training records to the Trustee-Manager 
and the Company and each of them had participated in 
no less than 10 training hours during the year ended 
31 December 2020.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Directors attend Board meetings and make fruitful 
contribution by sharing views, advices and experiences 
on matters material to the Trust Group’s affairs, on the 
basis of the shared goal in further enhancing the interests 
of the Trust Group and the Unitholders as a whole. Board 
meetings of the Trustee-Manager and the Company are 
held regularly at least four times a year at approximately 
quarterly intervals. Proposed dates of the regular Board 
and Board Committee meetings for each new calendar 
year are set out in a schedule and notified to all Board 
members before the beginning of the year concerned 
to facilitate their attendance. Additional meetings are 
convened as and when circumstances warrant.

In response to government’s call for maintaining 
social distancing and reducing gatherings in order to 
minimize the risk of COVID-19 spreading, Board and 
Board Committee meetings of the Trustee-Manager and 
the Company were held either by means of telephone 
conference or video conference during the year.

Board Committees
To provide effective oversight, the Trustee-Manager Board 
and the Company Board have established the following 
Board Committees with their own terms of reference that 
have been approved by the respective Boards and are 
reviewed periodically to ensure that they comply with 
the latest legal and regulatory requirements and reflect 
developments in recommended best practices. Each 
Committee reports its decisions and recommendations 
to the respective Board. The terms of reference of 
the Committees setting out in detail their duties and 
responsibilities are posted on our website and the website 
“HKEXnews”.

Audit Committee
The composition of each of the Audit Committees of the 
Trustee-Manager and of the Company comprises three 
Independent Non-executive Directors:

Chairman:
Mr. Wong Kwai Lam

Members:
Professor Chan Ka Keung, Ceajer
Professor Lin Syaru, Shirley

None of the Audit Committee members is a former or 
existing partner of the external auditor of the Trustee- 
Manager and the Company.

The Audit Committees of the Trustee-Manager and 
the Company shall, amongst other things, review the 
reports and proposals from management and make 
recommendations to the respective Boards in respect 
of the financial reporting and other statutory obligations, 
risk management and internal control systems, and audit 
process with a view to assisting the respective Boards to 
fulfill their duties in relation to risk management, internal 
control and financial management.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committees of the Trustee-Manager and the Company held two 
meetings with all members present. The following is a summary of the major work done categorized by the primary areas 
of duties of the Committee:

Primary areas of duties Summary of major work done of the Audit Committee in 2020

Disclosure of financial 
information

•	 reviewed and approved the draft 2020 Interim Report and interim results 
announcement of the Trust and the Company for the period ended 30 June 2020

•	 reviewed and approved the draft 2019 Annual Report and final results 
announcement of the Trust and the Company for the year ended 31 December 
2019

•	 reviewed the unaudited financial statements of the Trust and the Company and 
the unaudited financial statements of the Trustee-Manager for the period ended 
30 June 2020, and the audited financial statements of the Trust and the Company 
and the audited financial statements of the Trustee-Manager for the year ended 
31 December 2019, with particular regard to the qualitative aspects of the Trust 
Group’s accounting practices including the following major judgmental issue:

(1)	 the methods of valuation of the three investment properties of the Trust Group; 
and

(2)	 the valuation technique for determining the fair value of derivate financial 
instrument that is not quoted in active markets.

Risk management and 
internal control

•	 reviewed the significant findings and recommendations from the internal auditor

•	 reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of 
the Trust, the Company and the Trustee-Manager

Reports from external 
auditor

•	 considered the reports from Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu on interim review of the 
financial information and annual audit of the financial statements of the Trust and 
the Company and of the Trustee-Manager

Re-appointment of  
external auditor

•	 reviewed and considered the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the 
external auditor and approved its remuneration

Connected transaction •	 reviewed and monitored connected transactions and continuing connected 
transactions through half-yearly reports submitted by management to ensure 
compliance with the terms of the waivers granted by the Stock Exchange and all 
other applicable rules and regulations

Legal and regulatory 
compliance

•	 reviewed the legal and regulatory, and governance and compliance issues 
including but not limited to compliance with Listing Rules, the Trust Deed and SFO, 
the Corporate Governance Code for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the 
period ended 30 June 2020 and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report

Great Eagle ROFR Deed •	 reviewed and adopted the corporate governance measures in respect of the 
operation of the Great Eagle ROFR Deed

•	 reviewed the implementation and compliance of the Great Eagle ROFR Deed
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Nomination Committee
The composition of the Nomination Committee of 
the Company currently comprises three Independent  
Non-executive Directors and one Non-executive Director:

Chairwoman:
Professor Lin Syaru, Shirley*

Members:
Dr. Lo Ka Shui#

Professor Chan Ka Keung, Ceajer*
Mr. Wong Kwai Lam*

#	 Non-executive Director
*	 Independent Non-executive Director

The Nomination Committee focuses on strengthening, 
broadening, balancing and understanding the range 
of skills, experience and diversity on the Company 
Board. The Committee shall formulate policy and make 
recommendations to the Company Board on nomination, 
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and board 
succession.

•	 Board Diversity Policy
The Nomination Committee adopted a board 
diversity policy in 2019. The Company believes that 
increasing diversity at the Board level is an important 
part of achieving its strategic objectives and to 
attract and retain the best people. Appointments 
to the Board shall be on merit, in the context of 

the skills and experience the Board as a whole 
requires to be effective, and against objective criteria 
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity. 
There are many considerations that factor into 
the Nomination Committee’s nomination process 
including legal requirements, best practices, and 
skills required to complement the Board’s skill set 
and the number of Directors needed to discharge 
the duties of the Board and its Committees. But 
it will not set any restrictions like gender, age, 
cultural or educational background when short 
listing candidates. The Company believes that a 
truly diverse Board will include and make good use 
of differences in the skills, regional and industry 
experience, background and other qualities of 
Directors. The Nomination Committee shall review 
the diversity of the Board at least annually taking into 
account the Group’s business model and specific 
needs and shall monitor the implementation of the 
board diversity policy and, if appropriate, make 
recommendations on proposed changes to the 
Board to complement the Company’s corporate 
strategy.

The Board considers that the current Board 
composition has provided the Company with 
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of 
perspective appropriate to the requirements by its 
business. The following chart shows the diversity 
profile of the Board as at 31 December 2020:
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•	 Nomination Policy
T h e  N o m i n a t i o n  C o m m i t t e e  r e c o m m e n d s 
candidates for nomination to the Board, which 
approves the final choice of candidates. The 
Nomination Committee was responsible to maintain 
the Nomination Policy of the Company and review 
the same regularly. The objective of the Nomination 
Policy is to assist the Company in fulfilling its duties 
and responsibilities as provided in its terms of 
reference. This Nomination Policy sets out, inter alia, 
the selection criteria and the evaluation procedures 
in nominating candidates to be appointed or 
re-appointed as Directors of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall consider any 
and all candidates recommended as nominees 
for Directors to the Committee by any Directors 
or shareholders of the Company in accordance 
with the Company’s Articles and the Trust Deed. 
The Nomination Committee may also undertake 
its own search process for candidates and may 

retain the services of professional search firms 
or other third parties to assist in identifying and 
evaluating potential nominees. The Nomination 
Committee shall endeavour to find individuals of high 
integrity who possess the qualifications, qualities, 
skills, experience and independence (in case of 
Independent Non-executive Directors) to effectively 
represent the best interests of all Unitholders. 
Candidates will be selected for their ability to 
exercise good judgment, and provide practical 
insights and diverse perspectives. The Nomination 
Committee may use any process i t  deems 
appropriate for the purpose of evaluating candidates 
including personal interviews, background checks, 
written submission by the candidates and third 
party references. As far as practicable, nominees for 
each election or appointment of Directors shall be 
evaluated using a substantially similar process. The 
Nomination Committee shall review the Nomination 
Policy from time to time.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, two physical Nomination Committee meetings were held with full attendance 
of the Committee members. The following is a summary of the major work done categorized by the primary areas of 
duties of the Committee:

Primary areas of duties Summary of major work done of the Nomination Committee in 2020

Board composition •	 reviewed the size, structure and composition of the Company Board by 
taking into account the diversity of skills, knowledge and experience of the 
Board members

•	 reviewed Directors’ time commitment to the affairs of the Trust and the 
Company through, inter alia, their meeting attendance and other listed 
companies’ directorships

Independence of Independent 
Non-executive Directors

•	 assessed independence of all the Independent Non-executive Directors

Appointment or  
re-appointment of Directors

•	 reviewed and approved the nomination of Dr. Lo Ka Shui and Mr. Wong Kwai 
Lam, being the retiring Directors for re-election at the 2020 AGM

•	 reviewed and approved the nomination of Mr. Lo Chun Lai, Andrew as 
an additional Non-executive Director of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company after considering his skills, expertise, experience and background 
and made recommendation to the Company Board.

The requirement to establish a Nomination Committee is not relevant to the Trustee-Manager as the Trust Deed requires 
that the Directors of the Trustee-Manager shall at all times comprise the same individuals who serve as Directors of the 
Company.
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Remuneration Committee
The composition of the Remuneration Committee of the Company comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors 
and one Non-executive Director:

Chairman:
Professor Chan Ka Keung, Ceajer*

Members:
Dr. Lo Ka Shui#

Professor Lin Syaru, Shirley*
Mr. Wong Kwai Lam*

#	 Non-executive Director
*	 Independent Non-executive Director

The Remuneration Committee sets up formal and transparent procedures for setting policy on Executive Director’s 
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages for all Directors and senior management and to ensure 
remuneration levels are sufficient to attract and retain Directors to run the Company successfully without paying more 
than necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, one physical Remuneration Committee meeting was held with full attendance 
of the Committee members. Below is a summary of major work done categorized under the primary areas of duties of the 
Committee:

Primary areas of duties Summary of major work done of the Remuneration Committee in 2020

Remuneration packages of 
Executive Director and  
senior management

•	 approved the salary review and discretionary bonus distribution for the year 
2020 and other remuneration packages of the Executive Director and senior 
management of the Company

Remuneration of Directors •	 reviewed the market trend of the remuneration package generally offered 
to non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors of 
comparable companies listed in Hong Kong. Reviewed the remuneration 
package offered to non-executive directors and independent non-executive 
directors of the Company and recommended that no adjustment should be 
made for the year 2020.

The requirement to establish a Remuneration Committee is not applicable to the Trustee-Manager as its Directors are not 
entitled to any remuneration payable by the Trust or the Trustee-Manager, and the Trustee-Manager does not have any 
employees.
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Board and Board Committee Meetings
Apart from understanding the respective responsibilities of the Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board, the 
Directors must be able and willing to devote the required amount of time to the affairs of the Trust and the Company, 
including attendance at Board meetings and Board Committee meetings. The Non-executive Directors and the 
Independent Non-executive Directors confirmed to the Trustee-Manager and the Company that they had given sufficient 
time and attention to the affairs of the Trust and the Company throughout 2020.

Board Proceedings for Board and Board Committee Meetings

•	 At least 14 days’ formal notice of regular Board and Board Committee Meetings will be given to all Directors, and 
all Directors are invited to include any matters for discussion in the agenda.

•	 Directors are provided with the meeting agenda and the relevant board papers at least 3 days in advance of every 
regular Board and Board Committee meeting, containing complete, adequate and timely information to enable 
full deliberation on the issues to be considered at the respective meetings.

•	 To safeguard the interests of the Trust Group and the Unitholders, Directors are required to declare their direct/
indirect interests, if any, in any business proposals to be considered at the meetings and, where appropriate, they 
are required to abstain from voting.

•	 Minutes of all Board and Board Committee meetings recording key deliberations and decisions taken are kept by 
the Company Secretary and are available for Directors’ inspection. Draft and final versions of minutes are sent to 
all Directors in a timely manner for their comment and record.

In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman schedules a meeting annually with Independent Non-executive Directors 
without the presence of other Directors to discuss the affairs of the Trust Group.

During the year under review, the Trustee-Manager and the Company held seven physical Board meetings. Directors 
attended the physical meetings either in person or by means of telephone conference or video conference in accordance 
with the Trustee-Manager’s articles of association and the Company’s Articles. The attendance of individual Directors at 
all the physical Board and Board Committee meetings and AGM held during the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out 
below:
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Number of physical Meeting(s) Attended/Eligible to Attend in 2020

Name of Directors Board
Audit

 Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration
 Committee

2020 
AGM

Non-executive Directors

LO Ka Shui (Chairman) 7/7 – 2/2 1/1 1/1

LO Chun Him, Alexander 7/7 – – – 1/1

LO Chun Lai, Andrew 1/1 – – – –

(appointed on 27 October 2020)

Attendance Rate 100% – 100% 100% 100%

Executive Director

Brett Stephen BUTCHER (Chief Executive Officer) 7/7 – – – 1/1

Attendance Rate 100% – – – 100%

Independent Non-executive Directors

CHAN Ka Keung, Ceajer 7/7 2/2 2/2 1/1 1/1

LIN Syaru, Shirley 7/7 2/2 2/2 1/1 1/1

WONG Kwai Lam 7/7 2/2 2/2 1/1 1/1

Attendance Rate 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Overall Attendance Rate 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Note:

The Board and Board Committee meetings of the Trustee-Manager and the Company were held on a concurrent basis.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
The framework of the remuneration offered to the Executive Director and senior management of the Company is a 
combination of pre-determined elements plus discretionary components:

Remuneration Framework

Basic compensation •	 includes basic salary, retirement benefits and other allowances

•	 it is fixed and set to be at the level sufficient to retain and motivate employees, taking 
into account the scope and complexity of responsibilities, individual performance 
as well as market pay levels

Bonus and incentives •	 vital to align the interest of the executives with that of Unitholders

•	 the level is determined by reference to factors such as the financial performance and 
profitability of the Trust and the Company, individual performance, prevailing market 
conditions and remuneration benchmark in the industry

As discussed above, Directors of the Trustee-Manager are not entitled to any remuneration payable by the Trust or the 
Trustee-Manager. The Directors’ fees entitled to be received by each Director of the Company and the members of 
the respective Board Committees of the Company for the year 2020 are set out hereinbelow. The remuneration levels 
were proposed with reference to the time involved, specific duties and services of individual directors and the prevailing 
market conditions.

Further details of Directors’ emoluments are provided in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements of the Trust and 
the Company.

Directors’ Fee and Board Committee Remuneration

Capacity
Annual Fee

(HK$)

Board of Directors

• Executive Director 50,000

• Non-executive Director 170,000

• Independent Non-executive Director 220,000

• Chairman 270,000

Audit Committee

• Chairman 100,000

• Committee Member 50,000

Remuneration Committee

• Chairman 50,000

• Committee Member 25,000

Nomination Committee

• Chairman 30,000

• Committee Member 20,000
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
MEASURES TO ADDRESS POTENTIAL 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
Given the unique nature of the Group’s business structure 
and its close relationship with the Great Eagle Group as 
discussed above, various corporate governance measures 
have been established to seek to address any potential 
conflicts of interest and competition between the two 
groups so as to safeguard the interests of independent 
Unitholders:

•	 any conflicted Directors must abstain from voting 
and will not be counted in the quorum of the relevant 
Board meeting in the event of any conflict issues;

•	 pursuant to Article 90 of the articles of association 
of the Trustee-Manager, a Director of the Trustee-
Manager must give priority to the interest of all 
the Unitholders as a whole over the interest of the 
Trustee-Manager in the event of a conflict between 
the interest of all the Unitholders as a whole and that 
of the Trustee-Manager;

•	 potential connected transactions between the Great 
Eagle Group and the Trust Group and the existing 
continuing connected transactions (other than 
exempt continuing connected transactions and 
those transactions qualifying for an exemption) are 
reviewed and reported annually by the Independent 
Non-executive Directors and auditors of the 
Company;

•	 where the Trustee-Manager Board and the Company 
Board are required to determine matters under the 
Great Eagle ROFR Deed, such matters will be referred 
to the Independent Non-executive Directors and/
or to those Directors who do not have a material 
interest in the matter; and

•	 specific corporate governance measures have also 
been put in place in respect of the operation of the 
Great Eagle ROFR Deed as follows:

(i)	 as part of the Trustee-Manager’s and the 
Company’s respective internal  control 
systems, each has maintained a register of 
all opportunities/transactions arising from the 
implementation of the Great Eagle ROFR Deed;

(ii)	 as part of its internal audit plan, each of the 
Trustee-Manager and the Company will, 
through the internal audit function, review the 
implementation of the Great Eagle ROFR Deed 
each year;

(iii)	 the Audit Committee of the Company will 
review the implementation of the Great Eagle 
ROFR Deed to ascertain that the terms of the 
Great Eagle ROFR Deed have been complied 
with. The review will include an examination 
of supporting documents and such other 
information deemed necessary by the Audit 
Committee; and

(iv)	 the Independent Non-executive Directors will 
review on an annual basis compliance by Great 
Eagle with the terms of the Great Eagle ROFR 
Deed and will disclose in the annual report of 
the Trust and the Company their findings on 
the compliance by Great Eagle with the terms 
of the Great Eagle ROFR Deed and any decision 
made by the Group regarding any exercise of 
the right of first refusal and the basis of such 
decision subject to not breaching any of the 
Group’s or Great Eagle’s contractual or legal 
obligations.
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The Audit Committees of the Trustee-Manager and 
the Company shall be responsible for overseeing the 
implementation of the above measures. During the 
year 2020, there were no properties or investment 
opportunities being acquired by or made available to the 
Great Eagle Group that were subject to the Great Eagle 
ROFR Deed.

The Trustee-Manager with the Company (on the one 
hand) and Great Eagle (on the other hand) have boards 
of directors that function independently of each other. 
Notwithstanding that Dr. Lo Ka Shui and Mr. Lo Chun Him, 
Alexander, Directors of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company, are also directors of the Great Eagle Group, and 
Mr. Lo Chun Lai, Andrew is a deemed connected person 
of Dr. Lo, given adequate corporate governance measures 
are in place, the three Independent Non-executive 
Directors of the Trustee-Manager Board and the Company 
Board would have sufficient expertise to manage the 
Trust Group in the event that Dr. Lo, Mr. Alexander Lo and 
Mr. Andrew Lo are required to abstain from voting on  
matters relating to the Great Eagle Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND  
INTERNAL CONTROL
The Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board 
are entrusted with the overall responsibility on an 
ongoing basis for ensuring that appropriate and effective 
risk management and internal control systems are 
established and maintained for the Trustee-Manager 
and the Company. The systems are designed to provide 
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss, and to manage rather than eliminate 
risk of failure to meet the business objectives. The 
following have been established and executed to ensure 
there are appropriate and effective risk management and 
internal control systems within the Trustee-Manager and 
the Company:

(a)	 a good control environment including well defined 
organizational structure, limit of authority, reporting 
lines and responsibilities;

(b)	 Risk Management Self-Assessment and Internal 
Control Self-Assessment conducted annually by the 
Trustee-Manager and the Company;

(c)	 appropriate risk mitigating activities including clear 
written company policies and procedures that 
can manage risks to an acceptable level for the 
achievement of the business objectives;

(d)	 effective information platforms to facilitate internal 
and external information flow; and

(e)	 structured internal audit function to perform 
independent appraisal of major operations on an 
ongoing basis.

Through the Audit Committees of the Trustee-Manager 
and the Company and the Great Eagle Group’s Internal 
Audit Department, the Trustee-Manager Board and the 
Company Board have conducted an annual review on the 
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 
systems for the year ended 31 December 2020.

With adoption of a risk-based approach, the Internal 
Audit Department takes the lead to evaluate the risk 
management and internal control systems of the Trustee-
Manager and the Company by reviewing all their major 
operations on a cyclical basis. The audit reviews cover 
all material controls including financial, operational and 
compliance controls. The 3-year audit plan of the Internal 
Audit Department is approved by the Audit Committees. 
The Head of Internal Audit Department reports directly to 
the Audit Committees and the Chairman of the Trustee-
Manager and the Company. Results of the audit reviews 
in the form of audit reports are submitted to the members 
of the Audit Committees for discussion at the Audit 
Committee meetings. The internal audit reports are also 
followed up by the Internal Audit Department to ensure 
that findings previously identified have been properly 
resolved.
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Based on the results of the internal audit reviews for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 and the assessment of 
the Audit Committees thereon, no significant irregularity 
or deficiency in the risk management and internal control 
systems has drawn the attention of the Audit Committees.

The Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board 
therefore are satisfied that the Trust (together with the 
Trustee-Manager) and the Company have maintained 
appropriate and effective risk management and internal 
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2020.

HOLDERS OF SHARE STAPLED UNITS
Communication with Holders of Share Stapled 
Units
We recognize the importance of maintaining an 
ongoing dialogue with our Unitholders. The Unitholder 
Communication Policy has been adopted to promote 
effective engagement with individual Unitholders, 
institutional investors and other stakeholders.

Our corporate website (www.langhamhospitality.com) 
is one of the key channels by which the Unitholders 
and potential investors can find a wealth of information 
about the Trust Group. All corporate communications of 
the Trust and the Company, including but not limited to 
annual and interim reports, announcements, circulars, 
key corporate governance policies, terms of reference 
of the various Board Committees, press releases and 
other corporate information, are made available on 
this website. For Unitholders who have supported the 
use of environmentally-friendly means in receiving 
corporate communications, our website provides the 
most convenient way for locating the desired information. 
We also address the needs of those Unitholders who are 
more accustomed to reading offline by sending corporate 
communications to them in printed form free of charge 
upon receipt of their election in writing as such.

To facilitate a two-way dialogue with Unitholders and 
other stakeholders, the corporate communications 
and website, where necessary, are supplemented by 
various briefings and conferences. The management 
and the Head of Investor Relations will meet existing and 
potential investors, financial analysts and media at road 
shows, analyst briefings, investor conferences and one-
on-one group meetings where our senior executives 
can exchange and share views and opinions with the 
participants and address any queries that they may have 
about the business development and corporate strategies 
of the Trust Group based on publicly available information. 
Presentation materials for analyst briefings on annual and 
interim results, if any, are also posted on our website so 
as to deliver a more in-depth understanding on the Trust 
Group’s financial performance and position.

Unitholders may at any time direct their enquiries about 
the Trust and the Company to the Trustee-Manager Board 
and the Company Board by writing to the Company’s 
principal place of business in Hong Kong or by email to 
enquiry@langhamhospitality.com.

General Meeting
The Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board 
recognise the significance of general meetings which 
provide the best opportunity for a genuine dialogue 
between the Directors and our Unitholders. In light of 
the outbreak of COVID-19, the Trust and the Company 
implemented a number of precautionary measures for 
the 2020 AGM, including distant seat arrangement and 
restricting the number of attendees in the 2020 AGM 
venue.
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The 2020 AGM of the Trust and the Company was held on 
12 May 2020 at 32nd Floor, Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour 
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The matters resolved thereat 
are listed below:

•	 Received and adopted the audited consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Trust and the Company 
for the year ended 31 December 2019, the audited 
Financial Statements of the Trustee-Manager for 
the year ended 31 December 2019, together with 
their respective Reports of the Directors and the 
independent auditor.

•	 Declared a final distribution of HK3.4 cents per Share 
Stapled Unit for the year ended 31 December 2019.

•	 Re-elected Dr. Lo Ka Shui as a Non-executive 
Director and Mr. Wong Kwai Lai as an Independent 
Non-executive Director.

•	 Authorised the Directors of the Company to fix their 
remuneration.

•	 Re-appointed Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
as auditor of the Trust, the Trustee-Manager and 
the Company, and authorised the Directors of the 
Trustee-Manager and the Company to fix their 
remuneration.

•	 Approved the grant of a general mandate to the 
Directors of the Trustee-Manager and the Company 
to allot, issue and deal with additional Share Stapled 
Units not exceeding 20% of the issued number of 
Share Stapled Units.

The General Mandate will remain in effect until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Holders of Share Stapled Units, 
or the expiration of the period within which such AGM is required to be held, or until revoked, renewed or varied by an 
ordinary resolution of Holders of Share Stapled Units, whichever occurs first. Although the General Mandate granted 
may not be utilized during the valid period as mentioned above, this gives the Company the flexibility when needed 
without proposing second and subsequent refreshments of a general mandate in any one year. The Company will use 
the mandate sparingly and in the interest of the Holders of Share Stapled Units. Set out below is the utilization rate of the 
General Mandate granted by the Holders of Share Stapled Units for the last five validity periods:

Year of AGM Mandate Validity Period

Number of Issued 
Share Stapled Units 

under Granted Mandate
% of Utilized

Mandate(1)

2015 20/4/2015 to 22/4/2016 24,263,355 1.194

2016 22/4/2016 to 25/4/2017 21,644,050 1.052

2017 25/4/2017 to 18/4/2018 20,287,099 0.976

2018 18/4/2018 to 10/5/2019 22,678,703 1.080

2019 10/5/2019 to 12/5/2020 23,725,692 1.118

Note:

(1)	 This percentage is based on the number of issued Share Stapled Units as at the dates of the relevant annual general meetings.
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General meetings of the Trust and the Company are held on a combined basis, proceedings of general meetings as 
summarized hereinbelow are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the best appropriate corporate governance 
practices are followed.

Proceedings of General Meetings

•	 Notice of general meetings together with other relevant corporate communications in printed form (or the 
notification letters for receiving the said corporate communications by electronic means through our corporate 
website, as the case may be) will be despatched to Holders of Share Stapled Units (i) no less than 20 clear 
business days prior to the AGM and general meeting where a special resolution is proposed for consideration 
and (ii) no less than 10 clear business days for all other general meetings.

•	 The Chairman of the Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board as well as the chairmen of each of the 
Board Committees or, in their absence, their duly appointed delegates or other members of the respective 
Committees are available to answer questions at the general meetings.

•	 The chairman of the independent board committee or, in his/her absence, his/her duly appointed delegates 
or other member(s) of the committee will be available to answer questions at any general meetings at which 
approval for a connected transaction or approval from independent Holders of Share Stapled Units for any other 
transaction is sought.

•	 The external auditor will attend the AGM to answer questions relating to the audit.

•	 To safeguard the interests and rights of the Holders of Share Stapled Units, separate resolutions are proposed 
at the general meetings on each substantial issue, including the election/re-election of each individual Director.

•	 Holders of Share Stapled Units will be provided opportunities to ask questions for each of the proposed 
resolutions at general meetings.

•	 All votes of the Holders of Share Stapled Units at general meetings will be taken by poll. The procedures for 
conducting a poll will be clearly explained at the meeting.

•	 Poll results will be made available by way of an announcement, which will be published on our corporate 
website and the website “HKEXnews” on the same day after the general meeting.
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Rights of Holders of Share Stapled Units
Right to Convene/Call a General Meeting
Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Company’s Articles, general 
meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of 
any two or more members of the Company deposited at 
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in 
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal 
office, the registered office specifying the objects of 
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided 
that such requisitionists hold as at the date of deposit 
of the requisition not less than, for as long as the Trust 
Deed remains in force, 10% of the paid up capital of the 
Company which carries the right of voting at general 
meetings of the Company. Within 21 days from the date 
of deposit of the requisition, the Company Board shall 
proceed to convene the meeting to be held with such 
notice in accordance with Article 12.4.

Right to Appoint/Remove Trustee-Manager
Pursuant to Clause 23.1 of the Trust Deed, holders of 
Units of the Trust may (i) by requisition convene a meeting 
to vote on a resolution to remove the trustee-manager 
and (ii) nominate a company which has consented in 
writing to serve as the replacement trustee-manager for 
appointment at general meeting by serving the requisition/
nomination on the incumbent trustee-manager, provided 

that the holders of Units making such requisition and/
or nomination hold not less than 5% of the total voting 
rights of all holders of Units at the date of the requisition/
nomination.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director
Pursuant to Article 16.5 of the Company’s Articles, two 
members of the Company (not including the person to 
be proposed) together representing not less than 10% of 
the total voting rights of all the members are entitled to 
propose a person for election as a Director of the Company 
at the general meeting by lodging a written notice with 
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong of their 
such intention together with the consent of the nominated 
person at least 7 days before the date of the general 
meeting.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Financial 
Statements
The statement by the auditor about its reporting 
responsibilities for the Trust Group and the Trustee-
Manager are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report 
on pages 94 to 98 and pages 162 to 164 respectively of this 
Annual Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the total fees in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Trust 
Group and the Trustee-Manager by the external auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out as follows:

For the year ended 
31 December 2020

Trust Group Trustee-Manager

Services rendered HK$’000 HK$’000

Audit services 1,414 20

Non-audit services

Interim review fee 386 –

Other review fees including continuing connected  
transactions review, etc 788 2

Total: 2,588 22

Note:

The total amounts of Auditor’s Remuneration as disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements of the Trust and the Company and note 4 to 
the financial statements of the Trustee-Manager are HK$1,414,000 and HK$20,000 respectively and do not include the fees in respect of non-audit services.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no 
change to the Trust Deed and the Company’s Articles, the 
current version of which are available for download from 
our website and the website “HKEXnews”.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND/
OR CONTINUING CONNECTED 
TRANSACTIONS
Details of the connected transactions and/or continuing 
connected transactions subsisted during the year under 
review and the annual review are set out in the Report of 
the Directors contained in this Annual Report on pages 83 
to 89.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS 
BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT 
EMPLOYEES
The Trust Group has adopted its own Code of Conduct for 
Securities Transactions on terms no less exacting than the 
required standard set out in the Model Code and the same 
is updated from time to time in accordance with the Listing 
Rules requirements.

Having made specific enquiry, all members of the Board 
and relevant employees of the Company confirmed 
that they had fully complied with the Code of Conduct 
for Securities Transactions during the year ended  
31 December 2020. The Directors’ interests in the 
securities of the Trust and the Company and the 
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) 
as at 31 December 2020 are set out in the Report of the 
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board, 
supported by the Accounts and Finance Department, are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
of the Trust Group and the Trustee-Manager for the year 
ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ 
INSURANCE
During the year ended 31 December 2020, appropriate 
Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities insurance coverage had 
been arranged in respect of legal action that might be 
taken against the Directors and officers of the Trustee-
Manager and the Company.

PUBLIC FLOAT
So far as the Trustee-Manager Board and the Company 
Board are aware of, as at the date of this report, the Trust 
and the Company had maintained a sufficient public float 
with more than 25% of the issued and outstanding Share 
Stapled Units being held by the public.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain 
transactions between the Trust Group, the Trustee-
Manager and parties regarded as “related parties” under 
the applicable accounting standards subsisted. The Trust 
Group and the Trustee-Manager also entered into a 
transaction with a related party during the year. Several 
of these related party transactions also constituted 
connected transactions as defined under the Listing Rules. 
Details of related party transactions are disclosed in note 
36 to the consolidated financial statements of the Trust 
and the Company.
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HOTEL MANAGER AND EMPLOYEES
The Trust Group does not manage the daily operations of the Hotels. The Hotel Manager is responsible for the 
management of and all sales, marketing and advertising activities in relation to the Hotels pursuant to the Hotel 
Management Agreements. The Hotel Manager has a team of well-experienced operational staff exclusively dedicated in 
providing services to the Hotels. The Hotels control the payroll and related expense in accordance with the business level 
and also continuously review the process for higher efficiency. Comparing to 31 December 2019, there is a decrease of 
117 headcounts as at 31 December 2020.

The following charts show the breakdown of the employees of the Hotel Manager and its subsidiaries who were engaged 
in the operation and management of the Hotels as at 31 December 2020:
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Salary levels of the Hotel Manager’s employees are 
competitive, and discretionary bonuses are granted based 
on performance of the Hotels as well as achievement of 
departmental key performance indicators. Other employee 
benefits include educational allowance, insurance, 
medical scheme and provident fund schemes. The Hotel 
Manager and its subsidiaries are required to contribute an 
amount equivalent to 5% of the employees’ basic salary 
(subject to the cap as stipulated under the applicable laws) 
to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme as mandatory 
contribution.

The Company has employed a team of five professional 
staff members to maintain an effective operation of 
the Trust Group. Great Eagle Group provides certain 
administrative and non-management services to the 
Trust Group, which include but not limited to, legal and 

corporate secretarial support, finance, accounting and 
taxation support, human resources support, information 
technology support, internal audit support and general 
office administrative support on a cost-sharing basis 
under the Administrative Support Services Agreement. 
The remuneration package of our employees includes 
salary, bonuses, allowances and various retirement benefit 
schemes for the benefit of the staff. All staff members are 
signed up with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in 
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

The total remuneration of the senior management 
(including the Chief Executive Officer) borne by the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 are 
provided in note 14 to the consolidated financial 
statements of the Trust and the Company.
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The Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board have 
pleasure in presenting the annual report together with 
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Trust 
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Trustee-Manager Board also presents its audited 
financial statements of the Trustee-Manager for the year 
ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Trust
The Trust is constituted, upon and subject to the terms 
and conditions of the Trust Deed entered into between 
the Trustee-Manager and the Company, as a fixed single 
investment trust in Hong Kong. The scope of activity of the 
Trust is limited to investing in the Company.

The Company
The principal activities of the Group are primarily to 
own and invest in a portfolio of hotels, with a focus on 
completed hotels located in Asia. The current hotel 
portfolio of the Group comprises: The Langham, Hong 
Kong, Cordis, Hong Kong and Eaton HK.

The principal activities and other particulars of the 
Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 
2020 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial 
statements of the Trust Group.

The Trustee-Manager
The Trustee-Manager has a specific and limited role to 
administer the Trust. The Trustee-Manager is not actively 
engaged in running the businesses operated by the Trust 
Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Business Performance and Future Prospects
A detailed review on the Trust Group’s business 
performance during the reporting period, as well as the 
future prospects of the Trust Group are set out in the 
Chairman’s Statement and CEO’s Review on pages 14 to 
22 of this Annual Report, the discussions thereof form part 
of this Directors’ Report.

The Trust Group is committed to the preservation of 
its reputation and integrity through compliance with 
applicable laws, rules and regulations (“Laws”). Control 
procedures are in place to ensure compliance with Laws 
which have a significant impact on the Group in conduct 
of it business including Securities and Futures Ordinance, 
the Listing Rules, the Takeovers Code and those related to 
personal data privacy, copyrights and intellectual property, 
anti-money laundering, occupational health and safety, 
environmental protection, hotel operations and business 
licenses. The Trust Group will not be obliged to do anything 
if by doing so it would or might cause the Group to breach 
any applicable laws. The Trust Group has also adopted its 
own Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions on terms 
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the 
Model Code and the same is updated from time to time in 
accordance with the Listing Rules requirements.

Risks and Uncertainties
The Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board are 
aware that the Trust Group is exposed to various risks, 
including some which are specific to the Trust Group or 
the hospitality industry as well as others that are common 
to most if not all other businesses. The Trustee-Manager 
Board and the Company Board have established a practice 
to ensure that significant risks which may adversely affect 
the Trust Group’s performance are identified, reported, 
monitored, and managed on a continuous basis. The 
following principal risks and uncertainties are considered 
to have the potential to adversely affect the Trust Group’s 
performance if they are not managed effectively.
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Outbreak of COVID-19 Pandemics
The COVID-19 pandemic has triggered a global economic 
downturn and global economic contraction. This has 
had a severe impact on the hospitality industry both 
in Hong Kong and globally. Governments around the 
world have introduced measures designed to slow the 
spread of COVID-19 pandemic, including lock-downs, 
social distancing requirements, border controls and 
travel restrictions, with only limited exceptions. Travel 
to Hong Kong has been severely impacted by necessary 
restrictions implemented by the HKSAR government. In 
addition, the HKSAR government has imposed necessary 
restrictions to control social gatherings which impact in 
particular the hospitality industry.

At the current time there is no clarity as to how long 
the domestic or the global economies, and within the 
domestic economy the hospitality sector, will continue 
to be impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic 
or as to how severe the impact will be. While the recent 
arrival of various COVID-19 vaccines may provide the 
much-needed protection for kick-starting travelling 
again, it will take time to implement such a large-scale 
vaccination program. Meanwhile, there are renewed 
travel restrictions in many parts of the world in response 
to new coronavirus strains that are potentially more 
contagious. Even when restrictions are lifted, there might 
be a period of significantly reduced economic activity, 
potential increased unemployment and reduced consumer 
spending.

A number of countries and areas (including Hong Kong) 
registered gross domestic product declines for 2020 as 
the COVID-19 pandemic dealt a heavy blow to global and 
local economic activities. It is possible that the outbreak of 
COVID-19 will cause a prolonged global economic crisis or 
recession, which may disrupt the Trust Group’s business 
operations and consequently have a material adverse 
effect on the Trust Group’s financial condition and results 
of operations.

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the measures 
being taken by governments around the world in 
response to it could materially and adversely affect the 
Trust Group’s business, financial condition, financial 
requirements, results of operations and prospects. 
The Trust Group has been active in responding to the 
extremely difficult environment. In addition to tightening 
expense control, deferring various renovation plans, 
applying for and receiving COVID-19 subsidies from 
the HKSAR government, the Trust Group has tried to 
increase its market share in the staycation market. 
Numerous promotional packages with innovative ideas 
were launched to capture demand. In addition, it has 
taken precautionary measures in stepping up the hygiene 
standard at the Hotels and workplace. The Trust Group 
will continue to monitor the development of COVID-19 
pandemic closely and adjust the mitigation measures 
when necessary.

Stability of Revenue
The Trust Group’s primary source of income is rental 
payments payable for the lease of the Hotels under the 
Master Lease Agreements, which comprise the Base 
Rent and the Variable Rent. The Variable Rent payable 
under the Master Leases is expected to constitute the 
majority of the Trust Group’s total revenue and will vary 
according to the level of Gross Operating Profit before 
deduction of the Global Marketing Fee of each Hotel. The 
basis for calculating the amount of Variable Rent payable 
only applied until 31 December 2019 and thereafter 
the Variable Rent will be calculated on a basis to be 
determined by an independent property valuer, to be 
appointed by the Company.

In 2019, the Company appointed an independent property 
valuer, Vigers, acting as an expert and not as an arbitrator, 
to conduct a rental review to determine the market rental 
package of the Hotels (including the market rent of the 
Hotels and the applicable percentage of the Variable Rent) 
for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2023.
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Based on the Rental Review of the Valuer in accordance 
with the provisions in the Master Lease Agreements, the 
Valuer determined that the market rental package for the 
Hotels for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 
2023 is comprised of (i) a Base Rent being fixed at HK$225 
million per annum under the Master Lease Agreements, 
and (ii) a Variable Rent being 70% to the Hotels’ aggregate 
Gross Operating Profit before deduction of the Global 
Marketing Fees payable by each of the Hotel Companies 
on an annual basis as determined by Vigers. The market 
rental package of the Hotels for the period from 1 January 
2020 to 31 December 2023 is the same as the one of 
the last period ended 31 December 2019. Under the 
Master Lease Agreements, a further rental review will 
be performed for the period from 1 January 2024 for the 
remaining term of the Master Lease Agreements.

The Master Lease Agreements will terminate in the event 
that the valuer determines that the Variable Rent payable 
under the Master Lease Agreements for the period from 
1 January 2024 for the remaining term of the Master Lease 
Agreements, shall be calculated on the basis of less than 
70% of the Hotels’ aggregate Gross Operating Profit before 
deduction of the Global Marketing Fees payable by each 
of the Hotel Companies, and approval of independent 
Holders of Share Stapled Units is not obtained when the 
Company re-complies with the relevant Listing Rules 
requirements in respect of the Master Lease Agreements. 
Termination or non-renewal of a Master Lease Agreement 
may have a material adverse effect on our business, 
results of operations, financial condition and prospects 
as it would result in us ceasing to enjoy the guaranteed 
minimum revenue payable as the Base Rent under the 
Master Lease Agreement and therefore increase our 
exposure to the Hotels’ actual financial performance. 
There can be no guarantee that we could enter into 
alternative leasing arrangements on similar terms as the 
Master Lease Agreements or at all, or that the actual 
revenue derived from the Hotels would be equivalent to 
the Base Rent and the Variable Rent payable under the 
Master Lease Agreements. It may also be difficult to enter 
into alternative leasing arrangement on similar terms to 
the Master Lease Agreements if the master lessee is not 
also the Hotel Manager.

In addition, we may be required to pay damages to the 
Master Lessee in respect of the termination of a Master 
Lease Agreement. Accordingly, the termination of the 
Master Lease Agreements may have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations, financial 
condition and prospects.

There can be no assurance that the Variable Rent will be 
consistent from year to year. Variable Rent fluctuation 
depends on the actual performance of the hotels. The 
Trust Group’s ability to comply with the interest cover 
covenant under the loan agreements will be adversely 
affected in the absence of Variable Rent. To mitigate the 
risk, we have adopted the Active Asset Management 
Strategy and the following are the major measures:

•	 Supervise the Master Lessee and the Hotel Manager 
to enhance the quality and value of the Hotels, and 
achieve growth in operating performance.

•	 Meeting with the Hotel General Manager to monitor 
and control hotels’ performance.

•	 Regularly review on hotels’ performance.

•	 Review future 3 months’ outlook and booking pace.

Valuation of the Hotels
The Hotels are classified as investment properties of 
the Trust Group in its financial statement. The Trust 
Group is required by Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants to reassess the fair value of its 
investments properties at each reporting date for which 
it issues financial statements. The amount of revaluation 
adjustments will be subject to market fluctuations. In the 
case of losses arising from changes in fair value of the 
investment properties of the Trust Group, this could have 
an adverse impact on its ability to comply with the financial 
covenants under the loan agreements, particularly the 
loan-to-value covenant, and may also lead to an adverse 
market perception of the performance of its business, 
even though such losses are not realised.
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The valuation of the investment properties of the Trust 
Group is based on an income capitalization approach and/
or discounted cash flow analysis, under which the periodic 
net operating income, along with where applicable an 
estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of 
the relevant projection period, is then discounted to its net 
present value. A comparison approach is also used, under 
which investment properties are compared with other 
properties of similar size, character and location, where 
available, in order to provide a fair comparison of capital 
values.

Fair value gains (or losses) will not change the cash 
position of the Trust Group as long as the relevant 
investment properties are held by it and therefore do not 
increase or decrease respectively its liquidity in spite of 
the increased or decreased profit. Therefore, fair value 
gains would not generate a flow of funds from which 
distributions could be paid.

Material downward valuation adjustments could materially 
and adversely affect the Trust Group’s financial condition, 
financing requirements and prospects.

The Trust Group will closely monitor its debt and cash 
position. Cash flow forecasts with sensitivity analysis will 
be prepared to ensure that all sources of liquidity risk 
are identified to evaluate the impact of different levels of 
business activity in relation to the existing loan facilities.

Funding for Renovation of Hotels
The Hotels may need to undergo renovation works from 
time to time to retain their attractiveness and may also 
require ad hoc maintenance or repairs in respect of faults 
or problems that may develop or because of new planning 
laws or regulations. Such repairs, redevelopment or 
renovation of the Hotels may have a material effect on our 
ability to attract hotel guests and customers for our catering 
business and restaurants and in some circumstances may 
require partial closure of a hotel or the restaurants or other 
facilities within that hotel. As a result, during the period 
of any such repairs, redevelopment or renovation, the 
Trust Group may experience a reduction in the occupancy 
rate and/or RevPAR of the Hotels and/or the number of 
customers using our restaurants and catering facilities.

The cost of maintaining the Hotels, the need to renovate 
or redevelop and the risk of unforeseen maintenance or 
repair requirements tend to increase over time as the 
Hotels age. If the operation of the Hotels or the restaurant 
or catering facilities is disrupted as a result of such repairs 
and/or maintenance, this will adversely affect the results 
of operations of the Hotels and reduce the level of Variable 
Rent payable to the Trust Group. In view of the above, the 
following control activities are identified and implemented 
by the Trust Group:

•	 The Trust Group has obtained additional revolving 
banking facility to meet the unforeseen renovations.

•	 The Trust Group will communicate with the Project 
Manager on cash requirements for hotel renovation 
on an on-going basis and the renovation progress 
report will be reviewed regularly.

•	 The cash position of the Trust Group will be reviewed 
on a regular basis.

Hong Kong Hospitality Industry
The Hong Kong hospitality industry has been, and will 
continue to be, significantly impacted by potential 
customers travelling to Hong Kong and is closely linked to 
the development of tourist activity in Hong Kong. Potential 
customers’ desire and willingness to travel to and stay 
in Hong Kong may be affected by a number of external 
factors which are outside our control, including adverse 
global, regional or local economic conditions, social 
factors, travel warnings issued by other countries, travel 
disruptions, viral epidemics and fluctuations in the Hong 
Kong dollar exchange rate against other currencies. The 
Trustee-Manager Board and the Company Board cannot 
predict the occurrence of these events and the extent to 
which they will, directly or indirectly, impact the hospitality 
industry in Hong Kong.
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The attractiveness of Hong Kong to corporations and firms 
and their employees and the associated business-related 
travel is influenced by economic conditions, political and 
economic stability of Hong Kong and China, Hong Kong’s 
regulatory, legal, tax and financial framework, Hong 
Kong’s environment and levels of pollution, and Hong 
Kong’s transport and infrastructure and other amenities. 
In addition, travel disruptions arising from viral epidemics, 
natural disasters, adverse weather conditions, terrorist 
acts, riots or civil commotions may adversely impact the 
number of travellers coming to Hong Kong.

Changes in travel patterns can be erratic and this may 
adversely affect the performance of the Hotels. The Trust 
Group will adopt Active Asset Management Strategy as 
mentioned above to monitor the situation.

Risks pertaining to Hotel Operations
A substantial portion of the Trust Group’s revenue is 
derived from Variable Rent which provides exposure to 
the underlying performance of the hotels. Since hotel 
guests are short-term occupants of hotel rooms, they are 
generally not committed to contracts of medium-term 
or long-term rental payment. Consequently, a hotel’s 
occupancy rate and room rate are subject to a high 
degree of fluctuations due to factors including seasonality, 
social stability, politics, natural hazards, viral epidemics 
and economic condition as well as the nature of hotel 
business.

In this respect, the Trust Group regularly assesses changes 
in economic environment and keeps alert to market needs 
and competitors’ reaction. The management will closely 
monitor hotels performance and booking pace. Besides, 
the Trust Group shall continue to improve its hotel services 
and facilities to ensure the provision of unforgettable 
experience for our customers.

Risk of Cyber-Attacks
Loss of data and leakage of confidential information are 
the largest costs from cyber-crime that the hotels are 
facing. The cost of recovering from cyber attacks, including 
reputational damage, where the trust in a company 
decreases and their brand loses value, is considerable. 
To mitigate the risk of cyber-attacks, the vulnerabilities 
of the hotel’s IT infrastructure are regularly scanned and 
patched. Risky external IP addresses are blocked. All 
severs and user computers are equipped with antivirus 
or endpoint protection. Emails are filtered for spam 
and malware. Password control and user access to the 
systems and network elements are regularly updated and 
reviewed. System backup and DR facilities provide addition 
layers of protections. All these measures increase the 
difficulty for a hacker. In addition, the respective business 
units have also acquired appropriate insurance which also 
help mitigating risk exposure by offsetting costs involved 
with recovery after a cyber-related security breach or 
similar event.

Risks associated with the Group’s financial 
instruments
The Groups’ major financial instruments include derivative 
financial instruments, other receivables, restricted bank 
balance, bank balances, trade creditors, other payables, 
construction fee payables and secured bank loans. Details 
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective 
notes. The risks associated with the Groups’ financial 
instruments include market risk (currency risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of 
the same and the policies on how to mitigate these risks 
are set out in note 29 to the consolidated Financial 
Statements contained in this Annual Report. Management 
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure 
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and 
effective manner.
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Stability of Distributions
The parent group had agreed, under the Distribution 
Entitlement Waiver Deed, to waive its entitlement to 
receive any distributions payable in respect of certain 
numbers of Share Stapled Units for the period ended 31 
December 2017. The Distribution Waiver elevated the 
distribution of Share Stapled Units in respect of which 
distributions have not been waived to a level which is 
higher than would otherwise be the case based solely 
on the Trust Distributable Income. The Distribution 
Entitlement Waiver Deed had expired by the end of 2017. 
Pursuant to the Hotel Management Agreements and 
the Trademark Licence Agreements, the fees payable 
thereunder from 1 January 2018 onwards shall be settled 
by way of cash, the issue of Share Stapled Units, or a 
combination of both, at the election of the Hotel Manager. 
If the Hotel Manager elected the payment of the Manager 
Fees by way of cash, the amount that may be available 
for distribution to Holders of Share Stapled Units will 
decrease.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Trust and the 
Company dated 15 December 2020, the Hotel Manager 
has elected the payment of the Manager Fees wholly 
by way of Share Stapled Units for the year ending 
31 December 2021. The Trust and the Company has 
proposed to seek the approval of independent holders 
of Share Stapled Units in relation to a specific mandate 
to issue Share Stapled Units as payment of the Manager 
Fees under the Hotel Management Agreements and the 
Trademark Licence Agreements. In the event that the 
specific mandate is not approved by the Independent 
Holders of Share Stapled Units, the Trust Group will have 
to settle the upcoming Manager Fees wholly by way of 
cash but not by way of issue of Share Stapled Units and 
accordingly the distribution of Share Stapled Units will be 
adversely affected. 

Active Asset Management Strategy as mentioned above 
has been adopted with an aim to further enhance the 
financial performance of the Trust Group.

DISTRIBUTION
Distributable Income
Total distributable income is the profit for the year 
attributable to Holders of Share Stapled Units as adjusted 
to eliminate the effects of adjustments (as set out in the 
Trust Deed). Details of which are set out in notes 11 and 
12 to the consolidated financial statements to the Trust 
Group.

Distribution per Share Stapled Unit
Given the distributable income of HK$6.0 million reported 
for the Trust Group in 2020, the distributable income per 
Share Stapled Unit is negligible. In addition, in view of the 
ongoing development of COVID-19 which continues to 
severely affect the business operations of the hotels, the 
Board of Directors recommended not to declare a final 
distribution for the year ended 31 December 2020.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and/or liabilities 
of the Trust Group is set out on page 173 of this Annual 
Report.

MOVEMENTS IN RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Trust 
Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set 
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

FIXED ASSETS
Details of the movements in the property, plant and 
equipment of the Trust Group during the year are set out 
in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements of the 
Trust Group.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Movements in the investment properties of the Trust Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 
18 to the consolidated financial statements. All of the Trust Group’s investment properties were revalued by independent 
professional property valuer as at 31 December 2020 adopting income approach by using discounted cashflow analysis 
and market approach by using comparison method of valuation to arrive the valuation of investment properties.

Details of the investment properties of the Trust Group as at 31 December 2020 are set out in the Schedule of Investment 
Properties on page 172 of this Annual Report.

ISSUED SHARE STAPLED UNITS
As at 31 December 2020, the total number of issued Share Stapled Units of the Trust and the Company was 
3,225,166,738. A total of 1,089,560,243 new Share Stapled Units were issued during the year, representing 33.78% of the 
total number of issued Share Stapled Units as at 31 December 2020.

Date Particulars
No. of 

Share Stapled Units

31 December 2019 Total number of issued Share Stapled Units 2,135,606,495

26 February 2020 Issue of new Share Stapled Units at the price of 
HK$1.986 per Share Stapled Unit as payment of the Hotel 
Management Fees and Licence Fee (collectively the “Hotel 
Manager’s Fees”) to the Hotel Manager of approximately 
HK$19,625,000 for the second half of 2019

9,881,338

21 August 2020 Issue of new Share Stapled Units at the price of HK$0.9611 
per Share Stapled Unit as payment of the Hotel Manager’s 
Fees to Hotel Manager of approximately HK$6,665,000 for 
the first half of 2020

6,934,989

14 September 2020 Issue of new Share Stapled Units at the price of HK$0.95 
per Share Stapled Unit pursuant to the rights issue as 
disclosed in the prospectus of the Trust and the Company 
dated 21 August 2020

1,072,743,916

31 December 2020 Total number of Issued Share Stapled Units 3,225,166,738
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BUY-BACK, SALE OR REDEMPTION  
OF SHARE STAPLED UNITS
Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Trustee-Manager shall not 
buy-back or redeem any Share Stapled Units on behalf of 
the Trust unless and until expressly permitted to do so by 
relevant codes and guidelines issued by the Securities and 
Futures Commission from time to time. Accordingly, the 
Trust and the Company are not allowed to buy-back or 
redeem their own Share Stapled Units.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, none of 
the Trust, the Trustee-Manager, the Company nor 
the Company’s subsidiaries had bought back, sold or 
redeemed any Share Stapled Units.

DIRECTORS
In accordance with clause 29.1(a) of the Trust Deed, 
the Directors of the Trustee-Manager shall be the same 
individuals who serve as Directors of the Company. The 
Directors of the Trustee-Manager Board and the Company 
Board during the year 2020 are set out as follows:

Dr. LO Ka Shui (Chairman and Non-executive Director)
Mr. Brett Stephen BUTCHER (Chief Executive Officer and 

Executive Director)
Professor CHAN Ka Keung, Ceajer*

Professor LIN Syaru, Shirley*

Mr. LO Chun Him, Alexander#

Mr. LO Chun Lai, Andrew#

  (appointed on 27 October 2020)
Mr. WONG Kwai Lam*

#	 Non-executive Directors
*	 Independent Non-executive Directors

In accordance with clause 29.2(m) of the Trust Deed and 
Article 16.21 of the Company’s Articles, Mr. Brett Stephen 
Butcher, Professor Chan Ka Keung, Ceajer and Professor 
Lin Syaru, Shirley shall retire from office at the 2021 AGM 
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Lo Chun Lai, Andrew was appointed as a Non-
Executive Director of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company with effect from 27 October 2020. Pursuant to 
clause 29.2(g) of the Trust Deed and Article 16.3 of the 
Company’s Articles, any Director appointed to fill a casual 
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office 
only until the next following AGM and shall then be eligible 
for re-election. Hence, Mr. Lo Chun Lai, Andrew shall hold 
office until the 2021 AGM and, being eligible, have offered 
himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
The biographical details of the Directors of the Trustee-
Manager and the Company, and the Senior Management 
of the Company are set out on pages 23 to 26 of this 
Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the Directors has a service contract with 
the Trustee-Manager or the Company or any of the 
subsidiaries of the Company which is not determinable 
by the employer within one year without payment of 
compensation (other than statutory compensations).

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Details of emoluments of the Directors of the Company are 
set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements 
of the Trust Group.

Pursuant to the terms of letters of appointment/
employment contract, all emoluments of the Directors 
shall be borne by the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY
The Trust Deed, the Company’s Articles and the articles of 
association of Trustee-Manager provide that every Director 
is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Trust 
or the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or 
sustained by him/her as a Director of the Trustee-Manager 
and the Company.
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Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Trustee-Manager shall, 
save in the case of fraud, wilful default or negligence, be 
entitled to have recourse to the Trust Property (as defined 
in the Trust Deed) and shall incur no personal liability 
in respect of any losses or liabilities which may arise 
directly or indirectly from such engaging in any Authorised 
Business (as defined in the Trust Deed).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, appropriate 
Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities insurance coverage had 
been arranged in respect of legal action that might be 
taken against the Directors and Officers of the Trustee-
Manager and the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARE STAPLED UNITS, 
UNDERLYING SHARE STAPLED UNITS 
AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions 
of the Directors of the Trustee-Manager and the Company 
in the Share Stapled Units, underlying Share Stapled Units 
and debentures of the Trust and the Company or any of its 
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of 
the SFO) which were notified to the Trustee-Manager, the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short 
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under 
such provisions of the SFO) and the Model Code, or which 
were recorded in the register required under Section 352 
of the SFO are as follows:

Long Positions in Share Stapled Units and Underlying Share Stapled Units

Name of Director Capacity
Nature of 
Interests

Number 
of SSUs/

Underlying 
SSUs Held

Percentage of 
Issued SSUs(2) Total

Lo Ka Shui Beneficial Owner Personal Interests 31,584,000 0.98 )

Interests of Controlled 
Corporations Corporate Interests 2,236,226,660(1) 69.34

)
)

Settlor and a Member of the 
Advisory Committee and 
Management Committee 
of a Charitable Trust Trust Interests 90,010,250 2.79

)
)
)
) 73.11

Lo Chun Lai, Andrew Beneficial Owner Personal Interests 300,000 0.01 0.01

Brett Stephen Butcher Beneficial Owner and 
Jointly with Spouse Joint Interests 1,050,545 0.03 0.03

Notes:

(1)	 These 2,236,226,660 Share Stapled Units comprise the following:

(i)	 2,233,136,660 Share Stapled Units respectively held by LHIL Assets Holdings Limited as to 2,093,032,160 Share Stapled Units (64.90%), Fine 
Noble Limited as to 87,894,750 Share Stapled Units (2.72%) and Great Eagle Nichemusic Limited as to 8,947,500 Share Stapled Units (0.28%) 
and The Great Eagle Company, Limited as to 43,262,250 Share Stapled Units (1.34%), all of the said companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries 
of Great Eagle. Dr. Lo Ka Shui is a substantial shareholder, the Chairman and Managing Director of Great Eagle. His interests in Great Eagle 
are disclosed below on page 80; and

(ii)	 3,090,000 Share Stapled Units (0.10%) were held by two companies wholly-owned by Dr. Lo Ka Shui who is also a director of these companies.

(2)	 This percentage has been compiled based on 3,225,166,738 Share Stapled Units of the Trust and the Company in issue as at 31 December 2020.
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LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATIONS
Great Eagle
As at 31 December 2020, Great Eagle owned 69.24% interests in the Trust and the Company and therefore is an 
associated corporation of the Trust and the Company. The interests of Directors of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company in Great Eagle as at 31 December 2020 are disclosed as follows:

Name of Director Capacity
Nature of 
Interests

Number of 
Ordinary 
Shares/

Underlying 
Shares Held

Percentage of 
Issued Share 

Capital(6) Total

Lo Ka Shui Beneficial Owner Personal Interests 59,336,775(1) 8.24 )

Interests of Controlled 
Corporations Corporate Interests 88,833,415(2) 12.34

)
)

Discretionary Beneficiary  
of a Discretionary Trust

Discretionary Trust 
Interests 242,156,015 33.64

)
)

Founder of a  
Discretionary Trust Trust Interests 63,223,699 8.78

)
) 63.00

Lo Chun Him, 
Alexander Beneficial Owner Personal Interests 1,014,000(3) 0.14 0.14

Lo Chun Lai, Andrew Beneficial Owner Personal Interests 150,026(4) 0.02 0.02

Brett Stephen Butcher Beneficial Owner Personal Interests 452,000(5) 0.06 )

Beneficial Owner and 
Jointly with Spouse Joint Interests 31,433 0.01

)
) 0.07

Notes:

(1)	 Among these interests, 2,066,000 were share options.

(2)	 These interests were held by certain companies wholly-owned by Dr. Lo Ka Shui who is also a director of these companies.

(3)	 Among these interests, 988,000 were share options.

(4)	 Among these interests, 80,000 were share options.

(5)	 Among these interests, 400,000 were share options.

(6)	 This percentage has been compiled based on 719,920,112 shares of Great Eagle in issue as at 31 December 2020.
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Champion Real Estate Investment Trust (“Champion REIT”)
Champion REIT is accounted for as a subsidiary of Great Eagle, the holding company of the Trust and the Company. 
As at 31 December 2020, Great Eagle owned 67.22% interests in Champion REIT. While the definition of “associated 
corporation” under the SFO caters only to corporations, for the purpose of enhancing the transparency, the holdings of 
Directors of the Trustee-Manager and the Company in Champion REIT as at 31 December 2020 are disclosed as follows:

Name of Director Capacity
Nature of 
Interests

Number 
of Units/

Underlying 
Units Held

Percentage of 
Issued Units(2) Total

Lo Ka Shui Beneficial Owner Personal Interests 3,592,007 0.06 )

Interests of Controlled 
Corporations Corporate Interests 3,973,137,075(1) 67.27

)
)

Settlor and a Member of the 
Advisory Committee and 
Management Committee 
of a Charitable Trust Trust Interests 19,115,000 0.33

)
)
)
) 67.66

Notes:

(1)	 These 3,973,137,075 units comprise the following:

(i)	 3,969,878,465 units (67.22%) were indirectly held by Great Eagle of which Dr. Lo Ka Shui is a substantial shareholder, the Chairman and 
Managing Director. His interests in Great Eagle are disclosed above on page 80; and

(ii)	 3,258,610 units (0.06%) were held by certain companies wholly-owned by Dr. Lo Ka Shui who is also a director of these companies.

(2)	 This percentage has been compiled based on 5,906,142,701 units of Champion REIT in issue as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors of the Trustee-Manager and the Company were 
taken to be interested or deemed to have any other interests or short positions in Share Stapled Units, underlying Share 
Stapled Units or debentures of the Trust and the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning 
of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Trustee-Manager, the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO and the Model Code, or which were recorded in the register required 
under Section 352 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING 
BUSINESSES
The interests of Directors (other than Independent Non-
executive Directors) in a business apart from the business 
of the Trust Group which competes or is likely to compete 
either directly or indirectly with the Trust Group’s business 
as informed by the relevant Directors pursuant to Rule 
8.10(2) of the Listing Rules are as follows:

Dr. Lo Ka Shui, being the Chairman and Non-executive 
Director of the Trustee-Manager and the Company, Mr. Lo 
Chun Him, Alexander and Mr. Lo Chun Lai, Andrew, both 
being the Non-executive Directors the Trustee-Manager 
and the Company and Mr. Brett Stephen Butcher, being 
the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the 
Trustee-Manager and the Company, hold directorships 
and/or senior management positions in Great Eagle and/or 
subsidiary(ies) of Great Eagle.

Great Eagle Group, as an associated corporation of the 
Trust and the Company and a controlling Holder of Share 
Stapled Units, develops, invests in and manages high 
quality offices, retail, residential, furnished apartments, 
hotel properties and restaurants in Asia, Australia, New 
Zealand, North America and Europe. The interests of 
Dr. Lo Ka Shui, Mr. Lo Chun Him, Alexander, Mr. Lo 
Chun Lai, Andrew and Mr. Brett Stephen Butcher held in 
Great Eagle are disclosed in the section headed “Long 
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of Associated 
Corporations”.

As mentioned in the Corporate Governance Report under 
the section headed “Business Relationship with Great 
Eagle”, Great Eagle Group and the Trust Group have 
distinct business focuses of their own and adopt different 
development strategy. While the existing properties of the 
Trust Group are situated in Hong Kong where the Great 
Eagle Group maintains no similar business operations, to 
further maintain a clear delineation of the geographical 
location of their hotel properties in and outside Asia, Great 
Eagle ROFR Deed was entered into between Great Eagle 
and the Company to ensure the Trust Group would have 
the first right to participate and to acquire completed 
stand-alone hotels in Asia (excluding Australia and New 
Zealand) should Great Eagle Group wish to sell or is given 
the opportunity to invest in these hotels.

As for daily operation, the Executive Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company is primarily responsible for the overall day-to-
day management of the Group and has oversight of the 
performance of the Master Lessee and the Hotel Manager. 
The management team and staff of the Group report 
directly to the Executive Director and Chief Executive 
Officer and he is accountable to the Trustee-Manager 
Board and Company Board, operates and manages 
the Trust Group under various corporate governance 
measures and the Schedule of Matters Reserved for the 
Board with due care and in the best interest of the Trust 
Group and Unitholders.

In addition, the Trust Group has established various 
corporate governance measures to address any potential 
conflict of interest of the common Directors of the Trust 
Group and the Great Eagle Group. For details, please refer 
to the Corporate Governance Report.

In view of the above, the Directors believe that the Trust 
Group is able to operate independently with the Great 
Eagle Group and has been capable of carrying on its 
businesses at arm’s length from the businesses of Great 
Eagle Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS 
OF SIGNIFICANCE
Details of the connected transactions and continuing 
connected transactions are set out in this report and 
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Save 
for the above, no contracts of significance to which the 
Trustee-Manager, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, 
substantial Unitholders, holding company or fellow 
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the 
Trustee-Manager and the Company or his/her connected 
entity had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 
during the year.

MANAGEMENT AND/OR 
ADMINISTRATION CONTRACT
On 10 May 2013 (date of listing), the Company and Great 
Eagle entered into an Administrative Support Services 
Agreement pursuant to which Great Eagle Group provides 
certain administrative and non-management services 
to the Trust Group, including but not limited to legal and 
corporate secretarial support, finance, accounting and 
taxation support, human resources support, information 
technology support, internal audit support and general 
office administrative support on a cost-sharing basis for an 
initial term of 3 years and shall be automatically renewed 
for a further term of 3 years each upon expiration of any 
such term, subject to compliance with the applicable 
disclosure and reporting requirements under the Listing 
Rules. The sharing of the above administrative services is 
an exempted connected transaction under Rule 14A.98 of 
the Listing Rules.

Great Eagle is a controlling Holder of Share Stapled Units 
of the Trust and the Company. Dr. Lo Ka Shui, being the 
Chairman and Non-executive Director of the Trustee-
Manager and the Company, is a substantial Shareholder, 
the Chairman and Managing Director of Great Eagle. 
Mr. Lo Chun Him, Alexander, being a Non-executive 
Director of the Trustee-Manager and the Company, is an 
Executive Director of Great Eagle. Details of the interests 
and shareholdings of Dr. Lo Ka Shui and Mr. Lo Chun Him, 
Alexnader in Great Eagle are disclosed in the sections 
headed “Directors’ Interest in Competing Businesses” 
and “Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of 
Associated Corporations”.

Saved as disclosed above, no contracts concerning the 
management and administration of the whole or any 
substantial part of the business of the Trustee-Manager or 
the Company were entered into or existing during the year.

DISCLOSURE OF CONNECTED 
TRANSACTION AND/OR  
CONTINUING CONNECTED 
TRANSACTIONS PURSUANT TO 
CHAPTER 14A OF  
THE LISTING RULES
Continuing Connected Transactions subject to 
Waivers granted by the Stock Exchange
As disclosed in the initial public offering prospectus dated 
16 May 2013, agreements in relation to the continuing 
connected transactions as set out in paragraphs 1 to 4 
below were entered prior to the listing of the Trust and 
the Company and waivers by the Stock Exchange from 
strict compliance with, if applicable, the announcement 
and approval of independent Holders of Share Stapled 
Units requirements of the Listing Rules had been granted. 
Principal details and conditions of the waivers are 
disclosed in the latter section headed “Waivers”.
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Aggregate 
Transaction Amount 

for the year ended
31 December 2020

(HK$’000)

1. Master Lease Agreements (a)

– Base Rent 225,000

– Variable Rent (b) –

2. Hotel Management Agreements (a)(b)(c)

– Base fee 8,818

– Incentive fee 1,196

3. Centralized Services and Marketing Agreements (a)(b)

– Reimbursement of Cost (d) 5,209

– Global Marketing Fee 2,766

– Reservation fees (d) 1,534

4. Trademark Licence Agreements (a)(b)(c) 5,879

Notes:

(a)	 Obtained waiver from the requirements of making announcement and/or obtaining independent Holders of Share Stapled Units’ approval.

(b)	 Obtained waiver from the requirement to set a monetary cap.

(c)	 Obtained approval from independent Holders of Share Stapled Units to settle the fees payable for the three financial years ended 31 December 2020 
in the form of Share Stapled Units subject to the election of the Hotel Manager.

(d)	 Reimbursement of Costs and Reservation fees are included in the operating expenses of the Hotels.
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1.	 Master Lease Agreements – three separate lease 
agreements each dated 10 May 2013 entered into 
between each of the Hotel Companies as the Lessors 
and GE (LHIL) Lessee Limited as the Master Lessee. 
The Master Lessee, being an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Great Eagle, which is a controlling 
Holder of Share Stapled Units of the Trust and the 
Company, is a connected person of the Trust and the 
Company under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Master Lease Agreements, each of 
the Lessors has agreed to lease the hotel owned 
by it (excluding three retail outlets at Eaton HK) 
to the Master Lessee for a term of 14 years from 
and including 30 May 2013 (date of listing) and 
shall, subject to the compliance with the relevant 
requirements of the Listing Rules by the Company, 
be renewable by mutual agreement of the parties. 
The Master Lessee assumes all responsibilities as 
“owner” under the Hotel Management Agreements 
and bears all operating expenses in respect 
of the Hotels (other than payment of the Hotel 
Management Fees, the License Fee, the Global 
Marketing Fee, etc), and delegates the management 
and operations obligations to the Hotel Manager 
of the respective Hotels on terms of the Hotel 
Management Agreements.

Under the Master Lease Agreements, the Master 
Lessee has agreed to pay the Lessors an aggregate 
fixed base rent of HK$225 million per annum (pro rata 
for any period of less than one year) and a variable 
rent for the whole term. Until 31 December 2019, the 
variable rent was calculated on the basis of 70% of 
the Hotels’ aggregate gross operating profit before 
deduction of the Global Marketing Fee payable by 
each of the Hotel Companies.

The basis for calculating the amount of Variable Rent 
payable only applied until 31 December 2019 and 
thereafter the Variable Rent will be calculated on a 
basis to be determined by an independent property 
valuer, to be appointed by the Company. In 2019, 
the Company appointed an independent property 
valuer, Vigers, acting as an expert and not as an 
arbitrator, to conduct a rental review to determine 
the market rental package of the Hotels (including 
the market rent of the Hotels and the applicable 
percentage of the Variable Rent) for the period from 
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2023.

Based on the Rental Review of the Valuer in 
accordance with the provisions in the Master Lease 
Agreements, the Valuer determines that the market 
rental package for the Hotels for the period from 
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2023 is comprised 
of (i) a Base Rent being fixed at HK$225 million 
per annum under the Master Lease Agreements, 
and (ii) a Variable Rent being 70% to the Hotels’ 
aggregate Gross Operating Profit before deduction 
of the Global Marketing Fees payable by each 
of the Hotel Companies on an annual basis as 
determined by Vigers. The market rental package of 
the Hotels for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 
December 2023 is the same as the one of the last 
period ended 31 December 2019. Under the Master 
Lease Agreements, a further rental review will be 
performed for the period from 1 January 2024 for the 
remaining term of the Master Lease Agreements. 
In the event that the independent property valuer 
determines that the Variable Rent payable under 
the Master Lease Agreements for such periods 
shall be calculated on the basis of less than 70% of 
the Hotels’ aggregate Gross Operating Profit before 
deduction of the Global Marketing Fee payable, 
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the Company shall re-comply with the reporting 
announcement and independent shareholders’ 
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules in respect of Master Lease Agreements.

An annual cap in respect of the base rent payable by 
the Master Lessee to the Lessors under the Master 
Lease Agreements is HK$225 million. The cap for the 
variable rent under the Master Lease Agreements 
is determined by reference to the formulae for 
determining the variable rent.

2.	 Hotel Management Agreements  –  three 
separate hotel management agreements each 
dated 10 May 2013 entered into among each Hotel 
Company, the Master Lessee, Langham Hotels 
International Limited as the Hotel Manager, the 
Trustee-Manager and the Company. As the Hotel 
Manager and the Master Lessee are both indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Great Eagle which is a 
controlling Holder of Share Stapled Units of the Trust 
and the Company, they are connected persons of 
the Trust and the Company under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Hotel Management Agreements, 
the Master Lessee has agreed to engage the Hotel 
Manager as the sole and exclusive manager of 
the Hotels to supervise, direct and control the 
businesses and day-to-day operations of the Hotels 
in accordance with agreed standards of the relevant 
Hotel and to formulate and manage the annual 
plan and budget for each Hotel for an initial term 
of 30 years from and including 30 May 2013 (the 
date of listing) and may, subject to compliance with 
the relevant Listing Rules at the relevant time, be 
renewed for a further term of 10 years by notice at 
the election of the Hotel Manager. Thereafter, the 

Hotel Management Agreements may be renewed for 
successive 10-year terms by mutual agreement of 
the parties subject to compliance with the relevant 
Listing Rules requirements at the relevant time. The 
service fee payable to the Hotel Manager under the 
Hotel Management Agreements shall be linked to 
the operating profit and revenue of the Hotels on the 
following basis:

•	 Base Fee: a fixed percentage of 1.5% of total 
revenue of the relevant Hotel.

•	 Incentive Fee: a fixed percentage of 5% of 
the adjusted gross operating profit (being 
gross operating profit less the base fee (as 
mentioned above) and Licence Fee payable 
under the relevant Trademark Licence 
Agreement).

The cap for the fees payable under the Hotel 
Management Agreements is determined by 
reference to the formulae for determining the 
fees payable pursuant to the Hotel Management 
Agreements as described above.

3.	 C e n t r a l i z e d  S e r v i c e s  a n d  M a r k e t i n g 
Agreements – three separate centralized services 
and marketing agreements each dated 10 May 
2013 entered into among each Hotel Company, the 
Master Lessee, Langham Hotels Services Limited as 
the Service Provider, the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company. As the Master Lessee and the Service 
Provider are both indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries 
of Great Eagle which is a controlling Holder of Share 
Stapled Units of the Trust and the Company, they are 
connected persons of the Trust and the Company 
under the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to the Centralized Services and Marketing 
Agreements, the Service Provider has agreed to 
provide global marketing and advertising services, 
centralized reservations services and certain hotel 
specific services of each Hotel for an initial term of 
30 years from and including 30 May 2013 (the date 
of listing) and may, subject to compliance with the 
relevant Listing Rules requirements at the relevant 
time, be renewed for a term of 10 years by notice at 
the election of the Service Provider. Thereafter, the 
Centralized Services and Marketing Agreements may 
be renewed for successive 10-year terms by mutual 
agreement of the parties subject to compliance 
with the relevant Listing Rules requirements at the 
relevant time. Each of the Centralized Services and 
Marketing Agreements shall be co-terminous with 
the Hotel Management Agreement for the same 
Hotel. The fee and other amounts payable to the 
Service Provider under each Centralized Services 
and Marketing Agreement shall be determined on 
the following basis:

•	 Reimbursement of Costs: at cost to be paid by 
the Master Lessee as an operating expense of 
the Hotels.

•	 Global Marketing Fee: a fixed percentage of 2% 
of the total room revenue of the relevant Hotel 
to be paid by each Hotel Company.

•	 Reservation Fees: a fixed US$ amount and 
percentage of revenue for each materialized 
reservation, depending on means through 
which reservation is made, to be paid by the 
Master Lessee as an operating expense of the 
Hotels.

The annual caps for the Global Marketing Fee 
payable under the Centralized Services and 
Marketing Agreements are determined by reference 

to the formula for determining the Global Marketing 
Fee payable pursuant to the Centralized Services 
and Marketing Agreements as described above.

4.	 Trademark Licence Agreements – three separate 
trademark licence agreements each dated 10 May 
2013 entered into among each Hotel Company, the 
Hotel Manager as the Licensor, the Master Lessee, 
the Trustee-Manager and the Company.

Pursuant to the Trademark Licence Agreements, the 
Licensor has agreed to grant non-exclusive and non-
transferable licences to the relevant Hotel Company, 
the Trustee-Manager, the Company and the Master 
Lessee to use the Langham brands for branding 
and marketing activities relating to the Hotels and/
or for describing the ownership of the Hotels for an 
initial term of 30 years from and including 30 May 
2013 (date of listing) and may, subject to compliance 
with the relevant Listing Rules requirements at the 
relevant time, be renewed for a term of 10 years 
by notice at the election of the Hotel Manager. 
Thereafter, the Trademark Licence Agreements may 
be renewed for successive 10-year terms by mutual 
agreement of the parties subject to compliance 
with the relevant Listing Rules requirements at 
the relevant time. Each of the Trademark Licence 
Agreements shall be coterminous with the Hotel 
Management Agreement for the same Hotel. The 
Licence Fee payable to the Hotel Manager by each 
Hotel Company under the Trademark Licence 
Agreements shall be 1% of the total revenue of the 
relevant Hotel.

The cap for the Licence Fee payable under the 
Trademark Licence Agreements is determined by 
reference to the formula for determining the Licence 
Fee payable pursuant to the Trademark Licence 
Agreements as described above.
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Waivers
Requirements to obtain approval of independent 
Holders of Share Stapled Units and make 
announcements
The transactions described in paragraphs 1 to 4 above 
constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions 
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and normally 
are required to be announced, reported on, subject to 
annual review and approved by independent Unitholders. 
Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules also requires that the 
period for the agreement in respect of non-exempt 
continuing connected transactions must be fixed and, 
except in special circumstances, must not exceed 3 years.

The Trustee-Manager and the Company applied for, and 
the Stock Exchange granted to the Trustee-Manager 
and the Company, a waiver from strict compliance with 
the announcement and, if applicable, the approval of 
independent Unitholders requirements of the Listing Rules 
in respect of each of the above non-exempt continuing 
connected transactions for the entire duration of each of 
those transactions, other than, in the case of the Hotel 
Management Agreements and the Trademark Licence 
Agreements, the payment of fees payable by way of Share 
Stapled Units, which shall only be subject to a waiver 
until 31 December 2017 (but the payment of fees in cash 
shall be subject to a waiver for the duration of the Hotel 
Management Agreements and the Trademark Licence 
Agreements).

From 1 January 2018 onwards, the fees shall be settled 
by way of cash, the issue of Share Stapled Units, or a 
combination or both, at the election of the Hotel Manager. 
The Hotel Manager is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Great 
Eagle and Great Eagle is the controlling Holders of Share 
Stapled Units of the Trust and the Company. The Hotel 
Manager is therefore a connected person of the Trust and 
the Company under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 
13.36(1) of the Listing Rules, in respect of the issue of the 
Share Stapled Units to the Hotel Manager for payment of 
the Manager Fees, approval from the independent Holders 
of Share Stapled Units shall be required.

An ordinary resolution to grant a specific mandate relating 
to the issue of Share Stapled Units as payment of the 
Manager Fees under the Hotel Management Agreements 
and the Trademark Licence Agreements for the three 
financial years ended 31 December 2020 was approved 
by independent Holders of Share Stapled Units. For details 
of the special mandate, please refer to the circular to 
the Holders of Share Stapled Units dated 9 March 2018. 
As disclosed in the announcement of Langham dated 
15 December 2020, the Hotel Manager has elected the 
payment of the Manager Fees wholly by way of Share 
Stapled Units for the year ending 31 December 2021. 
The Trust and the Company have proposed to seek the 
approval of independent Holders of Share Stapled Units 
in relation to a specific mandate to issue Share Stapled 
Units as payment of the Manager Fees under the Hotel 
Management Agreements and the Trademark Licence 
Agreements at the extraordinary general meeting of 
the Trust and the Company to be held on 12 May 2021 
immediately after the 2021 AGM. In the event that the 
specific mandate is not approved by the independent 
Holders of Share Stapled Units, the Trust Group will have to 
settle the upcoming Manager Fees wholly by way of cash 
but not by way of issue of Share Stapled Units.

Requirement to set a monetary cap
The Trustee-Manager and the Company also applied 
for, and the Stock Exchange granted to the Trustee-
Manager and the Company, a waiver from the setting of 
a monetary cap for the variable rent payable under the 
Master Lease Agreements and the fees payable under the 
Hotel Management Agreements, the Centralised Services 
and Marketing Agreements and the Trademark Licence 
Agreements for the duration of these agreements more 
particularly set out in the description of these transactions 
in paragraphs 1 to 4 above.

Compliance with Rule 13.36(1)(a) of the Listing 
Rules
Note (1) to Rule 13.36(2)(b) of the Listing Rules provides 
further that independent shareholders’ approval shall be 
obtained for an issue of securities to a connected person 
pursuant to a general mandate given to the directors of an 
issuer by the existing shareholders.
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The Trustee-Manager and the Company applied for, and 
the Stock Exchange granted to the Trustee-Manager and 
the Company, a waiver from strict compliance with Rule 
13.36(1)(a) of the Listing Rules in respect of the Share 
Stapled Units that may be issued to the Hotel Manager 
pursuant to the Hotel Management Agreements and the 
Trademark Licence Agreements, during the period from 
the Listing Date until 31 December 2017.

Further details and the conditions of the waivers are 
disclosed in the initial public offering prospectus.

From 1 January 2018 onwards, the fees shall be settled 
by way of cash, the issue of Share Stapled Units, or a 
combination of both, at the election of the Hotel Manager, 
subject to the approval of the independent Holders of 
Share Stapled Units for the issue of the Share Stapled 
Units. As disclosed in the announcement of Langham 
dated 15 December 2020, the Hotel Manager has elected 
the payment of the Manager Fees wholly by way of Share 
Stapled Units for the year ending 31 December 2021.

Pursuant to Rule 13.36(1) of the Listing Rules, in respect of 
the issue of the Share Stapled Units to the Hotel Manager 
for payment of the Manager Fees, approval from the 
independent Holders of Share Stapled Units shall be 
required.

Review of Connected Transactions
The Internal Audit Department has conducted review 
on the connected transactions, including continuing 
connected transactions, of the Trust Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2020. It has confirmed to the Trustee-
Manager Board and the Company Board that adequate 
and effective policies and procedures on checking, 
identifying, recording, monitoring and reporting connected 
transactions are in place and have been properly complied 
with during the year. Connected transactions are subject 
to the approval of the full Board as provided under the 
Schedule of Matters Reserved for the Board. Continuing 
connected transactions are reported monthly and 
reviewed by the Audit Committee half yearly.

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the 
Directors (including the Independent Non-executive 
Directors) of the Trustee-Manager and the Company have 
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions for 
the period ended 31 December 2020 and confirmed they 
have been entered into:

(1)	 in the ordinary and usual course of business of the 
Company;

(2)	 on normal commercial terms or on terms no less 
favourable to the Trust Group than terms available to 
or obtained from the independent third parties; and

(3)	 in accordance with the relevant agreements 
governing them on terms that are fa ir  and 
reasonable and in the interests of the Holders of 
Share Stapled Units as a whole.

The external auditor of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company was engaged to report on the above continuing 
connected transactions of the Trust Group in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with 
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on 
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong 
Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The auditor has issued 
its unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions 
in respect of the continuing connected transactions 
disclosed above by the Trust Group in accordance with 
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s 
letter has been provided by the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Trustee-Manager Board has also confirmed that the 
charges paid or payable out of the Trust Property (as 
defined in the Trust Deed) of the Trust to the Trustee-
Manager are in accordance with the Trust Deed; and they 
are not aware of any violation of duties of the Trustee-
Manager which would have a materially adverse effect 
on the business of the Trust or on the interests of all the 
Holders of Share Stapled Units as a whole.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL HOLDERS’ OF SHARE STAPLED UNITS
As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of 
the Trustee-Manager and the Company) in the Share Stapled Units or underlying Share Staple Units of the Trust and the 
Company which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were 
recorded in the register required under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO as having an interest in 5% or more of the issued 
Share Stapled Units of the Trust and the Company are as follows:

Name
Total Number of SSUs/
Underlying SSUs Held

Percentage of 
Issued SSUs(3)

Great Eagle Holdings Limited 2,233,136,660(1) 69.24

LHIL Assets Holdings Limited 2,093,032,160 64.90

HSBC International Trustee Limited 2,228,707,160(2) 69.10

Notes:

(1)	 These 2,233,136,660 Share Stapled Units were indirectly held by Great Eagle through its wholly-owned subsidiaries in the following manner:

(i)	 the same parcel of Share Stapled Units held by LHIL Assets Holdings Limited as disclosed in the above table;

(ii)	 87,894,750 Share Stapled Units held by Fine Noble Limited;

(iii)	 8,947,500 Share Stapled Units held by Great Eagle Nichemusic Limited; and

(iv)	 43,262,250 Share Stapled Units held by The Great Eagle Company, Limited.

(2)	 The disclosure was based on the latest Disclosure of Interest Form (with the date of relevant event as 14 September 2020) received from HSBC 
International Trustee Limited (“HITL”). HITL in its capacity as a trustee of a discretionary trust held 33.64% interests in Great Eagle as at 31 December 
2020.

(3)	 This percentage has been compiled based on 3,225,166,738 Share Stapled Units of the Trust and the Company in issue as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no person (other than Directors of the Trustee-Manager and the 
Company whose interests are set out on page 79) was interested (or deemed to be interested) or held any short position 
in the Share Stapled Units or underlying Share Stapled Units of the Trust and the Company which would fall to be disclosed 
to the Trustee-Manager and the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part X of the SFO, or which were 
recorded in the register required under Section 336 of the SFO.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the 
Company’s Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands 
which would oblige the Company to offer new Share 
Stapled Units on a pro-rata basis to existing Holder of 
Share Stapled Units.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the combined 
value of the Trust Group’s contracts with its five largest 
suppliers, which were not of a capital nature, was about 
42.7% of the total value of supplies purchased. Purchase 
from the largest supplier was 23.3%. Among these 
five largest suppliers, three of them are wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of Great Eagle, a substantial Unitholder which 
indirectly owned 69.24% interest in the Trust and the 
Company as at 31 December 2020.

Total rental income under the adoption of HKFRS15 of 
the Trust Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 
amounted to HK$208,256,000, 99.1% of which were 
derived from the leases of the Hotels to the Master Lessee, 
GE (LHIL) Lessee Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Great Eagle and no more than 1% of the rental income was 
received from lease of retail shops at Eaton HK. Breakdown 
of the revenue is set out in note 6 to the consolidated 
financial statements of the Trust Group contained in this 
Annual Report.

The business relationship with Great Eagle and the 
measures to mitigate the potential conflicts of interest 
between the Trust Group and Great Eagle are disclosed in 
the Corporate Governance Report.

Save as disclosed above, other suppliers and customers 
are independent third parties and none of the Directors, 
their associates or any Holders of Share Stapled Units 
(which to the knowledge of the Trustee-Manager Board 
and the Company Board own more than 5% of the issued 
Share Stapled Units) has any interest in the Trust Group’s 
suppliers and customers.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the year have 
been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and a 
resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
as auditor of the Trustee-Manager and the Company will 
be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to be held on 12 May 
2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the date of this report, based on information that 
is publicly available and within the knowledge of the 
Directors of the Trustee-Manager and the Company, the 
Trust and the Company maintain a sufficient public float 
with more than 25% of the issued Share Stapled Units 
being held by the public.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Trust, the Trustee-Manager and the Company 
embraced the importance of maintaining and developing 
a high standard of corporate governance practices to 
sustain and protect the interests of Holders of Share 
Stapled Units. Throughout the year ended 31 December 
2020, the Trustee-Manager and the Company have 
complied with all the applicable code provisions, and 
where appropriate, adopted some of the recommended 
best practices as set out in the Corporate Governance 
Code.

Details on the Company’s corporate governance principles 
and practices are set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 44 to 70 of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Corporate Social Responsibility is integral to the Trust 
Group’s business. Our commitment to Corporate 
Social Responsibility stems from a core belief that our 
business will prosper as the community and environment 
around us flourish. A report on Environmental, Social 
and Governance covering the environmental policies 
and performance of and relationships with the key 
stakeholders of the Trust Group is set out on pages 27 to 
43 of this Annual Report. During the reporting period, the 
Trust Group made no charitable and other donations.

On behalf of the boards of
LHIL Manager Limited
(as trustee-manager of the Trust) and
Langham Hospitality Investments Limited

Lo Ka Shui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 9 February 2021
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TO THE HOLDERS OF SHARE STAPLED UNITS OF LANGHAM HOSPITALITY INVESTMENTS AND LANGHAM 
HOSPITALITY INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(Langham Hospitality Investments is a trust constituted under the laws of Hong Kong;
Langham Hospitality Investments Limited is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Langham Hospitality Investments (the “Trust”) and Langham 
Hospitality Investments Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Trust Group”) and 
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 161 (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as “the Trust and the Company’s consolidated financial statements”). As explained in note 2 to the 
Trust and the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the consolidated financial statements of the Trust Group and 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented together. The Trust and the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements together comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Trust Group and of the 
Group as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Trust Group and of the 
Group for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the Trust and the Company’s consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Trust Group and the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of the Trust Group’s 
and the Group’s consolidated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Trust Group and the Group in 
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a 
key audit matter due to significance of the balance to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined 
with significant judgments associated with determining 
the fair value.  As at 31 December 2020, the Trust Group 
and the Group’s investment properties, comprising of The 
Langham, Hong Kong, Cordis, Hong Kong and Eaton HK, 
amounted to HK$14,802 million and represented 98% of 
the Trust Group and the Group’s total assets.  Decrease 
in fair value of investment properties of approximately 
HK$2,722 million was recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for the year then ended.

As disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial 
statements, these investment properties are stated at fair 
value based on a valuation carried out by an independent 
professional property valuer.  In determining the fair value 
of investment properties, the independent professional 
property valuer used an income approach by using 
discounted cash flow analysis for the hotel properties 
based on an analysis of historical data and assumptions 
about future market conditions affecting supply, demand, 
income, expenses and the potential for risk.   Market 
approach was also considered by comparison on a per 
room basis to actual sales transactions and offering 
of comparable properties.  The valuation is dependent 
on certain key inputs that involve management and 
independent professional property valuer’s judgment.  
The key inputs used in valuing the investment properties 
by the independent property valuer include market selling 
price per room, discount rate as adopted in the valuation 
report and average daily rates per room.  A table showing 
the Groups’ (as defined in note 2) sensitivity to the fair 
value measurement is also disclosed in note 18.

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment 
properties included:

•	 Evaluating the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the independent professional property 
valuer; 

•	 Obtaining an understanding from the independent 
professional property valuer about the valuation 
methodology, the performance of the property 
markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical 
judgmental areas on key inputs and data used in the 
valuation;

•	 Assessing the reasonableness of source data used 
in the valuation by benchmarking the assumptions 
to relevant market information on sales prices and 
average daily rates per room achieved in other 
similar properties in the neighbourhood;

•	 Evaluating the reasonableness of the information 
prov ided by management  to  independent 
professional property valuer by comparing with 
average daily rates per room and discount rate for 
valuation of other properties; and

•	 Assessing the integrity of information provided 
by management to the independent professional 
property valuer by comparing details of average 
daily rates per room on a sample basis, to the hotel 
revenue and market data.
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Other Information
The LHIL Manager Limited (the “Trustee-Manager”) and the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible 
for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not 
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Trustee-Manager and the Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
The Trustee-Manager and the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Trustee-Manager and the Directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Trustee-Manager and the Directors are responsible for assessing 
the Trust Group’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustee-Manager and the Directors either 
intend to liquidate the Trust Group and the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Trust Group’s and the Group’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion 
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust 
Group’s and the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Trustee-Manager and the Directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trustee-Manager’s and the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Trust Group’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Trust Group and the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Trust Group and the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our 
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Wong Kuen.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
9 February 2021
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2020 2019
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 6 208,256 483,883
Property related expenses (28,369) (35,584)

    

Net property income 179,887 448,299
Other income 8 1,987 2,438
Decrease in fair value of investment properties 18 (2,722,328) (2,788,441)
Decrease in fair value of derivative financial instruments (90,361) (14,891)
Trust and other expenses (21,255) (13,410)
Finance costs 9 (174,608) (220,233)

    

Loss before tax (2,826,678) (2,586,238)
Income tax expense 10 (6,129) (48,473)

    

Loss and total comprehensive expense  
for the year attributable to holders of  
Share Stapled Units 13 (2,832,807) (2,634,711)

    

(Restated)
Loss per Share Stapled Unit
Basic and diluted 16 (HK112 cents) (HK119 cents)
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2020 2019
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 17 3,484 1,383
Investment properties 18 14,802,000 17,500,000
Derivative financial instruments 19 – 4,645

    

14,805,484 17,506,028
    

Current assets
Debtors, deposits and prepayments 20 15,481 22,144
Derivative financial instrument 19 – 8,142
Restricted bank balance 21 41,000 –
Bank balances 217,613 75,732

    

274,094 106,018
    

Current liabilities
Creditors, deposits and accruals 22 35,643 56,843
Derivative financial instruments 19 5,010 –
Secured bank loans due within one year 23 427,000 352,000
Lease liabilities due within one year 24 1,866 536
Tax payable 41,412 54,375

    

510,931 463,754
    

Net current liabilities (236,837) (357,736)
    

Total assets less current liabilities 14,568,647 17,148,292
    

Non-current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 19 82,208 9,644
Secured bank loans due after one year 23 5,956,916 6,755,666
Lease liabilities due after one year 24 1,689 840
Deferred tax liabilities 25 398,237 392,355

    

6,439,050 7,158,505
    

NET ASSETS 8,129,597 9,989,787
    

Capital and reserves
Issued capital/units 26 3,225 2,136
Reserves 8,126,372 9,987,651

    

TOTAL EQUITY 8,129,597 9,989,787
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 161 and the statement of financial position and reserves of the 
Company on page 144 to 145 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 9 February 2021 and 
are signed on its behalf by:

LO Ka Shui Brett Stephen BUTCHER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Retained
Share-based Property profits

Share Share Other payment revaluation (accumulated
capital/units premium reserve reserve reserve loss) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)

        

At 1 January 2019 2,110 7,716,113 (11,562,543) 699 12,598,157 4,204,080 12,958,616
Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year – – – – – (2,634,711) (2,634,711)
Distribution paid – (408,583) – – – – (408,583)
Recognition of equity-settled 

share based payments – – – 289 – – 289
Issue of Share Stapled Units 

(note 26) 26 74,150 – – – – 74,176
        

At 31 December 2019 2,136 7,381,680 (11,562,543) 988 12,598,157 1,569,369 9,989,787
Loss and total comprehensive 

expense for the year – – – – – (2,832,807) (2,832,807)
Distribution paid – (72,946) – – – – (72,946)
Recognition of equity-settled 

share based payments – – – 167 – – 167
Issue of Share Stapled Units upon 

rights issue of Share Stapled 
Units (note 26) 1,072 1,018,034 – – – – 1,019,106

Issue of Share Stapled Units 
(note 26) 17 26,273 – – – – 26,290

        

At 31 December 2020 3,225 8,353,041 (11,562,543) 1,155 12,598,157 (1,263,438) 8,129,597
        

Notes:

(a)	 Under the Cayman Islands Companies Law, the share premium of the Company is available for distribution.

(b)	 Pursuant to a group reorganisation in May 2013, certain businesses were transferred to the Groups (as defined in note 2). Other reserve represents 
the difference between the considerations of the transfers and the share capital of the businesses as of the date of the transfer.

(c)	 Property revaluation reserve represents the revaluation gain arising from transfer from property, plant and equipment to investment properties 
which amounted to the difference between the fair value of the investment properties and the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment 
at the date of transfer.
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2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Operating activities
Loss before tax (2,826,678) (2,586,238)
Adjustments for:

Hotel management fees and licence fee payable in
form of Share Stapled Units 15,893 54,651

Decrease in fair value of derivative financial instruments 90,361 14,891
Decrease in fair value of investment properties 2,722,328 2,788,441
Interest expense 162,533 190,393
Interest income (545) (86)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 1,878 6
Loan front-end fee amortisation 11,250 26,069
Recognition of share-based payments 167 289

   

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 177,187 488,416
Decrease in debtors, deposits and prepayments 6,710 53,207
Increase in creditors, deposits and accruals 8,047 335

   

Cash generated from operations 191,944 541,958
Interest paid (166,292) (184,727)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (13,210) (172)

   

Net cash from operating activities 12,442 357,059
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2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Investing activities
Additions of investment properties (39,264) (101,716)
Interest received 498 86
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 5
Placement of restricted bank balance (41,000) –
Additions of property, plant and equipment (26) –

   

Net cash used in investing activities (79,792) (101,625)
   

Financing activities
Repayment of bank loans (810,000) (7,340,000)
Additions of bank loans 75,000 7,527,000
Distribution paid (72,946) (408,583)
Issue of Share Stapled Units upon rights issue 1,019,106 –
Repayment of lease liabilities (1,774) –
Interest paid for leases (155) –
Payment for loan front-end fee – (45,000)

   

Net cash from (used in) financing activities 209,231 (266,583)
   

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 141,881 (11,149)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 75,732 86,881
   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year,
represented by bank balances 217,613 75,732
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION
Langham Hospitality Investments (the “Trust”) is constituted by a Hong Kong law governed trust deed and as 
supplemented, amended or substituted from time to time (the “Trust Deed”), entered into between LHIL Manager 
Limited (the “Trustee-Manager”, in its capacity as the trustee-manager of the Trust) and Langham Hospitality 
Investments Limited (the “Company”). The Company is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited 
liability. The share stapled units (“Share Stapled Units”) structure comprises: (a) a unit in the Trust; (b) a beneficial 
interest in a specifically identified ordinary share in the Company which is linked to the unit in the Trust and held by 
the Trustee-Manager as legal owner in its capacity as trustee-manager of the Trust; and (c) a specifically identified 
preference share in the Company which is “stapled” to the unit in the Trust. The Share Stapled Units were listed 
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 30 May 2013. The 
Company’s parent company is LHIL Assets Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British 
Virgin Islands. The Trustee-Manager and the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider the Trust’s and the 
Company’s ultimate holding company to be Great Eagle Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated 
in Bermuda with its shares listed on the Stock Exchange. The addresses of the registered offices of the Trustee-
Manager and of the Company and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate 
information section to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activity of the Trust Group (as defined in note 
2 below) is property investment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar, which is also the functional currency of 
the Company.

2.	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In accordance with the Trust Deed, the Trust and the Company are each required to prepare their own sets of 
financial statements on a consolidated basis. The Trust’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2020 comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Trust, the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Trust Group”). The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2020 comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group”).

The unitholders of the Trust have beneficial interest in the ordinary shares of the Company and the sole activity of 
the Trust during the year ended 31 December 2020 was investment in the Company. Therefore, the consolidated 
results and financial position that would be presented in the consolidated financial statements of the Trust Group 
are identical to the consolidated financial statements of the Group with the differences being disclosures of capital. 
The Trustee-Manager and the Directors believe therefore that it is clearer to present the consolidated financial 
statements of the Trust Group and the Group together. The consolidated financial statements of the Trust Group 
and the consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented together to the extent they are identical and 
are hereinafter referred as “the Trust and the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements”.
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2.	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial 
position, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows, significant accounting 
policies and the related explanatory information are identical to the Trust Group and the Group.

The Trust Group and the Group are referred as the “Groups”.

3.	 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Groups have applied the “Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in 
HKFRS Standards” and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1  
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The application of the “Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards” and the 
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Groups’ consolidated financial positions 
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial 
statements.
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3.	 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Groups have not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments1

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions4

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, 
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 25

Amendments to HKFRS 10  
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related 
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)1

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use2

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract2

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 20202

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

5	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related 
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)”
The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at 
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

•	 specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights that are in 
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

i.	 the classification should not be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the 
liabilities within 12 months; and

ii.	 if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at 
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a later date; and
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3.	 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related 
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (continued)
•	 clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the 

transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial 
Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the 
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

The Groups will further assess whether application of the amendments will have an impact on the classification 
of the Groups’ secured bank loans. The impacts on application, if any, will be disclosed in the Groups’ future 
consolidated financial statements.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned above, the Trustee-Manager and the Directors anticipate that the 
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements in the foreseeable future.

4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
4.1	 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. 
For the purpose of preparation to the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material 
if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the 
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis because the Trustee-
Manager and the Directors are of the opinion that the Groups will have adequate sources of funding to meet 
in full its financial obligations, after taking into account the continuous cash flows generated from operating 
activities and the expected rollover of secured revolving loans amounting to HK$427,000,000 which are 
revolving on a monthly basis with details disclosed in note 23.

The operating performance of The Langham, Hong Kong, Cordis, Hong Kong and Eaton HK (the “Hotels”) has 
declined significantly amid the Covid-19 pandemic. While the Groups continue to receive the fixed base rent 
from the GE (LHIL) Lessee Limited (“Master Lessee”), the weaker underlying performance of the Hotels has 
led to aggregate gross operating loss before deduction of global marketing fee and in turn zero variable rent 
receivable by the Groups. In addition, there is a negative impact on the valuation of the Groups’ investment 
properties. As such, the consolidated results of operations, cash flows of the Groups and fair value of the 
investment properties were significantly impacted.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.1	 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment 
properties and derivative financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting 
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods or 
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a 
liability, the Groups take into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would 
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value 
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on 
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based 
Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”), 
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value 
in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance 
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Trust and of the Company 
and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Groups reassess whether or not they control an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Groups obtain control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Groups lose control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income from the date the Groups gain control until the date when the Groups cease to control the subsidiary.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Groups are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Groups recognise revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the 
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a 
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

•	 the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Groups’ performance 
as the Groups perform;

•	 the Groups’ performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Groups 
perform; or

•	 the Groups’ performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Groups and the Groups 
have an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or 
service.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Groups determine whether 
the nature of the Groups’ promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services 
themselves (i.e. the Groups are principals) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the 
other party (i.e. the Groups are agents).

The Groups are principals if the Groups control the specified good or service before that good or service is 
transferred to a customer.

The Groups are agents if the Groups’ performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified 
good or service by another party. In this case, the Groups do not control the specified good or service 
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Groups act as 
agents, the Groups recognise revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which the Groups expect to 
be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment including furniture and fixtures held for use in the supply of services, or for 
administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, 
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of 
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude 
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for 
a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application or arising from business 
combinations, the Groups assess whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under 
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be 
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Groups as lessee
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

•	 any initial direct costs incurred by the Groups; and

•	 an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Groups in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the 
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the 
lease term.

The Groups present right-of-use assets in “property, plant and equipment”, the same line item within which 
the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Groups as lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Groups recognise and measures the lease liability at the present 
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the 
Groups use the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

•	 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

•	 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as 
at the commencement date;

•	 amounts expected to be payable by the Groups under residual value guarantees;

•	 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Groups are reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

•	 payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Groups exercising an option 
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Groups remeasure lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
assets) whenever:

•	 the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in 
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

•	 the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent review, in 
which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using 
the initial discount rate.

The Groups present lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Groups as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases
Leases for which the Groups are lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of 
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the 
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income 
when they arise.

Rental income which is derived from the Groups’ ordinary course of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the Groups apply HKFRS 15 “Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease 
components. Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the basis of their relative 
stand-alone selling prices.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than 
the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use 
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as and included in finance costs in profit or loss in the period in 
which they are incurred.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at fair 
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into 
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
based on the Groups’ estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase 
in equity (share-based payment reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Groups revise their estimates of the number of equity instruments 
that are expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of 
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense 
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share-based payment reserve 
will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after vesting period or are still 
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based payment reserve will be 
transferred to retained profits/accumulated loss.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged as an expense when employees have 
rendered the service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be 
paid as and when employees rendered the service. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an 
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised in respect for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual 
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from the loss before tax 
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable 
or deductible. The Groups’ liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Groups are able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from 
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Groups expect, at the 
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured using the fair value 
model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless 
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and 
is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits 
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Groups recognise the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Groups first determine whether the tax deductions are 
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Groups apply 
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating 
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-
use assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible 
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by 
the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market 
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of 
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is presented as other income.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; 
and

•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.

For financial assets at amortised cost, interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for 
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of 
the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument 
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting 
period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 “Financial 
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”)
The Groups perform impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets 
(including other receivables, restricted bank balance and bank balances), and other items (receivable from 
Master Lessee and lease receivable) which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The 
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of 
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL 
that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 
Assessments are done based on the Groups’ historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the 
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Groups always recognise lifetime ECL for receivable from Master Lessee and lease receivable. The ECL on 
receivable from Master Lessee and lease receivable are assessed individually.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
For other receivables, restricted bank balance and bank balances, the Groups measure the loss allowance 
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in 
which case the Groups recognise lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised 
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Groups 
compare the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the 
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this 
assessment, the Groups consider both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

•	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in 
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

•	 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

•	 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Groups presume that the credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, unless the Groups have reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Groups assume that the credit risk on other receivables, restricted bank 
balance and bank balances has not increased significantly since initial recognition if other receivables, 
restricted bank balance and bank balances are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date 
when they have an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood 
definitions.

The Groups regularly monitor the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable 
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii)	 Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Groups consider an event of default occurs when information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 
creditors, including the Groups, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Groups).

Irrespective of the above, the Groups consider that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Groups have reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate 
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii)	 Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset 
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider;

(d)	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 
or

(e)	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(iv)	 Write-off policy

The Groups write off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is 
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the 
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial 
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Groups’ recovery procedures, 
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any 
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)	 Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude 
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL 
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of 
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Groups in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Groups expect to receive, discounted at the 
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used 
for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in 
accordance with HKFRS 16.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the 
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost 
of the financial asset.

The Groups recognise an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments and other 
items by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of receivable from Master Lessee and lease 
receivable where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account, if any.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Groups derecognise a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire. On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.2	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Trust and the Company are recognised at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade creditors, other payables, construction fee payables and secured bank 
loans) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Groups derecognise financial liabilities when, and only when, the Groups’ obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts are entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss.

5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Groups’ accounting policies, which are described in note 4, the Trustee-Manager and the 
Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that the Trustee-Manager and the 
Directors have made in the process of applying the Groups’ accounting policies and that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties
For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from investment properties that are measured using the 
fair value model, the Trustee-Manager and the Directors have reviewed the Groups’ investment property portfolios 
and concluded that the Groups’ investment properties are not held under a business model whose objective is 
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time. One of 
the business objectives of the Groups is to enhance the value of hotel portfolios, therefore, in determining the 
Groups’ deferred taxation on investment properties, the Trustee-Manager and the Directors have determined that 
the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value model are 
recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Groups have not recognised any deferred taxation 
on changes in fair value of investment properties as the Groups are not subject to any income taxes on disposal of 
the investment properties.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties
Investment properties are stated at fair value of HK$14,802,000,000 (2019: HK$17,500,000,000) based on the 
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer.

In determining the fair value of investment properties situated in Hong Kong, the valuer adopted income approach 
by using discounted cash flow analysis for the hotel properties which is an analysis of historical data and 
assumptions about future market conditions affecting supply, demand, income, expenses and the potential of risk. 
Market approach was also considered by using comparison method which is based on a per room basis to actual 
sales transactions and offering of comparable properties.

In relying on the valuation report, the Trustee-Manager and the Directors have exercised their judgments and are 
satisfied that the methods of valuation, assumptions and key inputs are reflective of the current market conditions 
taking into consideration the impact of Covid-19. The Groups use valuation techniques that include inputs that are 
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of investment properties. Note 18 provides detailed 
information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value 
of investment properties.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Derivative financial instruments
In addition, as described in note 29, the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in active 
market is provided by the counterparty financial institutions and determined by using discounted cash flow method. 
Valuation technique commonly used by market practitioners is applied. Derivative financial instruments are valued 
using a discounted cash flow analysis based on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable market 
prices or rates.

In relying on the valuation provided by the financial institutions, the Trustee-Manager and the Directors have 
exercised their judgment and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the current market 
conditions.

Note 29 provides detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the 
determination of the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

6.	 REVENUE
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Rental income from Master Lessee (Note)   
Base rent 225,000 225,000
Variable rent – 325,420
Service fees expenses (18,659) (68,196)

   

206,341 482,224
Rental income from retail shops in Eaton HK 1,915 1,659

   

208,256 483,883
   

Note:	 Included in rental income from Master Lessee, service fees income of HK$18,659,000 (2019: HK$68,196,000) has been netted with the same 
amount of the corresponding service fees expenses. Details are set out in note 36(a).
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Groups’ operating segments, based on information reported to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), 
management of the Trustee-Manager and the Company, for the purpose of resource allocation and performance 
assessment are more specifically focused on the operating results from leasing of the Hotels.

The Groups’ results are derived from property investment operation, which relates to the operating results from 
leasing of the Hotels and represents three operating segments under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Groups’ revenue and results by the three investment properties for the years 
under review.

2020
The

Langham, Cordis, Segment
Hong Kong Hong Kong Eaton HK total Reconciliation Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note)

       

Segment revenue 79,797 97,530 49,588 226,915 (18,659) 208,256
       

Segment results 66,062 75,810 38,015 179,887 – 179,887
      

Other income 1,987
Decrease in fair value of  

investment properties (2,722,328)
Decrease in fair value of derivative 

financial instruments (90,361)
Trust and other expenses (21,255)
Finance costs (174,608)

       

Loss before tax (2,826,678)
Income tax expense (6,129)

       

Loss for the year attributable to  
holders of Share Stapled Units (2,832,807)
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results (continued) 
2019

The
Langham, Cordis, Segment

Hong Kong Hong Kong Eaton HK total Reconciliation Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)  
       

Segment revenue 198,484 256,622 96,973 552,079 (68,196) 483,883
       

Segment results 161,712 209,711 76,876 448,299 – 448,299
      

Other income 2,438
Decrease in fair value of  

investment properties (2,788,441)
Decrease in fair value of derivative 

financial instruments (14,891)
Trust and other expenses (13,410)
Finance costs (220,233)

       

Loss before tax (2,586,238)
Income tax expense (48,473)

       

Loss for the year attributable to  
holders of Share Stapled Units (2,634,711)

       

Note:	 Reconciliation represents netting of service fees income of HK$18,659,000 (2019: HK$68,196,000) with the same amount of the corresponding 
service fees expense (including hotel management fees, licence fee and global marketing fee) that has been adjusted from revenue.
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities
For the purpose of performance assessment, other than the fair value of investment properties, no other segment 
assets are reviewed by the CODM. At the end of the reporting period, the fair values of The Langham, Hong Kong, 
Cordis, Hong Kong and Eaton HK were HK$5,200,000,000, HK$6,430,000,000 and HK$3,172,000,000, respectively 
(2019: HK$6,475,000,000, HK$7,595,000,000 and HK$3,430,000,000, respectively).

No analysis of segment liabilities is presented as they are not regularly reviewed by the CODM.

Geographical information
All of the Groups’ revenue is derived from activities and customers located in Hong Kong and the Groups’ non-
current assets are all located in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers
Revenue from the Master Lessee is HK$206,341,000 (2019: HK$482,224,000), contributing over 10% of the total 
revenue of the Groups for the year ended 31 December 2020.

8.	 OTHER INCOME
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Interest income on bank deposits 545 86
Compensation from insurance claim – 1,378
Management fee income 1,196 69
Sundry income 246 905

   

1,987 2,438
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9.	 FINANCE COSTS
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Interest on bank borrowings 121,210 198,317
Net interest on interest rate swaps 41,168 (7,924)
Loan front-end fee amortisation 11,250 26,069
Interest on lease liabilities 155 –
Other borrowing costs 825 3,771

   

174,608 220,233
   

10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Current tax:   
Hong Kong Profits Tax:

Current year 287 18,573
Overprovision in prior years (40) (80)
   

247 18,493
   

Deferred tax (note 25):
Current year 5,882 29,980

   

6,129 48,473
   

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.
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10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss before tax (2,826,678) (2,586,238)
   

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% (466,402) (426,729)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 472,661 475,297
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (90) (15)
Overprovision in prior years (40) (80)

   

Income tax expense for the year 6,129 48,473
   

11.	 TOTAL DISTRIBUTABLE INCOME
Total distributable income is the loss for the year attributable to holders of Share Stapled Units as adjusted to 
eliminate the effects of adjustments (as set out in the Trust Deed) which have been recorded in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the relevant period. The adjustments to arrive at 
the total distributable income for the current year are set out below:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss for the year attributable to holders of Share   
Stapled Units (2,832,807) (2,634,711)

Adjustments:
Add:

Depreciation 1,878 6
Deferred tax 5,882 29,980
Loan front-end fee amortisation 11,250 26,069
Hotel management fees and licence fee payable in form  

of Share Stapled Units (notes 32 and 36(c)) 15,893 54,651
Decrease in fair value of investment properties 2,722,328 2,788,441
Decrease in fair value of derivative financial instruments 90,361 14,891

Less:
Reserve for furniture, fixtures and equipment (8,818) (20,263)
   

Total distributable income 5,967 259,064
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12.	 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT
2020 2019

NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Interim distribution period (note a)    
Total distributable income in respect of the  

six months ended 30 June 36 184,569
Percentage of distributable income for distribution (note b) – 100%

    

Distributable income for interim distribution period – 184,569
    

Interim distribution – 184,569
    

Final distribution period (note a)
Total distributable income in respect of the  

financial year ended 31 December 11 5,967 259,064
Less: distributable income paid for interim  

distribution period (note d) – (185,798)
    

Distributable income available for final distribution period 5,967 73,266
Percentage of distributable income for distribution (note b) – 100%

    

Distributable income for final distribution period – 73,266
    

Final distribution (note c) – 73,266
    

Distribution per Share Stapled Unit
Interim distribution per Share Stapled Unit in respect  

of the six months ended 30 June (note d) – HK8.7 cents
    

Final distribution per Share Stapled Unit in respect of the 
six months ended 31 December (note d) – HK3.4 cents
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12.	 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
Notes:

(a)	 The interim distribution in 2020 was based on total distributable income for the six months ended 30 June 2020.

The final distribution in 2020 is based on total distributable income for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The final distribution in 2019 was based on total distributable income for the year ended 31 December 2019.

(b)	 The Trust Deed and the articles of association of the Company state that it is the intention of the Trustee-Manager and the Directors to 
declare and distribute not less than 90% of the total distributable income in respect of each financial year after the financial year ended 31 
December 2015. It has been recommended not to distribute any of the total distributable income for the financial year ended 31 December 
2020 due to the deteriorating business results. Details are set out in note 4.

100% of the total distributable income was distributed for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

(c)	 The final distribution after 31 December 2019 has not been recognised as a liability as at 31 December 2019.

(d)	 Interim distribution

Interim distribution per Share Stapled Unit of HK8.7 cents in 2019 was calculated based on interim distribution of HK$184,569,000 for the 
period and 2,121,762,141 Share Stapled Units as at 30 June 2019. In consideration of 13,844,354 Share Stapled Units issued as payment of 
hotel management fees and licence fee for the six months ended 30 June 2019 on 22 August 2019, the number of Share Stapled Units entitled 
for the interim distribution in 2019 has been adjusted to be 2,135,606,495. Total distribution of HK$185,798,000 in respect of 2019 interim 
distribution period was paid on 27 September 2019.

Final distribution

Final distribution per Share Stapled Unit of HK3.4 cents in 2019 was calculated based on distributable income available for final distribution 
period of HK$73,266,000 and 2,135,606,495 Share Stapled Units as at 31 December 2019. In consideration of 9,881,338 Share Stapled Units 
issued as payment of hotel management fees and licence fee for the six months ended 31 December 2019 on 26 February 2020, the number 
of Share Stapled Units entitled for final distribution in 2019 had been adjusted to be 2,145,487,833. Total distribution of HK$72,946,000 in 
respect of 2019 final distribution period was paid on 29 May 2020.

13.	 LOSS AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF SHARE STAPLED UNITS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year has been 
arrived at after charging:   

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) 5,489 5,435
Share-based payment expenses (including directors’ emoluments)

(Note) 167 289
   

5,656 5,724
Depreciation 1,878 6
Auditor’s remuneration 1,414 1,398

   

Note:	 The Groups recognised total expenses of HK$167,000 (2019: HK$289,000) for the year ended 31 December 2020 in relation to share options 
granted by the ultimate holding company under its share option scheme.
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14.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven (2019: seven) directors and the chief executive were as 
follows:

2020 2019
      

Retirement
Salaries benefits

and other Discretionary scheme
Fees benefits bonuses contributions Total Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
 (note b)

       

Executive Director and Chief Executive
Mr. IP Yuk Keung, Albert (note c) – – – – – 872
Mr. Brett Stephen BUTCHER (note c) 50 1,711 113 18 1,892 1,642

Non-executive Directors
Dr. LO Ka Shui 315 – – – 315 315
Mr. LO Chun Him, Alexander 170 – – – 170 170
Mr. LO Chun Lai, Andrew (note d) 31 – – – 31 –

Independent Non-executive Directors
Professor LIN Syaru, Shirley 325 – – – 325 325
Mr. WONG Kwai Lam 365 – – – 365 365
Professor CHAN Ka Keung, Ceajer 340 – – – 340 340

       

1,596 1,711 113 18 3,438 4,029
       

Notes:

(a)	 The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company 
and the Groups. The non-executive directors’ and independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as 
directors of the Company.

(b)	 Discretionary bonuses are determined by the remuneration committee of the Company from time to time by reference to the prevailing 
market conditions, the performance of the Company as well as the individual performance.

(c)	 Mr. Ip Yuk Keung, Albert resigned as executive director and chief executive officer on 1 April 2019 and Mr. Brett Stephen Butcher was 
appointed as executive director and chief executive officer on 1 April 2019.

(d)	 Mr. Lo Chun Lai, Andrew was appointed as non-executive director on 27 October 2020.

(e)	 There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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15.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
The three (2019: three) out of five highest paid individuals of the Groups during the year are directors, details of 
whose remuneration are set out in note 14 above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2019: two) highest paid 
employees are neither director nor chief executive of the Company. The emoluments of the remaining two (2019: 
two) individuals are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries and other benefits 1,096 999
Discretionary bonuses 71 190
Share-based payment expenses – 58
Retirement benefits schemes 41 45

   

1,208 1,292
   

2020 2019
Number of Number of
employees employees

   

Bands:
Nil - HK$1,000,000 2 2

   

Discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the Groups’ operating results and individual performance.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Groups to any of the five individuals with the highest 
emoluments as an inducement to join or upon joining the Groups or as compensation for loss of office.
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16.	 BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE STAPLED UNIT
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per Share Stapled Unit attributable to holders of Share Stapled Units is 
based on the following data:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss   
Loss for the year for the purposes of basic and diluted loss  

per Share Stapled Unit (2,832,807) (2,634,711)
   

(Restated)
2020 2019
’000 ’000

   

Number of Share Stapled Units
Weighted average number of Share Stapled Units for the  

purpose of basic and diluted loss per Share Stapled Unit 2,526,566 2,209,332
   

The weighted average number of Share Stapled Units for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per Share Stapled 
Unit have been adjusted to reflect the effect of the rights issue which completed on 14 September 2020. The loss 
per Share Stapled Unit for the year ended 31 December 2019 was restated by adjusting the weighted average 
number of Share Stapled Unit in issue for the bonus element due to the rights issue.
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17.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leased Furniture

properties and fixtures Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

COST
At 1 January 2019 – 55 55
Additions 1,376 – 1,376
Disposal – (8) (8)

    

At 31 December 2019 1,376 47 1,423

Additions 3,953 26 3,979
    

At 31 December 2020 5,329 73 5,402
    

DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2019 – 37 37
Depreciation – 6 6
Eliminated on disposal – (3) (3)

    

At 31 December 2019 – 40 40

Depreciation 1,872 6 1,878
    

At 31 December 2020 1,872 46 1,918
    

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2020 3,457 27 3,484

    

At 31 December 2019 1,376 7 1,383
    

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives on 
the following basis:

Leased properties	 Over the term of the lease
Furniture and fixtures	 10% - 20% per annum

Note:	 Right-of-use assets are shown as leased properties under the property, plant and equipment.
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18.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

FAIR VALUE   
At the beginning of the year 17,500,000 20,177,000
Additions 24,328 111,441
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (2,722,328) (2,788,441)

   

At the end of the year 14,802,000 17,500,000
   

The fair value of the Groups’ investment properties of HK$14,802,000,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 
HK$17,500,000,000) has been arrived at on a basis of valuation carried out by Vigers Appraisal and Consulting 
Limited, an independent professional property valuer not connected with the Groups.

The Groups engage independent professional property valuer to perform the valuation. Management works closely 
with the independent property valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. 
Management reports the valuation report and findings to the Trustee-Manager and the Directors half-yearly to 
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

The independent property valuer adopted income approach by using discounted cash flow analysis and market 
approach by comparison method to arrive at the valuation of investment properties. For income approach, the 
discounted cash flow analysis for the hotel properties are established based on analysis of historical data and 
assumptions about future market conditions affecting supply, demand, income, expenses and the potential of risk, 
taking into consideration of the impact of Covid-19. These assumptions determine the earning capability of the 
hotel properties upon which the pattern of income and expenditures are projected to establish a fair maintainable 
operating profit on a pre-tax yearly basis by a reasonably efficient operator over a 10-year investment horizon; 
and the anticipated net operating income stream receivable thereafter is capitalised at appropriate terminal 
capitalisation rates and adjusted to present value by appropriate discount rate to reflect the capital values beyond 
the years. For market approach, the comparison method is based on a per room basis on actual sales transactions 
and offering of comparable properties during the year that have been made, subject to appropriate adjustments 
made for variable factors, including location, grading and impact of Covid-19. There has been no change to the 
valuation techniques during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and best use of the investment properties is 
their current use.

The key input used in valuing the investment properties by the independent property valuer under the 
aforesaid market approach was market selling price per room, which is ranged from HK$6,387,000 per room to 
HK$10,703,000 per room (2019: HK$7,097,000 per room to HK$13,012,000 per room). An increase in the market 
selling price per room used would result in an increase in fair value measurement of the investment properties, and 
vice versa.
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18.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
The key inputs used in valuing the investment properties by the independent property valuer under the aforesaid 
income approach were the discount rate used at 8.50% (2019: 8.50%) and average daily rates, which ranged from 
HK$764 to HK$1,600 (2019: HK$917 to HK$1,859) per room. An increase in the average daily rate used would result 
in an increase in fair value measurement of the investment properties, and vice versa, holding all other variables 
constant. The following table details the Groups’ sensitivity to a 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points) increase/
decrease in discount rate holding all other variables constant.

2020 2019
50 basis 50 basis 50 basis 50 basis

points points points points
increase decrease increase decrease
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

The Langham, Hong Kong (210,000) 220,000 (260,000) 280,000
Cordis, Hong Kong (260,000) 270,000 (300,000) 320,000
Eaton HK (130,000) 130,000 (140,000) 140,000

     

(600,000) 620,000 (700,000) 740,000
     

Details of the Groups’ investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2020 
and 2019 are as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

The Langham, Hong Kong – – 5,200,000 5,200,000
Cordis, Hong Kong – – 6,430,000 6,430,000
Eaton HK – – 3,172,000 3,172,000

     

– – 14,802,000 14,802,000
     

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

The Langham, Hong Kong – – 6,475,000 6,475,000
Cordis, Hong Kong – – 7,595,000 7,595,000
Eaton HK – – 3,430,000 3,430,000

     

– – 17,500,000 17,500,000
     

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year. The carrying amounts of investment properties 
comprise properties situated in Hong Kong. The Groups lease out hotel properties under operating leases. Details 
are set out in note 34.
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19.	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
All the derivative financial instruments are interest rate swaps. The Groups entered into interest rate swap contracts 
with banks to manage the exposure to the interest rate risk on the Groups’ floating-rate borrowings by swapping a 
proportion of those borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates. No hedge accounting is adopted and there is no 
offsetting during the year.

Major terms of the interest rate swaps are as follows:

Total Floating Fixed Interest
notional amount Maturity interest rate interest rate period

     

2020

HK$5,700,000,000 January 2021 
-December 2023

Hong Kong  
Interbank Offered  
Rate (“HIBOR”)

0.830%-2.545% Monthly

  
2019  
HK$4,000,000,000 November 2020

-June 2022
HIBOR 1.035%-2.545% Monthly

     

20.	 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Receivable from Master Lessee – 14,046
Lease receivable – 15
Deferred rent receivable 152 223
Other receivables 675 69
Deposits and prepayments 14,654 7,791

   

15,481 22,144
   

Receivable from Master Lessee and lease receivable are payable on the presentation of invoices.
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20.	 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Aging analysis of receivable from Master Lessee and lease receivable based on the invoice date at the end of the 
reporting period is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within 3 months – 14,061
   

As at 31 December 2019, receivable from Master Lessee represented an amount due from a fellow subsidiary of 
HK$14,046,000 which was unsecured, interest-free and payable on presentation of invoices.

As at 31 December 2019, other receivables represented an amount due from a fellow subsidiary of HK$69,000 
which was unsecured, interest-free and payable on presentation of invoices.

Deposits and prepayments mainly consist of deposits paid to contractors for hotels renovation.

21.	 RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE
Restricted bank balance carries interest rates at 0.001% per annum, which represents an additional security deposit 
placed in a bank as required under the mitigation mechanism of the banking facilities agreement. The restricted 
bank balance will be released upon the requirements of the mitigation mechanism are satisfied.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF THE TRUST AND 

OF THE COMPANY
For the year ended 31 December 2020

L A N G H A M  H O S P I T A L I T Y  I N V E S T M E N T S  ◆  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0 139

22.	 CREDITORS, DEPOSITS AND ACCRUALS
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Trade creditors 17,481 20,212
Deposits received 654 684
Construction fee payables 3,761 18,697
Accruals and other payables 13,747 17,250

   

35,643 56,843
   

Aging analysis of trade creditors based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within 3 months 6,044 10,481
More than 3 months and within 6 months 3,744 9,731
More than 6 months and within 12 months 7,693 –

   

17,481 20,212
   

Trade creditors represent amounts due to fellow subsidiaries of HK$17,481,000 (2019: HK$20,212,000) which are 
unsecured, interest-free and payable on presentation of invoices.

Included in other construction fee payables were amounts due to fellow subsidiaries of nil (2019: HK$177,000) which 
were unsecured, interest-free and payable on presentation of invoices.

Included in accruals and other payables are amounts due to fellow subsidiaries of HK$357,000 (2019: HK$21,000) 
which are unsecured, interest-free and payable on presentation of invoices.
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23.	 SECURED BANK LOANS
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Secured term loans 5,990,000 6,800,000
Secured revolving loans 427,000 352,000
Loan front-end fee (33,084) (44,334)

   

6,383,916 7,107,666
Less: Amount due within one year shown under current liabilities (427,000) (352,000)

   

Amount due after one year shown under non-current liabilities 5,956,916 6,755,666
   

The maturity of the above loans based on scheduled repayment terms is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 427,000 352,000
More than two years but not exceeding five years 5,956,916 6,755,666

   

6,383,916 7,107,666
   

As at 31 December 2020, the Groups have a banking facility amounted to HK$6,690,000,000 (2019: 
HK$7,500,000,000), including term loans facility amounted to HK$5,990,000,000 (2019: HK$6,800,000,000) and 
revolving loans facility amounted to HK$700,000,000 (2019: HK$700,000,000). The bank facility will be expired in 
December 2023.

Secured term loans of HK$5,990,000,000 (2019: HK$6,800,000,000) are variable-rate borrowings, bearing interest at 
HIBOR plus 0.81% (2019: HIBOR plus 0.83%) per annum and are repayable in one lump sum on maturity date which 
will fall due in 2023 (2019: 2023). Secured revolving loans of HK$427,000,000 (2019: HK$352,000,000) are variable 
rate borrowings, bearing interest at HIBOR plus 0.81% (2019: HIBOR plus 0.83%) per annum and are revolving on a 
monthly basis. All bank loans are secured by the Groups’ investment properties and restricted bank balance (2019: 
investment properties).
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24.	 LEASE LIABILITIES
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Within one year 1,866 536
More than one year but not exceeding two years 1,648 555
More than two years but not exceeding three years 41 285

   

3,555 1,376
Less: Amount due for settlement within one year shown under 

current liabilities (1,866) (536)
   

Amount due for settlement after one year shown under  
non-current liabilities 1,689 840

   

25.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The following are the deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and movements thereon during the current and 
prior years:

Accelerated
tax

depreciation Tax losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 January 2019 368,428 (6,053) 362,375
Charge (credit) to profit or loss 35,617 (5,637) 29,980
Under(over)provision in prior years 100 (100) –

    

At 31 December 2019 404,145 (11,790) 392,355
Charge (credit) to profit or loss 27,817 (21,935) 5,882
Under(over)provision in prior years 925 (925) –

    

At 31 December 2020 432,887 (34,650) 398,237
    

At the end of the reporting period, the Groups have unutilised tax losses of HK$210,002,000 (2019: HK$71,455,000) 
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of HK$210,002,000 
(2019: HK$71,455,000) of such losses.
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26.	 ISSUED CAPITAL/UNITS
Number Nominal

of shares/units value
 HK$

   

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0005 each
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 2020 5,000,000,000 2,500,000

   

Preference shares of HK$0.0005 each
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 2020 5,000,000,000 2,500,000

   

Units issued/share capital issued and fully paid:

Share Stapled Units
In accordance with the Trust Deed and the Company’s articles of association, the number of ordinary shares and 
preference shares of the Company must be the same at all times and must be equal to the number of Share Stapled 
Units. Hence, the movement of the number of Share Stapled Units is the same as that of the ordinary shares and 
preference shares as shown below.

Number Nominal
of shares value

HK$
   

Ordinary shares of HK$0.0005 each (note a)
At 1 January 2019 2,109,715,939 1,054,858
Issue of ordinary shares as payment of hotel  

management fees and licence fee (note b) 12,046,202 6,023
Issue of ordinary shares as payment of hotel  

management fees and licence fee (note b) 13,844,354 6,922
   

At 31 December 2019 2,135,606,495 1,067,803
Issue of ordinary shares as payment of hotel  

management fees and licence fee (note b) 9,881,338 4,941
Issue of ordinary shares as payment of hotel  

management fees and licence fee (note b) 6,934,989 3,467
Issue of ordinary shares upon rights issue of  

Share Stapled Units (note c) 1,072,743,916 536,372
   

At 31 December 2020 3,225,166,738 1,612,583
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Number Nominal
of shares value

HK$
   

Preference shares of HK$0.0005 each (note d)
At 1 January 2019 2,109,715,939 1,054,858
Issue of preference shares as payment of hotel  

management fees and licence fee (note b) 12,046,202 6,023
Issue of preference shares as payment of hotel  

management fees and licence fee (note b) 13,844,354 6,922
   

At 31 December 2019 2,135,606,495 1,067,803
Issue of preference shares as payment of hotel  

management fees and licence fee (note b) 9,881,338 4,941
Issue of preference shares as payment of hotel  

management fees and licence fee (note b) 6,934,989 3,467
Issue of preference shares upon rights issue of  

Share Stapled Units (note c) 1,072,743,916 536,372
   

At 31 December 2020 3,225,166,738 1,612,583
   

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Issued capital/units as shown in the consolidated  
financial statements 3,225 2,136

   

Notes:

(a)	 All of the issued ordinary shares of the Company are held by the Trustee-Manager as legal owner in its capacity as trustee-manager of the 
Trust.

(b)	 Details of Share Stapled Units issued for both years as payment of hotel management fees and licence fee are as follows (notes 32 and 36(c)):

Aggregate Number
Issue date Relevant period Issue price issue price of shares

HK$ HK$’000
     

1 March 2019 1 July 2018 to 31 December 2018 3.2500 39,150 12,046,202
22 August 2019 1 January 2019 to 30 June 2019 2.5300 35,026 13,844,354
26 February 2020 1 July 2019 to 31 December 2019 1.9860 19,625 9,881,338
21 August 2020 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2020 0.9611 6,665 6,934,989

     

(c)	 On 14 September 2020, 1,072,743,916 Share Stapled Units were issued at HK$0.95 per right Share Stapled Unit and the Groups received 
proceeds of approximately HK$1,019 million upon the completion of the rights issue of one rights Share Stapled Unit for every two Share 
Stapled Units.

(d)	 The preference shares issued are components of the Share Stapled Units and have no rights to dividends, distributions or other payment 
from the Company except in case of the winding up of the Company, or if the Trust is terminated, the preference shares would be redeemed 
on termination at their par value.

26.	 ISSUED CAPITAL/UNITS (CONTINUED)
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27.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current assets   
Investments in subsidiaries – 1,069,648
Amounts due from subsidiaries 8,124,460 7,129,066

   

8,124,460 8,198,714
   

Current assets
Prepayments 409 404
Bank balances 3,724 375

   

4,133 779
   

Current liability
Accruals and other payable 1,483 1,242

   

Net current assets (liability) 2,650 (463)
   

Non-current liability
Amount due to a subsidiary 1,140 1,883

   

NET ASSETS 8,125,970 8,196,368
   

Capital and reserves
Issued capital 3,225 2,136
Reserves 8,122,745 8,194,232

   

TOTAL EQUITY 8,125,970 8,196,368
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27.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(CONTINUED)

Share

Retained
profits

(accumulated
premium loss) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 January 2019 7,716,113 645,849 8,361,962
Distribution paid (408,583) – (408,583)
Issue of ordinary and preference shares 

(note 26) 74,150 – 74,150
Profit and total comprehensive income 

 for the year – 166,703 166,703
    

At 31 December 2019 7,381,680 812,552 8,194,232

Distribution paid (72,946) – (72,946)
Issue of ordinary and preference shares 

upon rights issue of ordinary and 
preference shares (note 26) 1,018,034 – 1,018,034

Issue of ordinary and preference shares 
 (note 26) 26,273 – 26,273

Loss and total comprehensive expense 
for the year – (1,042,848) (1,042,848)

    

At 31 December 2020 8,353,041 (230,296) 8,122,745
    

28.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES
The Groups manage their capital to ensure that entities in the Groups will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to holders of Share Stapled Units through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balances. The Groups’ overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Groups consists of debt, which includes bank loans disclosed in note 23, net of cash and 
cash equivalents and equity attributable to holders of Share Stapled Units, comprising issued share capital, reserves 
and accumulated loss/retained profits. The capital structure of the Trust and the Company consists of equity 
attributable to holders of Share Stapled Units, comprising issued share capital/units, reserves and accumulated 
loss/retained profits.

The Trustee-Manager and the Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, the 
Trustee-Manager and the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. 
Based on recommendations of the Trustee-Manager and Directors, the Groups will balance its overall capital 
structure through new share issues.
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29.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a)	 Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets   
Derivative financial instrument
Interest rate swaps – 12,787

   

Financial assets at amortised cost
Other receivables 675 69
Restricted bank balance 41,000 –
Bank balances 217,613 75,732

   

259,288 75,801
   

259,288 88,588
   

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instrument
Interest rate swaps 87,218 9,644

   

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade creditors 17,481 20,212
Construction fee payables 3,761 18,697
Other payables 9,092 12,381
Secured bank loans 6,383,916 7,107,666

   

6,414,250 7,158,956
   

6,501,468 7,168,600
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29.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Groups’ major financial instruments include derivative financial instruments, other receivables, restricted 
bank balance, bank balances, trade creditors, other payables, construction fee payables and secured bank 
loans. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with the 
Groups’ financial instruments and lease liabilities include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management 
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and 
effective manner.

Market risk
(i)	 Currency risk

The Groups have foreign currency bank balances, which expose the Groups to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Groups’ foreign currency denominated monetary assets at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Renminbi 2 2
United States dollar 14 16

   

The Groups manage the foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign 
currency rate. There is no sensitivity analysis presented as the management considers that the 
exposure of currency risk is insignificant.

(ii)	 Interest rate risk
The Groups are exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to lease liabilities.

The Groups are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to pay-fixed/receive-floating interest 
rate swaps, restricted bank balance, bank balances and variable-rate secured bank loans. Interest 
rate risk is managed by the management on an ongoing basis with the primary objective of limiting 
the extent to which net interest expense could be affected by adverse movements in interest rates. 
Interest rate risk on restricted bank balance and bank balances is considered immaterial and therefore 
has been excluded from the sensitivity analysis below. The Groups’ cash flow interest rate risk is mainly 
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Groups’ pay-fixed/receive-floating interest 
rate swaps and variable-rate secured bank loans.
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29.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
(ii)	 Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both 
derivatives and non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared 
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding 
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points) increase or decrease in pay-fixed/receive-
floating interest rate swaps and secure bank loans is used which represents management’s assessment 
of the effect from possible change in interest rates.

If the interest rates had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points) higher or lower and all other 
variables were held constant, the Groups’ loss for the year would increase/decrease by HK$177,258,000 
(2019: HK$14,368,000). This is mainly attributable to the Groups’ exposure to interest rates on its floating 
rate secured bank loans and the changes in fair value of pay-fixed/receive-floating interest rate swaps.

Credit risk and impairment assessment
The Groups’ maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Groups due to failure to 
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised 
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Groups measure the loss allowance on restricted bank balance and bank balances equal to 12m ECL. The 
credit risk on restricted bank balance and bank balances is limited because counterparties are banks with 
external credit rating of at least A1 assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

As at 31 December 2020, other than concentration of credit risk on bank balances (2019: receivable from 
Master Lessee and bank balances), which are deposited with several banks with high credit-ratings, the 
Groups do not have any other significant concentration of credit risk.

As at 31 December 2019, with respect to credit risk arising from the Groups’ receivable from Master Lessee, 
the Groups’ exposure to credit risk arising from default of the counterparty was limited as the counterparty 
had good history of repayment and the Groups did not expect to incur a significant loss arising from receivable 
from Master Lessee. In addition, the Groups performed impairment assessment under ECL model upon 
application of HKFRS 9. In this regard, the Trustee-Manager and the Directors considered that the Groups’ 
credit risk was significantly reduced.
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29.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The credit risk on derivative financial instrument is limited because the counterparties are banks with external 
credit rating of at least A1 assigned by an international credit-rating agency.

Based on the ECL assessment, the credit exposures for all the financial assets, which are subject to ECL 
assessment, are considered as low risk because the counterparties have a low risk of default and does not 
have material past-due amounts. During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no loss allowance 
provision for the amounts was recognised.

Liquidity risk
In management of the liquidity risk, the Groups monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by management to finance the Groups’ operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations 
in cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan 
covenants.

Liquidity risk analysis
The following table details the Groups’ remaining contractual maturity for their non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities on the 
earliest date on which the Groups can be required to pay. The maturity dates for non-derivative financial 
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rates, 
the undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

 Total Carrying
Weighted 3 months 1 year undiscounted amount at

average Less than to to 2 to 5 cash 31 December
interest rate 3 months 1 year 2 years years flows 2020

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities

Trade creditors N/A 17,481 – – – 17,481 17,481
Construction fee payables N/A 3,761 – – – 3,761 3,761
Other payables N/A 9,092 – – – 9,092 9,092
Secured bank loans

– variable rate 1.89 455,303 84,908 113,211 6,096,387 6,749,809 6,383,916
        

485,637 84,908 113,211 6,096,387 6,780,143 6,414,250
Lease liabilities 3.85 492 1,477 1,682 41 3,692 3,555

        

486,129 86,385 114,893 6,096,428 6,783,835 6,417,805
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29.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity risk analysis (continued)

 Total Carrying
Weighted 3 months 1 year undiscounted amount at

average Less than to to 2 to 5 cash 31 December
interest rate 3 months 1 year 2 years years flows 2019

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities

Trade creditors N/A 20,212 – – – 20,212 20,212
Construction fee payables N/A 18,697 – – – 18,697 18,697
Other payables N/A 12,381 – – – 12,381 12,381
Secured bank loans

– variable rate 2.77 399,090 141,270 188,360 7,165,367 7,894,087 7,107,666
        

450,380 141,270 188,360 7,165,367 7,945,377 7,158,956
Lease liabilities 3.53 536 555 285 – 1,376 1,376

        

450,916 141,825 188,645 7,165,367 7,946,753 7,160,332
        

In addition, the following table details the Groups’ liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments 
based on its contractual maturity. For derivative financial instrument settled on a net basis, undiscounted 
net cash inflows (outflows) are presented. When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has 
been determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the 
reporting date.

3 months Total Carrying
Less than to 1 to 2 2 to 5 Undiscounted amount at
3 months 1 year years years cash flows 31 December

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

2020
Derivatives net settlement
Interest rate swaps (11,006) (28,664) (29,734) (18,301) (87,705) (87,218)

       

2019
Derivatives net settlement
Interest rate swaps 8,738 1,949 (5,352) (2,130) 3,205 3,143

       

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments are subject to change if changes in variable 
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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29.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c)	 Fair values

The fair values of the financial assets and the financial liabilities representing derivative financial instruments 
are determined as detailed in note 29(d).

The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis. The Trustee-Manager and the Directors 
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements approximate to their fair values.

(d)	 Fair value measurements of financial instruments
One of the Groups’ financial liabilities (2019: financial assets and financial liabilities) is measured at fair value 
at the end of the reporting period. The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are 
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to 
which the fair value is observable.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

As at 31 December 2020
Derivative financial instruments
Asset
Interest rate swaps – – – –

     

Liability
Interest rate swaps – 87,218 – 87,218

     

As at 31 December 2019
Derivative financial instruments
Asset
Interest rate swaps – 12,787 – 12,787

     

Liability
Interest rate swap – 9,644 – 9,644

     

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current year.
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29.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(d)	 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair value of the financial asset and financial liability are 
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

Fair value as at  
Financial assets 31 December Fair value Valuation technique
(liabilities) 2020 2019 hierarchy and key inputs

HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Interest rate swaps 
classified as  
non-current

(82,208) 4,645 
(9,644)

Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are 
estimated based on interest rates (from 
observable interest rates at the end of the 
reporting period) and contracted rates 
discounted at a rate that reflects the credit 
risk of the counterparties.

Interest rate swap 
classified as 
current

(5,010) 8,142 Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are 
estimated based on interest rates (from 
observable interest rates at the end of the 
reporting period) and contracted rates 
discounted at a rate that reflects the credit 
risk of the counterparties.

     

(e)	 Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements
The Groups have entered certain derivative transactions that are covered by the International Swaps and 
Derivatives Association Master Agreements (“ISDA Agreements”) signed with two banks (2019: one bank). 
These derivative instruments are not offset in the consolidated statement of financial position as the ISDA 
Agreements are in place with a right of set off only in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy so that 
the Groups currently have no legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts.

As at 31 December 2020, the gross amount of financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject 
to enforceable master netting arrangements are nil (2019: HK$12,787,000) and HK$87,218,000 (2019: 
HK$9,644,000), respectively. No deposit was placed with the counterparties.

30.	 PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 December 2020, restricted bank balance and all investment properties of the Groups, (2019: all investment 
properties) together with assignments of sales proceeds, insurance proceeds, rental income, revenues and all other 
income generated from the properties, were pledged to secure the term and revolving loan facilities granted to the 
Groups.
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31.	 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES AND RELATED ASSETS ARISING FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Groups’ liabilities and related assets arising from financing activities, 
including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows 
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Groups’ consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from 
financing activities.

 Derivative
Lease Interest Secured financial Distribution

liabilities payable bank loans instruments payable Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

At 1 January 2019 – 6,605 6,939,597 (18,034) – 6,928,168
Net cash flows – (184,727) 142,000 – (408,583) (451,310)
Interest expense – 190,393 – – – 190,393
Other changes

Loan front-end fee 
amortisation – – 26,069 – – 26,069

Fair value adjustments – – – 14,891 – 14,891
Distribution declared – – – – 408,583 408,583
New lease entered 1,376 – – – – 1,376

       

At 31 December 2019 1,376 12,271 7,107,666 (3,143) – 7,118,170
Net cash flows (1,929) (166,292) (735,000) – (72,946) (976,167)
Interest expense 155 162,378 – – – 162,533
Other changes

Loan front-end fee 
amortisation – – 11,250 – – 11,250

Fair value adjustments – – – 90,361 – 90,361
Distribution declared – – – – 72,946 72,946
New lease entered 3,953 – – – – 3,953

       

At 31 December 2020 3,555 8,357 6,383,916 87,218 – 6,483,046
       

32.	 MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
The Groups incurred hotel management fees and licence fee payable to Langham Hotels International Limited for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 of HK$15,893,000 (2019: HK$54,651,000) (note 36(c)), of which HK$6,665,000 
(2019: HK$35,026,000) was settled by Share Stapled Units. The remaining balance of HK$9,228,000 (2019: 
HK$19,625,000) will also be settled by Share Stapled Units subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
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33.	 COMMITMENTS
At 31 December 2020, the Groups had authorised capital expenditures for investment properties which were not 
provided for in these consolidated financial statements amounting to HK$2,413,000 (2019: HK$4,330,000) of which 
nil (2019: HK$2,495,000) were contracted for.

Other than that, the Groups did not have any significant commitments at the end of the reporting period.

34.	 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Groups as lessor
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

With Master Lessee   
Within one year 225,000 225,000
In the second year 225,000 225,000
In the third year 225,000 225,000
In the fourth year – 225,000

   

675,000 900,000
   

With other tenants
Within one year 1,288 1,594
In the second year 1,173 1,288
In the third year 1,206 1,173
In the fourth year 247 1,206
In the fifth year – 247

   

3,914 5,508
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34.	 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
The Groups as lessor (Continued)
Leases in respect of the retail shops in Eaton HK are negotiated for a term of three to five years at fixed monthly 
rentals. For the master lease agreements (note 36(a)), the leases are negotiated for a term of 14 years from the 
Listing Date. From commencement date to 31 December 2019 (the “First Period”), leases were negotiated at fixed 
annual base rent and variable rent based on 70% of the Hotels’ aggregate gross operating profit before deduction 
of global marketing fee. From 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2023 (the “Second Period”) and from 1 January 2024 
to expiry date of lease term (the “Third Period”), the leases were negotiated with reference to market rental to be 
determined by independent property valuer. It was determined in 2019 that fixed annual base rent of the Second 
Period remains the same as the First Period and variable rent of the Second Period is calculated at the same 
basis as that of the First Period. The above minimum lease payments only include fixed annual base rent of the 
Second Period as the variable rent of the Second Period cannot be determined as of the date of approval of the 
consolidated financial statements.

In addition, for the Third Period, the rentals will be determined by the independent property valuer prior to the 
commencement of the respective period, which may be subject to approval of unitholders of the Trust and the 
Company and cannot be determined as of the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements.

35.	 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
The Groups operate a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees. The Groups are required 
to contribute 5%, while the employees are required to contribute 5% of their salaries to the scheme, capped at 
HK$1,500 effective from 1 June 2014.

Total contributions to retirement fund schemes for the year ended 31 December 2020 charged to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income amounted to HK$76,000 (2019: HK$76,000).

36.	 CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Other than as disclosed in notes 12, 20, 22, 32 and 34, the Groups had the following significant transactions 
with related parties during the year. All of the following related parties are subsidiaries of Great Eagle Holdings 
Limited, the ultimate holding company, and Dr. Lo Ka Shui, Director of the Company, is a substantial shareholder, 
the chairman and managing director of Great Eagle Holdings Limited. The transactions were carried out in the 
normal course of the Groups’ business on terms mutually agreed between the parties. The following significant 
transactions are connected transactions and the following related parties are connected parties of the Groups as 
defined in the chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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36.	 CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
2020 2019

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Rental income    
Master Lessee (a) 225,000 550,420

Management fee income
GE Hospitality Asset Management Limited (b) 1,196 69

Hotel management fees and licence fee
Langham Hotels International Limited (c) 15,893 54,651

Global marketing fee
Langham Hotels Services Limited (d) 2,766 13,545

Property management services fee
Keysen Property Management Services

Limited (formerly known as The Great Eagle
Properties Management Company, Limited) (e) 2,871 2,816

Rental expenses
Clever Gain Investment Limited (f) – 16
Moon Yik Company, Limited (g) 20 682

Addition of right-of-use assets/addition of lease liabilities
Moon Yik Company, Limited (g) 3,953 –

Interest expense on lease liabilities
Moon Yik Company, Limited (g) 115 –

Lease agency fee
The Great Eagle Estate Agents Limited (h) 67 147

Administrative support service fee
The Great Eagle Company, Limited (i) 960 960

Procurement services fee
Champion Global Services Limited (j) 181 135

Project management services fee
The Great Eagle Development and Project

Management Limited (k) – 219

Design and construction contracting services fee
Keysen Engineering Company, Limited (l) 360 695
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36.	 CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Notes:

(a)	 For the purpose of connected and related party disclosures, rental income and related service fees income that charged to Master Lessee in 
accordance with the master lease agreement has been presented before netting with service fees (including hotel management fees, licence 
fee and global marketing fee) of HK$18,659,000 (2019: HK$68,196,000). Annual base rent of HK$225 million was charged for the year ended 31 
December 2020. Variable rent payable was recorded based on 70% of the Hotels’ aggregate gross operating profit before deduction of global 
marketing fee. No variable rent payable would be recorded when there is Hotels’ aggregate gross operating loss before deduction of global 
marketing fee.

A reconciliation between the Hotels’ aggregate gross operating (loss) profit and the Groups’ segment profit and calculation of variable rent 
are shown as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Hotels’ aggregate gross operating (loss) profit  
before deduction of global marketing fee (13,193) 464,885

   

70% thereon, variable rent (before netting with services fees) – 325,420

Base rent 225,000 225,000

Add:

Rental income from retail shops in Eaton HK 1,915 1,659
   

Groups’ segment revenue 226,915 552,079

Less:

Service fees

– Hotel management fees (i.e. base fee and incentive fee) (10,014) (41,142)

– Licence fee (5,879) (13,509)

– Global marketing fee (2,766) (13,545)

Property taxes, rates and insurance (26,799) (30,672)

Other deductions (1,570) (4,912)
   

Groups’ segment profit 179,887 448,299
   

(b)	 The management fees income was charged to GE Hospitality Asset Management Limited for its share of administration expenses.
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36.	 CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued)

(c)	 Langham Hotels International Limited is entitled, in accordance with hotel management agreements, to (i) a base fee of 1.5% of the total 
revenue of the relevant hotels; (ii) licence fee of 1% of the total revenue of the relevant hotels (payable under the trademark licence 
agreements); and (iii) an incentive fee of 5% of the adjusted gross operating profit (i.e. Hotels’ gross operating profit less the base fee and 
the licence fee) of the relevant hotels. The hotel management fees and license fee, which are part of service fees and have been netted with 
revenue, are reported as connected and related party transactions for the disclosure purpose. The hotel management fees and licence fee 
would be settled by Share Stapled Units (notes 26 and 32).

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

(A)	 Total revenue of relevant hotels 587,873 1,350,885

(B)	 Adjusted relevant hotels’ gross operating profit 23,921 417,568
   

(i)	 Base fee (A x 1.5%) 8,818 20,263

(ii)	 Licence fee (A x 1%) 5,879 13,509

(iii)	 Incentive fee (B x 5%) 1,196 20,879
   

Total fees 15,893 54,651
   

(d)	 Global marketing fee was payable on a fixed percentage of 2% of the total room revenue of the relevant hotels (i.e. HK$138,297,000 (2019: 
HK$677,256,000)) under centralised services fees and marketing agreements. Global marketing fee, which is part of service fees and has 
been netted with revenue, is reported as a connected and related party transaction for the disclosure purpose.

(e)	 The management services fee payable is determined based on the annual budget prepared by Keysen Property Management Services 
Limited (formerly known as The Great Eagle Properties Management Company, Limited), taking into account the actual cost incurred, plus 
remuneration to Keysen Property Management Services Limited, and the management shares allocated to Cordis, Hong Kong in respect of 
the lot of land on which it is situated.

(f)	 The rental was charged by Clever Gain Investment Limited for venue of annual general meeting at Yat Tung Heen.

(g)	 Rental expenses were payable to Moon Yik Company, Limited for leasing an office premise at Suite 2702, Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour 
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong before 11 January 2020. On 12 January 2020, the Groups entered into new lease for the use of Suite 3001, Great 
Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Addition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities and interest expense on lease 
liabilities are recognised during the current year. As at 31 December 2020, lease liabilities to Moon Yik Company, Limited is approximately 
HK$2,715,000 (2019: nil).
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36.	 CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued)

(h)	 Lease agency fee was charged at the rate of 4% of the monthly rental income receivable from Eaton HK’s retail shops plus an amount 
equivalent to a month’s rental income arising from the leasing of the relevant retail shops for new leases.

(i)	 The fee was charged on cost sharing basis and allocated to the Groups according to time spent by relevant personnel of The Great Eagle 
Company, Limited on the businesses of the Groups and the related share of administrative costs.

(j)	 Procurement services fee at a rate of 5% of (a) the respective budgeted sums of furniture, fixtures and equipment categories for hotel 
renovation and operating supplies and equipment categories for hotel renovation and (b) the actual amount of the purchase orders for 
furniture, fixtures and equipment and operating supplies and equipment categories for hotel maintenance and miscellaneous categories.

(k)	 Project management services fee at a rate of 3% of the actual amount of the construction cost for renovation of the Hotels as certified by 
project quantity surveyor or other consultants.

(l)	 The contract sum for the work of design and construction contracting services shall be negotiated on an arm’s length basis and determined 
between Keysen Engineering Company, Limited and/or its associated companies and the Groups subject to tender or price comparison 
process to be arranged by the Groups in accordance with its internal control policy.

The remuneration of Directors and chief executive during the year was as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Short-term benefits 3,420 4,017
Post-employment benefits 18 12

   

3,438 4,029
   

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to 
the performance of individuals and market trends.
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37.	 PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are set out below:

Percentage of issued equity

Issued and paid up
equity share capital

share capital held
Direct subsidiaries Principal activities by the Company

2020 2019
     

– incorporated in the British  
Virgin Islands:

LHIL Properties Limited 1 share of US$1 Investment holding 100% 100%
LHIL Treasury Holdings Limited 1 share of US$1 Investment holding 100% 100%

     

Share capital issued

Number of 
shares

Issued and
paid up
share capital

Percentage of issued equity
share capital held

Direct subsidiary Principal activities by the Company
HK$ 2020 2019

      

– incorporated and operating in 
Hong Kong:

LHIL Company Limited 1 1 Provision for  
administrative services

100% 100%
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37.	 PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
Percentage of issued equity

Issued and paid up share capital held
Indirect subsidiaries equity share capital Principal activities by the Company

2020 2019
     

– incorporated in the British  
Virgin Islands:

Braveforce Investments Limited 1 share of US$1 Investment holding 100% 100%
LHIL Finance Holdings Limited 1 share of US$1 Investment holding 100% 100%
LHIL (EHK) Limited 1 share of US$1 Investment holding 100% 100%
LHIL (LHK) Limited 1 share of US$1 Investment holding 100% 100%
LHIL (Cordis) Limited 1 share of US$1 Investment holding 100% 100%
Rowan Enterprises Limited 1 share of US$1 Investment holding 100% 100%

     

Share capital issued
Issued and Percentage of issued equity

Number paid up share capital held
Indirect subsidiaries of shares share capital Principal activities by the Company

US$ 2020 2019
      

– incorporated in Liberia:
Baxter Investment Limited 500 500 Investment holding 100% 100%
Glendive Investment Limited 500 500 Investment holding 100% 100%

      

Share capital issued
Issued and Percentage of issued equity

Number paid up share capital held
Indirect subsidiaries of shares share capital Principal activities by the Company

HK$ 2020 2019
      

– incorporated and operating  
in Hong Kong:

Grow On Development Limited 5,000 5,000 Property investment 100% 100%
Harvest Star International Limited 2 2 Property investment 100% 100%
Cordis Hong Kong Limited 2 2 Property investment 100% 100%
LHIL Finance Limited 1 1 Financing 100% 100%
LHIL Treasury (HK) Limited 1 1 Financing 100% 100%
LHIL Treasury Company Limited 1 1 Treasury management 100% 100%

      

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at 31 December 2020 and 2019 or at any time during the 
year.
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TO THE MEMBER OF LHIL MANAGER LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of LHIL Manager Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 165 to 171, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 
December 2020, and of its financial performance for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have 
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely 
to you in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the Directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
9 February 2021
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2020 2019
NOTES HK$ HK$

    

Revenue – –
Administrative expenses (22,355) (23,955)
Less: Amount borne by a fellow subsidiary 22,355 23,955

    

Profit or loss before tax 4 – –
Income tax 5 – –

    

Profit or loss and total comprehensive  
income/expense for the year – –

    

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

OF LHIL MANAGER LIMITED
At 31 December 2020

2020 2019
NOTE HK$ HK$

    

Current asset
Cash on hand 1 1

    

NET ASSET 1 1
    

Capital
Share capital 6 1 1

    

TOTAL EQUITY 1 1
    

The financial statements on pages 165 to 171 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 9 
February 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

LO Ka Shui Brett Stephen BUTCHER

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Share
capital

HK$
  

At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 1
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1.	 GENERAL
LHIL Manager Limited (the ‘’Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The Company’s 
parent company is LHIL Management Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. 
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider the Company’s ultimate holding company to be Great Eagle 
Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda with its shares listed on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited. The address of the registered office and the principal place of business of the Company is  
33/F, Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is administering Langham Hospitality Investments (the “Trust”), in its capacity 
as trustee-manager of the Trust.

The costs and expenses of administering the Trust may be deducted from all property and rights of any kind 
whatsoever which are held on trust for the register holders of units of the Trust, in accordance with the terms of the 
deed of trust dated 8 May 2013 constituting the Trust entered into between the Company and Langham Hospitality 
Investments Limited and as amended by a first supplemental deed dated 22 April 2016 (collectively, the “Trust 
Deed”) but, commensurate with its specific and limited role, the Company will not receive any fee for administering 
the Trust.

The Company had no income for both years, thus the distribution statement is not presented.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar, which is also the functional currency of the Company.

The Company had no cash transaction during the year as all of its transactions were settled through inter-company 
current account, thus the statement of cash flows is not presented.

2.	 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Company has applied the “Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in 
HKFRS Standards” and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
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2.	 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
The application of the “Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards” and the 
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Company’s financial positions and 
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Company has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are 
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments1

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions4

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, 
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 25

Amendments to HKFRS 10  
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor  
and its Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or  
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong  
Interpretation 5 (2020)1

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use2

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract2

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 20202

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

5	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

The Directors anticipate that the application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on 
the financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as explained in the accounting policies set 
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods or services.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

Financial instruments
Financial asset
Financial asset is recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial asset is initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial asset are added to the fair value of the financial asset, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial asset
Financial asset that meet the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Equity instrument
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instrument issued by the Company is recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.
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4.	 PROFIT OR LOSS BEFORE TAX
2020 2019
HK$ HK$

   

Profit or loss before tax has been arrived at after charging:   

Auditor’s remuneration 20,000 20,000
Directors’ remuneration – –

   

5.	 INCOME TAX
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the financial statements as the Company did not have any 
assessable profits for both years.

6.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of Nominal
ordinary share value

HK$
   

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary share with no par value

At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 2020 1 1
   

7.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES
The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Company will be able to continue as a going concern. The 
Company’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Company consists of equity attributable to shareholder, comprising issued share capital.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider that the 
cost of capital and the associated risks. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Company will balance its 
overall capital structure through new share issues.
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8.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT
(a)	 Category of financial instrument

2020 2019
HK$ HK$

   

Financial asset   
Financial asset at amortised cost
Cash on hand 1 1

   

(b)	 Financial risk management objective and policy
The Company’s financial instrument represents cash on hand. The risk associated with the Company’s 
financial instrument is limited.

9.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Transaction with a fellow subsidiary is disclosed in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

All of the Company’s key management personnel are Directors. No directors’ emoluments were paid or payable by 
the Company since the Directors of the Company are not entitled to any remuneration under the terms as set out 
in their letters of appointment of Directors.
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The Trust Group has 100% interest in the investment properties listed below, which are held under medium term leases.

Name and Location Use
Gross Floor Area

(sq.ft.)

The Langham, Hong Kong 
8 Peking Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Hotel/Commercial 375,000

Cordis, Hong Kong 
555 Shanghai Street, Mong Kok, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Hotel 580,000

Eaton HK 
380 Nathan Road, Yau Ma Tei, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Hotel/Commercial 339,000
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For the year ended 31 December
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

RESULTS
Revenue 619,351 607,573 615,500 483,883 208,256

      

Profit/(Loss) before tax 492,869 1,223,368 970,401 (2,586,238) (2,826,678)
Income taxes (83,260) (77,309) (74,761) (48,473) (6,129)

      

Profit/(Loss) for the year 
attributable to Holders of 
shares of the Company/
Share Stapled Units 409,609 1,146,059 895,640 (2,634,711) (2,832,807)

      

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets 18,823,545 19,617,895 20,366,205 17,612,046 15,079,578
Total liabilities (7,147,002) (7,206,827) (7,407,589) (7,622,259) (6,949,981)

      

Net assets 11,676,543 12,411,068 12,958,616 9,989,787 8,129,597
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In this Annual Report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following  
meanings:

Terms Definition

“AGM” The annual general meeting of the Trust and the Company to be held on a 
combined basis as a meeting

“Board” or “Board of Directors” Board of directors of the Trustee-Manager and/or Board of directors of the 
Company

“Code of Conduct for Securities 
Transactions”

Code of Conduct regarding Securities Transactions by Directors and 
Relevant Employees adopted by the Trustee-Manager and the Company

“Company” Langham Hospitality Investments Limited, a company incorporated in  
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on  
29 January 2013

“Company’s Articles” The amended and restated articles of association of the Company adopted 
on 22 April 2016 as amended, supplemented, substituted or otherwise 
modified for the time being in force

“Company Board” The Board of the Company

“Corporate Governance Code” Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report set out in 
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

“Distribution Entitlement Waiver 
Deed”

The deed dated 10 May 2013 entered into among LHIL Assets Holdings 
Limited, Great Eagle and the Trustee-Manager in relation to the waiver 
by LHIL Assets Holdings Limited of its entitlement to receive distributions 
payable by the Trustee-Manager

“Distribution Waiver” The waiver by LHIL Assets Holdings Limited of its entitlement to receive 
any distributions payable by the Trustee-Manager (on behalf of the Trust) 
in respect of a portion of the Share Stapled Units held by it as at the Listing 
Date for the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2013 and each 
of the years ended 31 December 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017, each such 
portion of the distributions waived being available for distribution to the 
Holders of Share Stapled Units in respect of which the distributions have not 
been waived, as further described in the initial public offering prospectus of 
the Trust and the Company dated 16 May 2013 “Distributions – Distribution 
Waiver”

“Great Eagle” Great Eagle Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 41), the holding company 
of the Trust and the Company, which held approximately 69.24% of the 
Trust and the Company as at 31 December 2020

“Great Eagle Group” Great Eagle and its subsidiaries

“Great Eagle ROFR Deed” The Deed of Right of First Refusal dated 10 May 2013 entered into between 
Great Eagle and the Company
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Terms Definition

“Group” The Company and its subsidiaries

“HKAS” Hong Kong Accounting Standard

“HKEX” Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited

“HKFRS” Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard

“HKICPA” Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

“HKTB” Hong Kong Tourism Board

“Holder(s) of Share Stapled Units” or 
“Unitholder(s)”

Holder(s) of Share Stapled Units of the Trust and the Company

“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of 
China

“Hotel Companies” The companies which own the Hotels, being Harvest Star International 
Limited, Cordis Hong Kong Limited and Grow On Development Limited;  
and “Hotel Company” shall mean any of them

“Hotel Manager” Langham Hotels International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong 
Kong with limited liability on 30 August 1984 and an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Great Eagle

“Hotel(s)” The Langham, Hong Kong, Cordis, Hong Kong and Eaton HK

“Listing Date” 30 May 2013, being the date of listing of the Share Stapled Units on the 
Stock Exchange

“Listing Rules” Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

“Master Lessee” GE (LHIL) Lessee Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited 
liability on 5 February 2013 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Great Eagle

“Model Code” Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out 
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

“Registers” The Share Stapled Units Register, the register of holders of units, the 
principal and Hong Kong branch registers of members, and the register of 
beneficial interests as established and maintained by the Trustee-Manager 
and the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed

“RevPAR” Revenue per available room

“SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
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Terms Definition

“Share Stapled Unit(s)” or “SSU(s)” Share stapled unit(s) jointly issued by the Trust and the Company. A share 
stapled unit is the combination of the following securities or interests in 
securities which, subject to the provisions in the Trust Deed, can only be 
dealt with together and may not be dealt with individually or one without the 
others:

(a)	 a unit in the Trust;

(b)	 the beneficial interest in a specifically identified ordinary share of 
the Company linked to the unit in the Trust and held by the Trustee-
Manager; and

(c)	 a specifically identified preference share of the Company stapled to 
the unit in the Trust

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Trust” Langham Hospitality Investments, as constituted pursuant to the Trust Deed

“Trust Deed” The trust deed dated 8 May 2013 constituting the Trust entered into 
between the Trustee-Manager and the Company and as amended by a  
first supplemental deed dated 22 April 2016

“Trust Group” The Trust and the Group

“Trustee-Manager” LHIL Manager Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited 
liability on 25 January 2013 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Great Eagle, in its capacity as trustee-manager of the Trust

“Trustee-Manager Board” The Board of the Trustee-Manager

“Valuer” or “Vigers” Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited, an independent property valuer 
appointed by the Company pursuant to the Master Lease Agreements



This annual report is available in both English and Chinese versions and 

has been published on our website at www.langhamhospitality.com and 

the website “HKEXnews” at www.hkexnews.hk.

Where (i) Holders of Share Stapled Units who have chosen to receive 

or are deemed to have consented to receiving this annual report 

by electronic means wish to receive printed form of this annual 

report; or (ii) Holders of Share Stapled Units who have received or 

chosen to receive printed form wish to receive another language 

version of this annual report; or (iii) Holders of Share Stapled Units 

who wish to change their choice of means of receipt or language 

of our future corporate communications (including but not limited 

to directors’ report, annual accounts, independent auditor’s report, 

interim report, notice of meeting and circular), they may at any time 

send their request by reasonable notice in writing by post or by email 

to Langham.ecom@langhamhospitality.com or by completing and 

returning the Change Request Form to the Share Stapled Units Registrar, 

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited by using the 

mailing label on the Change Request Form (postage prepaid if delivered 

within Hong Kong). The Change Request Form is being sent to Holders of 

Share Stapled Units together with the printed form of this annual report 

or written notification (as the case may be).



(as constituted pursuant to a deed of trust 
on 8 May 2013 under the laws of Hong Kong,
the trustee of which is LHIL Manager Limited)

LANGHAM 
HOSPITALITY

INVESTMENTS

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
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LIMITED

&
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